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SYNOPSIS OF THE MIHERVA SWADLEY,ET AL,CA3S. 

The applicanto are Minerva Swadley and her husband W. T. Sw'-dley,and 

their two children,w .1. Swadley and A.Rore Swadley, now Fulsom, 

Application states that Mine va Swadley is 42 years old and a citi­

zen by blood of the Choctaw "Motion; that she is a daughter of William 

Hunter and Martha Hunter,both citizens by blood of the Nation . Minerva 

was born in the Territory and has lived here nearly all of her life. 

She married her present husband,¥#T#Swadley in Nov. 1881;Minei va says that 

is enrolled on the rolls of the Choctaw Nation. ^ras not allowed to draw 

Leased District Money. 

Applicants were ad it ted by the Dawes Commission;Nation appealed to 

the United States Court for the Central Dustrict. Applicants were denied 

by the Court. 

AFFIDAVITS BEFORE THE DAWES COMMISSION. 

BOB ROBERTS Bays that he is 93 years old and a citizen of the 

Choctaw Nation. He has known Mrs Minerva Smadleys people "from way back 

yonder". She is a daughter of William Hunter who was mostly Choctaw, His 

father was a full blood Choctaw named Hunter. Mrs. R wad leys father was 

an uncle of jy^.young Thomas Hunters who lives near Caddo. Has known 

her all his life,and knows her and her husband to be Choc taws. 

MRS.LEVINA FRANKLIN says that she has known Mrs. Swadley ever since 

she was a child;her fathers name was William Hunter, He was a half blood 

Chovtaw and lived near Caddo. Was an uncle of young Thomas Hunter who 

now lives at Caddo. The family has always been recognized as Choc taws , 

and they have many full blood relations. 

SITOR LAWRENCE says that he is 56 yeal* old and lives at Coal gate. 

Is a Choctaw citizen ijy blood. Has known Mrs. Minerva Swadley for 30 yeai. 

Was well acquanited with her father and mo the ,W.Hunter and Martha Hunter. 

They were both Choctaw citizens }rj blood. The Hunters were called Hontubb 

by the Indians and were called Hunters by the missionaries. J. R.Plui.mer wh 

who regisered Mrs. Swadley as a Choctaw told affiant that wm.Harrison 

entered a protest against Mrs. Swad leys drawing the leased district mone 

owing to some trouble said applicants husbands had had with said William 

Harrison . 



ELIZABETH HARRISON says that she knows Minerva Swadlev;that she is 

the daughter of Billie Hunter,a full blood Choctaw Tndian who lived *»> 

and died in Jackson County,Choc taw Nation about 20 years ago. That said 

Minerva Swadlev is also a niece of Bennie Hunter,a full blood Choctaw who 

died in Jackson County,Choc taw Nation. That the appli ants have b en livi 

in Xtoka County for the past six years. That the mother and the father of 

Minerva Swadley were married according to the Choct w laws. That Kinerva 

is a aalf blood Choctaw ,anu is entitled to be enrolled. 

DEPOSITIONS. 

WILLIAM H.HARRISON says that he is 4o years old,a citizen by blood 

and lives at Atoka. He is Natinnal Agent of the Choctaw Nation. Was a me 

member of the citi zenship Committee of the Choctaw Council. There was no 

application of Minerva Swadley or W.T.Swadlev presented while deponent was 

on the Committee. Deponent never had a y trouble with Mr. Swadlev. The 

statement that th eir names were stricken from the rolls because of troubl 

with the deponent is untrue. Has known Swadlev since 1891;remembers that 
I 

on one occasion Mrs. Swadley offered him $25 to get her sons put on the 

Choctaw roll. This was about the time of the payment or the Leased Dus-

trict money. At that time she said nothing about the names of her daughte 

or grandchild,nor did she say anything about her own name. Deponent knows 

nothing about Mrs,Swadley nor her ancestors. Deponent has lived here for 

about 25 years. "Knew a man by the name of Pisachibbi. He lived about 

13 miles from de onent in the same county with him. Deponent his having 

children,but does not remrmber their names. He was a full blood##His child 

ren were all full bloods Dont know whether any of themare alive now or 

not. The man is now dead. Died about 20 years ago. Deponent never heard 

him called or spoken of by the name of Hunter. 

MINHJ.KVA. SWADLEY says that her father,Billie Hunter,was a full blood 

Choctaw Indian.She knew Bennie Hunter;he dived about 14 miles from her f. 

father. Eer father is dead. He died on Red River in Jackson C unty»C#!T. 

Deponent remembers visiting Bennie Hunter. He lived in a Cedar Log House. 

Bennie Hunter was her fathers brother. She was enrolled in 1893. The 

Committee refused to enroll her children. She did not recieve any money . 

She was born in Jackson C >unty. Her mo.thers maiden name was Martha Moore. 

Her father and mother were Married in the c
noctaw ̂ Qtion / -peponent claims 



to "be a haldt blood. During the year 1871 she lived near Sherman Texas 

with her present husband. They live-, in Texas 7 or 8 years. Deponents 
father 

• g ^ t o r died .vhen deponent was 7 or G yea r a o ld . Deponent was marr ied in 

Nov.1871,and her mother died in the sp r ing of 1873. Deponent never made 

a p p l i c a t i o n to the Council for admission,and she never knew of any of her 

family who did do so . Don* know how many b r o t h e r s Bennie Hunter had. 

Cant remember t h a t he f a the r ever to ld her t ha t he was a b ro -he r to 

Bennie Hunte r . Deponent cant i n t e r p r e t much Choctaw (ye t her f a t h e r was 

a f u l l b l o o d . ) She has forgot en most of i t . 

W.Y.SWADLEY says t h a t he i s #T y e a r s o l d and l i v e s a t Coal g a t e j t h 

t h a t he has r e s i d e d t h e r for about s i x yearszabd t h a t he i s the husband o"r 

Minerva Swadiey.He was f i r s t married toner a t Sherman Texas in 1871;from 

which marr iage they have tw c h i l d r e n . Deponent f ' i r s t knew h i s wife down 

below the mouth of Blue some hwere " s o r t e r no r th of Pa r i s "pve r the r among 

the Choctaws. About a y e a r a f t e r t h a t he marlr«d h e r . At t h a t time the de 

ponent was l i v i n g in Grayson County Texas. They were married in Texas, 

and l i v e d the re f i r f i ve i r s i x y e a r s a f t e r t h e i r i rami age. For the pas t 

f ive y e a r s they have been l i v i n g in the Choctaw Nat ion . On the 7Vti day 

of Sep t . , 1896 they were remarr ied under a Choctaw l i c e n s e . His w i f e has 

been u n i v e r s a l l y taken for an Ind i an ; she t a lked Choctaw a l i t t l e when 

they were marr ied . Deponent he ld r p o p e r t y , p a i d t axes ,and voted in Texas. 

Never paid any permi ts in the chcoatw Nat ion . Deponent made a p p l i a t i o n 

for c i t i z e n s h i p 'n the Cherokee Nat ion . His wife knew nothing about h i s 

having made a p p l i c a t i o n for c i t i z e n s h i p in the CherokeoNation. 

LEVIN A FRANKLIN says tha t she i s 6'6 ye r s old and l i v e s a t Atoka. 

She i s l / s Choctaw Ind ian and was r a i s e d in the Choctaw Nat ion . She b e ­

came acquain ted with Mrs. Minerva Swadley 32 y e a r s ago at Caddo. She was 

the re with "Cousin S i l a s Hunter" , and he tolddeponent tha t she was"!Tncle Bi 

B i l l y 1 s daugh te r " . She looked to be about 13 or 14 y e a r s o ld . S i l a s Hunter 

was an Ind ian and a son of Bennie Hunter ,and Bennie Hunter 7/as a b r o t h e r 

of B i l l y Hunter . Bennie was a fu l blood Choctaw. S i l a s i s d e a d , . After 

meeting Minerva a t Caddo the same S i a l s to la deponent t h a t Minerva.'had m 

marr ied a man by the name of Swadley and had gone to T^xas. The TTunters 

were recognized by the Choctaws as Choctaw I n d i a n s . Mrs.Swadleys looks 

i n d i c a t e tha t she i s o IndCian blooi . 



Deponent d id not Imow Linervas f a t h e r or mother ,bu t she has known the app 

cant for 32 y e a r s . She knpw S i l a s and Bennie Hunte r ,bu t d id not know 

uncle B i l l y Hunter . (Har r i son says t h a t there was no sach person as Uncle 

B i l l y Hunter) 

ST.i./VP' LAWREJTĈ  says tha t he i s 5 7 y t a r s old and l i v e s a t Coal g a t e . 

I s a b r o t h e r of Mrs Levina F r a n k l i n , Gives the same test imony as Mrs.Fran 

l i n . Says t ha t The app l i an t s name "before he r marr iage was Minerva TTontubc 

Hon tub "be; t ha t h e r f a t h e r was B i l l y H amy ubbe or as the 7/hites call ; i t Hunter 

Deponent i s b l i n d . 

ma-Hi* 
CONCLUSIONS/ 

tHEK!'] WAS no such person as Billy Hunter. 

He had no Choctaw blood. 

The applicant is not a daughter of Billy Hunter. 

The testimony is false . 

The applicant abandoned the tribe and vent to Texas. 

She was married in Texas under the Texas laws . 

Her husband owned proprty in Texas,paid taxes,voted and exercised 

rights of citizenship in that state. 



APPLICATION FOR CITIZENSHIP 

Indian T e r r i t o r y , 

Atoka Cu«ty0 

Before me the unders igned, a Notary ^ub l i e for the s t a t e and county 

a f o r e s a i d t h i s day p e r s o n a l l y appeared W. T. Swadly who a f t e r being duly 

sworn s t a t e s as fo l lows : 

I am 47 years of age and a c i t i z e n of the c : ,octaw ^ a t i o n bji a raarr iage . I 

married Minerva Hunter , a c i t i z e n of the fcoctaw #vtion by blood. We 

were f i » s t raarri ;d in Sherma/j, Texas, November, 1 1 , 1871 and af terward s 

remarr ied accord ing to the law and custom of the Choctaw n a t i o n , .For pre* 

of cf sa id second mar r i age , I herewi th a t t a c h my Choctaw marriage l i c e n s e 

and c e r t i f i c a t e . My wife i s a daughter otf William x xunter and .Martha 

TTunter, bdth c i t i z e n s of the ftootaw Nation by blood. I am duly r e c o g n i ­

zed &* a Choctaw c i t i z e n by marriage and beg to b-* fanroiled. 

Witness my Yi:,n4 t h i s 8 th , day of September, 1896. 

W. T. swadly. 

Sworn to and subscr ibed before me M s 8th day of September, 1896, 

H. T. v. P e r r y , N. P. 

My commission e x p i r e s 2n J month, 1899, 

SEAL. 



AFFIDAVIT OF WITHE** 

Indian T e r l t o r y , 

Atoka County. 

Before me the undersigned a Notary ^ u b l i c , for the Sta te and County 

a f o r e s a i d , t h i s «iay p e r s o n a l l y appeared S i l a s Lawrence who a f t e r be in r d-

uly sworn, s t a t e s as fo l lows: I am years of a r e , and a c i t i z e n of 

the Choctaw nation by blood.My Post n f i i c e add re s s s i s Caal r a t e , Indian 

T e r r i t o r y . I ara p e r s o n a l l y acquain ted ^ I t h the app l i c a n t . T f u r t h e r kn­

ow t h a t he marr ied Minerva Hunter , according to the lawa and customs of 

the ftoctaw ^ a t i o n . Minerva Hunter i s a c i t i z e n otff the Choctaw _ a t i o n by 

blood? She be inr a daughter of William Hunter and ~ a r t h a Hunter , both 

Choctaw c i t i z e n s by blood. I am per ser ial ly acquaints*! with the pa r en t s 

of the wife of the a p p l i c a n t and know a l l the family. 

Witness my hand t h i s 8th day of September, 1896. 

V ic to r Bey, 

J a s . A. Bo^y. h i s 

S i l a s X Lawrence, 

mark 

Sworn to and subscriber! fcofore me t h i s the 8th d ay of September, 1896. 

H. T. V. P e r r y , N. P. 

My commission e x p i r e s second month, 1899. 

SEAL. 



PERMIT. 

CHOCTAW NATION, 

SS. 

COUNTY OF ATOKA. 

TO ALL WHOM THESK PJ&SKNTS SHALL OOI£E GREETING: 

KNOW YE, That I , J .M. H a r r i s o n , Judf^ of the County and P r o b a t e 

Cour t of s a i d County , Choctaw N a t i o n , by v i r t u e of the a u t h o r i t y in me 

z e s t e d by the laws of th* Choctaw TIat ion, do h e r e b y f r a n t R o b e r t David­

s o n , a c i t i z e n of the Un i t ed S t a t e s , a p e r m i t to r e s i d e ir. the Choctaw 

N a t i o n a s a r e n t e r in the employ of W. T. Swadly f o r t h p e r i o d of one 

y e a r , from the 1 s t , day of J a n u a r y , 1897 , to the 1 s t , day of J a n u a r y , 

1898 . 

Given under my h a n d , ,-̂ nd s e a l of the c o u n t y , t h i s 1 1 , t a y of 

March, 11597. 

A t t e s t . 

J . M. S e l f , 

County C l e r k . 

J . m\ H a r r i s o n , 

County and P r o b a t e Jud/re of sa id 

County Choctaw NAtion. 



COMKtSSTOXBRS. 

Henry L. *v*wes, 
Prank C. Armstrong, 
Archibald 3. Cabiniss, 
Alexander B. Montgomery. 

K. M. -Taooway, seer tary. 

APARTMENT OF THri TFTiiRTORt 

COMMISSION TO THE FIVE CIVILIZED TRIBES. 

F o r t Smi th , A r k . , D e c . , 4 , 1896 . 

819 . 

W. T. Swadly , F i l e d Septemb r , 7, 1896. Answer file/A 

V. A l p p l i c a n t a d m i t t e d a c i t i z e n by 

Cho c&w jrtx t, ion. in t e r m a r r i a g e . 

* 

I , H. M. Jaooway, J r . , S e c r e t a r y , do hereby c e r t i f y t ha t the above and fo­

regoing i s a true and c o r r e c t copy of Choctaw Record "G", page 357, of 

Tfee Commission to the Fiv^ C iv i l i xed mribes. 

Given under my hand and o f f i c i a l s i g n a t u r e t h i s the 

1 3 , day of February , 1897. 
r 

H. M. Jacoway, J r . , Secretary 

By Henry Stroup. 



IN THE rjKTTK D STATES COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF THE TNDTAW 

TERRITORY, AT SOUTH MOLESTER. 

W. T. Swadly, P l a i n t i f f , 

r s . P e t i t i o n f o r a p p e a l . 

The ftoctaw r a t i o n , n ^ f e n d a n t . 

The Hoctaw n a t i o n , your p e t i t i o n e r , r e pre 8 e n t s t h a h e r e t o f o r e , to-

w i t , en t i e day of lB96 t W. T. Swadly, p r e s e n t e d h i s c l a i , to the 

Dawes Commission to be a d m i t t e d a s a c i t i z e n of the Choctaw n a t i o n ; and t 

t h e r e a f t e r , on the day of December*i896, s a i d oawe s Commission, by i t s 

o r d e r , a d m i t t e d t he s a i d W. T# Swadly a s a c i t i z e n of the Choctaw „ a t i o n . 

Tha t a p p l i c a n t ba sed h i s c l a i m to c i t i z e n s h i p u on the f a c t t h a t 

on the 7£h d ay of Sep te raebr / 189T,, he was m a r r i e d t o Minerva H u n t e r , 

and c l a i m e d t h s t Minerva H n t e r i s a c i t i z e n of the Goctaw N a t i o n , but 

y o u r p e t i t i o n e r would show t h a t s a i d M i n e r v a H u n t e r i s n o t a c i t i z e n of 

the fioctaw 1 T a t i e n , and t h a t she h a s no I n d i a n b l o o d ; and f u r t h e r t h a 

t h i s p l a i n t i f f was f i r s t m a r r i e d to s a i d Minerva H u n t e r many y e a r s afro, 

and snee t h a t t ime h a s l i v e d w i t h her a s h i s l e g a l w i f e . That on the 7th 

day of Sep tember , 1896 , p l a i n t i f f o b t a i n e d a l i c e n s e from the Choctaw a u ­

t h o r i t i e s to marry the s a i d Minerva H u n t e r , who eras then h i s l e g a l w i f e . 

That h i s f i r s t m a r r i a g e to s a i d ^ine-rva Hunter , , was no t in a c c o r d a n c e w i t h 

the l«ws of the :Choctaw ^ a t i o n , and c o n f e r r e e no r i g h t s upon the p l a i n ­

t i f f , and t h a t s a i d s e c o n d - m a r r i a g e was void and of no e f f e c t . That sa id 

Dawes Commission e r r e d in h o l d i n g fcha s a i d Minerva Swadly, nee Hun te r 

was a Boctaw I n d i a n by b lood , and e r r e d in h o l d i n g t h a t s a i d s e c o n d m a r ­

r i a g e of t h i s p l a i n t i f f c o n f e r r e d upon hira any r i g h t s in the ELoctaw Na t i a f 

w h e r e f o r e , y o u r p e t i t i o n e r makes t h i s i t s a p p e a l , and r a y s t h a t 

the o r d e r of the Dawes Commission, a d m i t t i n g s a i d v
r T. Swadly , to 

c i t i z e n s h i p be s e t a s i d e , and t h a t he be dec la re r ) to be & / o n - c i t i z e n of 

the CootcxW n a t i o n . 

WM. M. C r a v e a s , S t u a r t , Gordon & H a l l e y , 

A t t o r n e y s f o r Roctaw gallon. 



IN THKTJM'OSD STATES COURT FOR THE CENTRAL JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF f2HK 

INDIAN TERRITORY, SITTING AT SOUTH McALESTER. 

Minerva Swadly, M a l , P l a i n t i f f , 

v s . Mot ion in A r r e s t of Judgment • 

Choctaw j y a t l o n , Defendan t . 

Comes now > «T. W. swadly and Rose Fulsora, nee Swadly , and move 

the Cour t h e r e to a r r e s t the judgment a s to them in t h i s a c t i o n f o r the 

f o i l owing r e a s o n s to-w. i t : 

1 s t . As a p p e a r s from the r e c o r d s h e r e i n t h e y were b o t h a d m i t t e d to c i t ­

i z e n s h i p i n the Choctaw N a t i o n a s members by b l o o d , and t h e r re h a s been 

no a p p e a l t a k e n a s t o them from s a i d a c t i o n of t he Commission to the 

F i v e C i v i l i s e d T r i b e s , a d m i t t i n g them. 

2 n d . T h i s Cour t h a s no j u r i s d i c t i o n of t h e i r p e r s o n s and c a n n o t e n t e r 

any judgment h e r e i n a s to e i t h e r of them. 

3 r d . T h i s Cour t h a s no j u r i s d i c t i o n of the s u b j e c t m a t t e r and canno t r e j 

d e r any v a l i d judgment a s to them in t h i s a c t i o n . 

W h e r e f o r e , t hey p r a y t h a t judgment h e r e i n be a r r e s t e d a s to them. 

«T. W. Swadly 

Ros f; Fulsora, by t h e i r 

R a l l s B r o s . 

http://to-w.it


IN MUOmSOftTAVfl QMRT FOR THE CENTRAL DSERTCT BF THE INDIAN 

TERRITORY, SITTING AT SOUTH MCALESTE>^ 

Minerva Swadly, t | u l , p l a i n t i f f s , 

Y S . Motion for new t r i a l . 

Choctaw n a t i o n , defendant . 

Corae notf. W; Swadly and Rose Fulsom, nee Swadly, and more the Coyrt 

here to se t adide the f ind ing of the Cur t , a s to them, in t h i s a c t i o n and 

d ismiss the a c t i o n h e r e i n as to them for the following r e a s o n s , t o - w i t : 

1s t .The Curt has no j u r i s d i c t i o n as to these persons and cannot make any 

f ind ing as to them, because no appeal has been taken as to them from the 

a c t i o n of the C oramission to the F i r e C i v i l i z e d Tr ibes . 

2nd, The records h e r e i n show tha t thesf persons were r e g u l a r l y and l e ­

g a l l y admit ted to c i t i z e n s h i p , as members by blood, in the Choctaw u a t i o n 

on the 5th day of December, A. D. 1896, and tha t they were both of l e p a l 

Wherefore, they pray t h a t the f ind ing of the Court as to them be se t 

a s ide and the case as to them be dismissed for wan* of j u r i s d i c t i o n . 

J . W. Swadly, 

Rode Fulsom. 

By R a l l s Bros, t h e i r a t t y ' a 



THE DEPOSITIONS OP, G. S. Vinson, Minerva Swadly, J. M. Self and J. C. 

Polsora, taken on the th i rd and fourth days of September, 1897, between 

the hours of 8 O'clock in the forenoon and six o'clock in the afternoon* 

at the office of Telle <fc Chambers, in Atoka, Indian Terr i tory , within 

the Central Jud ic ia l Dis t r ic t of the Indian Terr i tory , to be read as 

evidence in an act ion between The Choctaw nat ion , p l a i n t i f f and % T. 

Swadly, e t a l , defendants, pending in the united States Court for the 

Central D i s t r i c t of the Indian t e r r i t o r y , a | South ^rcAlester. 



In the United S t a t e s Court for the Cen t r a l D i s t r i c t of the Ind ian 

T e r r i t o r y , a.t 9uth McAlester. 

The Choctaw Na t ion , Appe l l an t , 

Vs. , DEPOSITION. 

W. T. Swadly, e t a l , Appel lee . 

C. S. Vinson being produced by the a p p e l l a n t , and duly sworn t e s t i f i e s 

as f o l l o w s , t o - w i t : -

My name i s C. S. Vinson, I l i r e a t Lehigh, Indian T e r r i t o r y , and I 

am f i f t y four yea r s o ld , I am a Choctaw Indian by blood, and a t t o r n e y 

General for the Choctaw Nat ion . I have r e s ided in Blue County, Atoka 

and Kiaraioha Counties a l l my l i f e , these coun t i e s c o n s t i t u t e what i s kn­

own as the southwestern p a r t of the Choctaw Rat ion . 

I am acqua in ted wi th a Choctaw Indian by the name of Thomas W. Hunt­

e r , he l l y e s a t Armstrong Academy in Blue County; I was acqua in t ed , du­

r i n g h i s l i f e t ime ,wi th h i s f a t h e r ; h i s f a t h e r ' s name was Binahantubbee, 

he did not have any E n g l i s h name t h a t he r ecognized , but t h a t the white 

people in a b r e v i a t i n g h i s name 50t i t i n to Benny Hunter ; he d ied in Blue 

County where he l i v e d dur ing a l l the time I was acqua in ted wi th him. He 

had one b r o t h e r , whose name was P i schabee . The name which I have spoken 

of as being a b r e v i a t e d by the white people as Benny Hunter was as I have 

s t a t e d an abrevda t ion of the ord Binahantubee, wnich was the given name 

of t h i s man commonly c a l l e d Benny Hunter . I knew h i s f a t h e r , whose name 

was Kaeha, he a l s o r e s i d e i in Blue County in the neighborhood of h i s son; 

I remember when Kaeha died which was about the year of 1848 or 1849. 

His b r o t h e r Pischabee l i v e d in Kiam.icha County, near what i s known as 

Mayhew, Indian t e r r i t o r y , in Jackson County, then known as Kiaralcha County 

T knew the c h i l d r e n of P lsaohabee , knew h i s wife a l s o , t hey did not 

have a daughter named Minerva. He had five daughters one of them died a 

number of yea r s ago, whose name I do not now thiiik of, the remaining four 

was known as Lucy, Mel i s sa , Amy and Annie. The four - i r i s or daughters of 

t h i s man, whin T have j u s t named are a l l dead now; they a l l d ied in the 

neighborhood where t h e i r f a t h e r d i e d , exc p t one, T am not c e r t a i n whore 

t h a t one d i ed , she married a man by the mime of Corne l ius Wright and l i v e d 
a p a r t of the time a t Caney \Bln^ County, and p a r t of the time in he r fa t* 

t h e r ' s neighborhood. I knew a l l the daughters and in f ac t a l l the c h i l d r -

'-::; c I i- • 1 s man "' i 2 



ren of t h i s man Pisachabee and know tha t they are a l l dead, wi th the ex­

cep t ion of one boy, T dont know whether he i s a l i v e or no t . These people 

mentioned above were a l l f u l l blood Choctaws. 

I was born in 1845, end my e a r l i e s t r e c o l l e c t i o n i s , I was acquain ted with 

these p a r t i e s , and. l i v e d wi th in from one to ten mi l e s from t h a t time 

t i l l I mover] to Atoka County in 1894, sometime previous to the year , I 

moved to Atoka flunty, these p a r t i e s were a l l dead, except the son, whose 

name was Joseph P i schabee , and idF a l i v e l i v e s in Blue County. In 1874, I 

I was e l e c t e d D i s t r i c t At torney and he ld t h i s of f ice for. f i r e years and 

dur ing tha t time t r a v e l e d a l l over the D i s t r i c t of four c o u n t i e s , Atoka, 

Blue, Kiamdscha and jacksfork twice a yea r , then a f t e r the four count ies 

were conso l ida t ed in to one Court I was D i s t r i c t Judge for e i g h t years 

and met the people from a l l ever the -.his D i s t r i c t every/ ;s ix months, the 

D i s t r i c t Courts for t h i r d J u d i c i a l D i s t r i c t s i t s a t Pushmataha Court 

ground and i s about s i x mi les to what i s now known as Mayhew Post o f f i c e , 

and about seven mi le s where Benny Hunter l i v e d when he d i e ] , and about 

twelve mi l e s from where Pischabee l i v e d . During a l l ray acquaintance in t 

the neighborhood T never knew a woman by the name of ?«artha H un te r . I 

l:new the wife of P i schabee , she was a f u l l blood woman, w hose name I c a -

n$ remember, but a t t h a t time i t was a custom among the Choctaw people 

to speak of her as J o s e p h ' s mother, Joseph , being her e l d e s t c h i l d . 

She died a t the same place he r husband d ied . This man Binhantubee was 

old enough tA have s eve ra l g randch i ld ren before he was ca l l ed Benny Kunte^ 

At t h i s time h i s b ro the r P i sach ibee must have been 60 or 70 y e a r s o ld , I 

mean a t the time he was c a l l e d and known as Benny Hunter. I never heard 

t h i s man Pisachabee spoken of or c a l l e d Hunter during h i s l i f e t i m e , Bina-

hantub^e had a son whom my mother named Nicho la s , and when he went to 

school , the raissionaries named him, as was t h e i r custom, Nicholas Moff i t f 

a f t e r t h a t the b r o t h e r s taken t h a t name (Hunter ) . 

Cro s s ExamiMl t i o n. 

I am not acqua in ted wi th e i t h e r of the a p p l i c a n t s in t h i s c a s e , T do not 

know v/here they l i v e only from hea r say , f i r s t T knew of them was when I 

went to the D i s t r i c t Court in August, 1897. T have l i v e d near Lehigh, 

Indian T e r r i t o r y , since 1894. T l i r e about threo mi les west of Lehigh. 



Bennie Hunter died about ten or t r e i v e years ago in Blue gunty , Choctaw 

Nation and was about 70 y e a r s , or more o ld , h i s son Nicholas was about 
m v ttf>e > The m i s s i o n a r i e s named h i s wife F e n i c i a , I never kne « her Choc­

taw name. Benny Hunter(Blnahanatubee) had a son named William ^u/iter:-, 

a i d son was born about 1860, I suppee he was known by t h i s narae from b i r t i i 

a s he was known by t h i s name in school . 

Al l trie pa r en t s and c h i l d r e n and g randch i ld ren took the name of -Hunter 

except Pisachabee who was a b ro the r to Benny Hunter . Pisachabee died some 

ten or twelve yea r s ago; I knew h i s wife but did not know what her 

name was; n e i t h e r of h i s daughters were named Minerva un l e s s i t was the 

one who died f i r s t . Pisachabee and pinahanatiiibee both mar led f u l l - b l o c d 

Choctaws. Thomas W. K ranter i s th« o l d e s t son of Biahantubee by h i s white 

w i f e , and i s the p r e s e n t Supt. , of Armstrong Academy near Caddo, Indian 

T e r r i t o r y . T do not know any th ing about Mrs. Minerva. Swadly a t any time 

being on the aftoctaw r o l l . T never knew a man by the name of William 

Hunter exco$$ the one i j us t mentioned. Tf a , a r r i e d woman had no ch i ld ­

ren they usua l ly c a l l he r c e r t a i n man's wi fe , a man never named h i s wife . 

I do not know a l l the Ind ians in the Choctaw n a t i o n , nor do T know a l l in 

my D i s t r i c t . I was given my Eng l i sh name a t my b i r t h , I do not know any­

th ing about Minerva ^wadly c i t i z e n s h i p , not did I eve r know h e r p a r e n t s . 

H e - d i r e c t . 

I know a l l the o lde r hearts of f ami l i e s in t h i s D i s t r i c t , s ince 1874, but 

not t h e i r c h i l d r e n , un le s s some have moved in since I qu i t t r a v e l i n g 

wel l 

around. I was p e r s o n a l l y acqua in ted with those whom I have been t a l k ­

ing about in t h i s d e p o s i t i o n , in fac t almost as well acqua in ted wi th them 

as I was with my f a t h e r ' s family. 
C. S. V i n s o n . 



IN THE UNITED STATES COURT IN THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OP THE INDIAN 

TERRITORY, AT SOUTH McALESTKR. 

W. T. Swadly 

v s . 

The frootaw Nat ion , and 

Minerva Swadly, e t a l , 

v s . Deposi t ion of rrinerva Swadly. 

The Choctaw TTaUon. 

Minerva Swadly, being duly sworn, upon he r oath s t a t e s a s fo l lows: 

My age Is 43 , my res idence 0al Gate , Indian m e r r i t c ry , and .r have 

r e s i d e d here fo r four y e a r s . I am the wife of W. T. Swadly. Mr. Swadly 

and I were f i r s t marr ied in 1871 a t Sh erman, Texas. I was v i s i t i n g a 

cousin of mine a t Sherman i s how I came to be marr ied t h e r e . I l i ved 

p r i o r to my marriage in Blur Oounty» Choctaw ,Tat ion. My f a t h e r ' s name 

was Wil l law trunter and my mo the r ' s name was Martha Hunter , they l i v e d on 

Red R ive r , Choctaw ~raton; my f a t h e r was a Choctaw and my mother was a 

white woman. Ky f a t h e r was recognised there as a full-bioooV I had one 

b ro the r and one s i s t e r named William and H a r r i e t r e s p e c t i v e l y . They died 

in the Choctaw Nat ion , they died when they were c h i l d r e n . My fa the r and 

mother are both d ead. I cant t e l l j u s t e x a c t l y how l a rge I was yrhen 

my f a t h e r d ied . I guess I was s i x or seven years o l * . I was about n i n e t ­

een when my mother d ied . I was between seventeen and e igh teen years old 

when T marr ied Mr. Swadly. My mother and f a t h e r died on Red River in 

theGhoc&w ^ a t i o n . I attejided the froctaw schoo ls . I knew Uncle Rennie 

Hunter . He l i v e d in Blue County and was my Tkncle. he was my f a t h e r ' s bro­

t h e r ; he wa s a l s o a f u l l blood Choctaw. I know h i s c h i l d r e n t he r e i s four 

of them dead; t h e i r names are Nicholson, S i l a s and Wi l l i e and there i s 

a l i t t l e g i r l whose name I o nt remember, the ones l i v i n g are Toramie, 

J ane , Qeorge and Emma. Emma and jane are marr ied ; ernma marr ied a man by t 

the name of Dwight as did a l so Jane. Mr. Tywight t h a t married Jane i s now 

dead and she has s ince married a white man. S i l a s Hunter was k i l l e d a t 

Caddo between e i g h t and nine years ago. I *P0 W H r s *rankliB
 a n , i M r - L a * * ^ 



nee , who have t e s t i f i e d im t h i s *ase . I remember meeting them a t Caddo b& 

fore T was mar r ied . My f a t h e r l i v e d about 25 mi les from Caddo. After T 

marr ied and went to Texas I remained there about*!* y e a r s , and then | 

went to Tishomingo County, Chickasaw Nation. I have two ch i ld r en , Wi­

l l i a m aged 24 and Rosa 27, y e a r s . Rosa la married no David Folsom, wholMa 

a Choctaw , b r o t h e r to .Tohn F*lsora who l i v e s a t Atoka. David Folsora i s 

a recognized I n d i a n , a f t e r we came back to the ftootaw Nation and on the 

7th day of September, 1896, we were marr ied under a Choctaw l i c e n s e i s s ­

ued by the County Clerk of Atoka 6unty. WO werr marr ied here in Atoka Co-

County. We were remar r ied because we wanted to comply with the laws of 

the Choctaw ^ t ion and Mr. swadly wanted t i make sure of h i s r i g h t s . The 

Ohoctaw people here in t h i s country whom T meet take me to be a Choctaw f-

frora my l o o k s . I used to t a l k Choctaw when j was growing up, but T have 

f o r g o t t e n about a l l of i t . 

Cross examination by Mr. Ha i l ey . 

I was born in Blue County. My f a t h e r was born in M i s s i s s i p p i . I know not­

hing about h i s a n c e s t o r s t h e r e . I dont know when he came to t h i s country. 

I was marr ied in the s t a t e of Texas according to the laws of Texas, and 

r e s i d e d there about 6 yea r s amd my c h i l d r e n were o th born in Texas. I 

am a h a l f breed Choctaw Ind ian . I do not know where my fa the rand mother 

was mar r i ed , but i t was in the ftoctaw rrat ion. ^y f a t h e r was l i v i n g on 

Red River about M mi les below Caddo on Red River . He was a b ro the r to 

Bennie TT i n t e r ; Bennie a l s o l i v e d on Red River in Blue County about 15 or 

15 mi les from my f a t h e r . I never l i v e d in the Cherokee Nat ion . I made a-

p p l i c a t i o n for a share of the "Leased D i s t r i c t Eund" and i t was p r o t e s t e d 

and r e j e c t e d on the grounf t h a t I was not a c i t i z e n . I have never re e e l . 

ved ray Leased D i s t r i c t money. I went to the Choctaw Nation to see about 

drawing my money and they sa id when I was r e - i n s t a t e d T could have my mo. 

ney. T did not make a p p l i c a t i o n to the to be r e i n s t a t e d . I went to see 

about i t but noth ing was done. Ur.cle Bennie and B i l l y came from the same 

p a r t of M i s s i s s i p p i . 

R e d i r e c t by Mr. R a l l s . 



My c h i l d r e n , one of thera l i v e s wi th me and the o the r l i v e s in the Chick. 
asaw n a t i o n . Mr. swadly i s a white man. My fa he r and mother l i ved 

t o g e t h e r as husband*and wife and were so regarded by the people t h e r e . 

I l e a rned t h a t my f a t h e r and Uncle Bennie came from the same place in 

M i s s i s s i p p i from what Uncle Ben <*aid. T w as acquain ted a t Caddo when I 

was a g i r l . 
Re -c ross . 

Tommie p H | who i s P r i n c i p a l of Armstrong Academy i s ray cousin . 

Witness my mark R e - r e - d i r e c t by Mr. R a l l s . 

The p r o t e s t was made wi thout an$ no t i ce to me and T have neve.r been 

given an oppor tun i ty to meet i t . I d o n ' t know whether any papers were 

f i l e d or n o t , have never been able- to f ind any. My name i s s t i l l on the 

Atoka County took of the l eased D i s t r i c t r o l l . The R e g i s t e r s who made 

t h i s r o l l were Joe Sel f , J . R. Plummer and Joe Homer. There was w r i t t e n 

under my name "No c i t i z e n , not e n t i t l e d to draw", T do not know who had 
not 

t h i s e n t r y made nor .who did i t and was not n o t i f i e d of i t . T am aware 

of any law c : . , au tho r i zed a p r o t e s t f i l e d or au thor i zed any p r o t e s t 

p roceed ings . X was not n o t i f i e d of any p r o t e s t when the Revi-: ory Board 

met a t Tushkahorama, anr1 oever r ece ived any no t ice from t h a t Board t h a t I 

was r e j e c t e d . I think the above was w r i t t e n under my name a f t e r the Re­

v i s o r y Board had passed on i t . Re - r e - c ro s s . 

I do not know whether there was any law a u t h o r i z i n g the f i l i n g of 

t h i s p r o t e s t or not and do not know of any lav/ d i r e c t i n g t h a t no t i ce 

should be given in the event of r e j e c t i o n by the Revisory Board. T 

do not know whether or not the board in Atoka County had power to ob­

j e c t and wi th-hold payment for cause . Do you or do you not know tha t i t 

i s a f ac t t h a t there was a board e s p e c i a l l y c rea ted? I knew t h a t th re w.. 

as a board c rea t ed and s i t t i n g in Tushkahorama for the purpose of hea r ing 

such c a s e s , t h a t i s , for hea r ing and determining whether c e r t a i n c la im­

a n t s who had f a i l e d to ge t t h e i r money a t the r e g u l a r payment, were e n t i ­

t l e d to r«ce ive the same. I was down there once or twice but f a i l e d to g 
Witness to mark ____, 

get before the Cdramittee. 



The a p p l i c a n t , Mrs. Minerva Swadly, being produced by the a p p e l l a n t , and 

duly sworn s t a t e s as follows t o - w i t : -

Ouring the year of 1894, I p resen ted myself and did apply for my 

p o r t i o n of the l e a s e d D i s t r i c t fund, which was then paid :out to the 

Choctaw Indians by blood. I r e g i s t e r e d in the Town of Atoka, Indian Terr­

i to ry* before the r e g i s t e r i n g board composed of J . H. Pluraraer, Jo Hommer 

and Jo Sel f . At t h a t time I had two c h i l d r e n . I made a p p l i c a t i o n for 

my two chiatfen but they were not pre s en t and they woulf not r e g i s t e r them 

B i l l y , my o l d e s t ch i l d was twenty yea r s o ld , and Rosa was IB yea r so ld . 

At t h a t time my s on was in Atoka County and my daughter was a t T isho­

mingo, Indian T e r r i t o r y . The f i r s t day a f t e r they moved to Atoka from 

l e h i g h , I made a p p l i c a t i o to them while they were in Lehigh. I t i s nine 

mi l e s from t h i s place to Lehigh, and f ive mi les from Lehigh to Caolgate . 

I was never informed a f t e r t h a t , t ha t I was nc$ on the r o l l s . The r o l l 

spoken of in ray a f f i d a v i t id the l a s t r o l l prepared for the payment of 

the l e a s e d i s t r i c t money. 

I was informed tha t I could not draw because I wae. not a c i t i z e n . I had 

one g randch i ld a t the time I made a p p l i c a t i o n but fiid not ask to have i t 

e n r o l l e d . 

Witness . 

J . H. Chambers. her 

Minerva X Swadly. 

mark 



J. M. Self, being produced by the appel lant , and duly sworn s t a t e s as fol­

lows to-wit : -

My name i s J. M. self , I reside a t Lehigh, Indian Ter r i to ry , and 

am 4(3 years old, I am a Choctaw c i t i zen by intermarriage, i have been such 

a c i t i z e n since the yea* of 1883. 

I was a cler^'of the board, o f r e g i s t r a t i o n , who wore authorized 

to en ro l l or r e g i s t e r , Choctaw c i t i zens by blood for* the purpose of pay­

ing out the lease d i s t r i c t money appropriated by the United Sta tes for 

the Choctaw and Chickasaw Indians. I remember Mrs. Minerva Swadly one of 

the appl icants in th i s case, making appl icat ion to that board. We enro l ­

led her , but i t was afterw arris taken off by the rovisary board at Tushk-

homma, Indian Terr i tory . My reco l l ec t ion i s that she rUd not make app l i ­

cation for anyone except for herself . I am confident she stated that she 

was a niece of Benny Hunter and from my knowledge of the family and t h e i r 

r e spec t ab i l i t y I di" not question further , nor did the boasrd, we merely 

accepted her statements and enrolled her on the same. I waa afterwards-

informed that she was not a c i t i zen and her name was taken from the r o l l , 

and I afterwards saw on the book that t h i s name with others was sc ra t ­

ched off. I am acquainted with Si las Lawrence, have known him for 7 or 

8 years , during which time he has been blind. 

Cross examination. 

The f i r s t time I remember of seeing Mrs. Swadly, was whenshe made app l i ­

cat ion to the r e g i s t r a t i o n board/ I w s only acting as clerk of the board 

but owing jfco the sickness of Mr. Hodges a t that time, I was a s s i s t i n g the 

board and f i l l i n g h is place during h i s sickness. 

I am a white man and only a c i t i zen by intermarriage, and only Choc-

taw by blood were, by the lav/, e l i g i b l e to s i t on the board as commission. 

e r . The r e g i s t r a t i o n board w».re ins t ructed to enro l l only c i t i zens by b l ­

ood. The board were supposed to sa t i s fy themselves as to the applicants 

qua l i f i ca t ion for c i t i zensh ip . The board did not en ro l l only when they 

th ought that the applicant was a c i t i zen by blood. We enrol led her on h 

her statements and her appearance, she looked l ike a Choctaw ^ndian. 

She l ived in Coal ^ate at the time she was enrol led. I l ived at Lehigh f 

and J. R. plummer about 6 miles of Coal-Grate and Hodges l ived About 3 : 



miles west of Lehigh, a t the time of" the en ro l lmen t . Jo Hommer, a ' f u l l b l ­

ood Choctaw was on the board a l so , andl ived about 12 or 14 mi l e s south­

e a s t of Atoka. She did not apply to ,rae p e r s o n a l l y but to the bo&rd. 

QUESTION. When a s t range person app l i ed for en ro l lmen t , would you e n r o l l 

such person and h i s or h e r c h i l d r e n on h i s or her s t a tements if the ab­

sence of the Children? Objected to b#. CA. Pate a t t o r n e y f c . r zhc Choctaw 

Na t ion , because i t i s t raraeterial , s ince the wi tness say no a p p l i c a t i o n was 

made for o h i l f d r e n in t h i s case . ANSWER. No. 

QUESTION. Do you know of your knowledge on what ground the a p p l i c a n t s 

name was sc ra tched off the r o l l by theRxevisory Board ? ANSWER. I do ro t 

knew. TJohn Harrison and Will Harkins to ld me t h a t they would go before 

the board and make a p r o t e s t a g a i n s t Hrs . Swadly. I do not th/ink John 

Har r i son knew Mrs. Swad^. S i l a s Lawrence was a h a l d - breed Choctaw Indian. 

He l i v e d about 7 mi les or 8 nor thwest of Coal Gate , Indian T e r r i t o r y . 

He has been l i v i n g in t ha t community for 8 or 10 y e a r s . The Jjawrences 

were r a i s e d in Ki&misia, Blue County and Atoka Count ies , ^ i l a s Lawrence 

was g e n e r a l l y known near coa l T a t e , and a l s o a t Lehigh. &\\ the people 

knerw him around Lehigh and Coal ( late, 

S i l a s Lawrence t r a v e l e d around some y e t , and i s about PO yea r s old or more 

A l l the members of the Board were s a t i s f i e d tha t she was a c i t i z e n . I do 

not t h ink t h a t Harkins was p e r s o n a l l y as t a i n t e d wi th Mrs. Swadly. I do 

not remember he r s t a t i n g t h a t her c h i l d r e n were in Texas a t the time of 

e n r o l l i n g . I have l i v e d in Lehigh 10 or 12 y e a r s , before that time I l i v ­

ed in Atoka and „a ins County for 20 y e a r s . 

R e - d i r e c t Ex. 

I a c t ed in the capac i ty of c l e r k of the Commission or Board of r e g i s t e r s 

and as a s u b s t i t u t e for D. W. Hodhes when he was unafele to a t t e n d . 

When the Board c losed i t s work I was appointed by the board to take the r 

r o l l books we had made to,?ushkahomma where the r e v i s o r y Board was to 

meet. My s e r v i c e s were accepted and a check was drawn for the same for i 

150 d o l l a r s the amount to be paid to each Commissioner. I d iv ided t h i s 

with Mrs. 0. W.Kodges, her husband 0. W.Hodges, having died before the ro l_ 

I s were completed. When Hrs . Swadly p resen ted h e r s e l f for r e g i s t r a t i o n 

she p r e s e n t e d no w i t n e s s e s in h e r behalf . Kor s ta tement was accepted and 

she was r e g i s t e r e d because the s ta tement of he r case seemed to be foery 

p l a u s i b l e , the family to which she claimed to belong, being wel l known a 

an not f a r away. 



Re-ciross. 

The check above Mentioned was drawn in favor of D. W. Hodge 3 and d e l i ­

vered to me to tu rn over/.to h i s witfow. The Rat ion never recognized me as 

a member of the Board; T w s.. only c l e r k . Hodges to ld me tha t he would 

make ray s e r v i c e s a l l r i g h t , as d id the o the r members of the Board, but 

Hodges was the only man tha paid me any t h ing . 



J . 0. Folsom, >.einr- produced by the a p p e l l a n t , and duly sworn s t a t e s as 

fo l lows , t o - w i t : -

My name i s J . C. ^olsora, I am 66 years old and I l i v e in Atoka, Ind­

ian T e r r i t o r y , I am a Choctaw c i t i z e n by blood. I am not acquain ted wilb 

Mrs. Minerva Swadly, one of the ap£il lees he.- e i n . T never heard of an 

Indian by the name of William Hunter . T was wel l acquain ted wi th a 

Etoctaw Indian by the name of Benny Hunter whose Choctaw name was Bena-

han tubee . This Choctaw rrame was con t r ac t ed to Benohonta. He was f u l l - b l ­

ood Choctaw yndian. He l i v e d so f a r as I know near Mayhew, Indian Ter r ­

i t o r y , the same being in jackson County, a t t h i s t ime. I f i r s t became 

acqua in ted wi th him about the yea r 1851; I do not know whether he had a 

b r o t h e r bynthe name of William Hunter or n o t , did not know much about the 

family. I f Benohontubee had a b ro the r by the name of William p u n t e r a t 

the t ime, t h a t I f i r s t became acqua in ted i t h him, h i s surname could not 

have been Hunter , as a t t h a t time the Chsctaws had but one name. Some yea­

r s a f t e r t h i s I h^ard df a man c a l l e d Benny T Tunter, but I did not knew 

fnr seme time who: t h a t man was, but I did find out afterwa r d s tha t he 

was the man t h a t I , in former years knew by the name of Benhontubbee. 

This Pian Benohontubee had one son by the name Nicholas and I knew 

ano the r by the name of Thomas, who i s now Su t . of Armstrong Academy. 

Tfce o l d e s t of these boys Nicholas when he went to the Missionary school 

had ;'no name but Nicholas ann the M i s s i o n a r i e s did not know how to wr i te 

h i s f u l l name i f he was to be c a l l e d Nicholas Benohontubee, so they ca l l ed 

him Nicholas Moff i t , a f t e r one of the t e a c h e r s . The younger g e n e r a t i o n 

of Benohontubee have assumed the name of rrunter , which i s not a family 

name, but assumed. The surname Hunter t n i h i l fan i l y has been assumed 

by te youngermfrmber-s of the family , only of r ecen t y e a r s , pos s ib ly since 

the war. I am wel l acquainted wi th Levina F r a n k l i n . When I f i r s t became 

acqua in ted with Levina F rank l in i t was in the Chickasaw n a t i o n , near For t 

Washita , t h i s was about the year of 1852. She a f te rwards moved near Boggy 
y 

Depot, and have l i v e d in t h i s county(Atoka) eyer s i nce . I know S i l a s F 

Lawrence, I have known h in for about 30 y e a r s ; he i s now b l ind and has be _ 

en so for about 25 yea r s , when I f i r s t became acquain ted with him he l i v e ^ 

5 or 6 mi les e a s t of Boggy Depot, in Blur County; he moved northwest and 

has lir^ed in the upper country ever s i n c e . 



Cross-examinat ion . 

I nover knew Be«ohoJltubee , i f a t h e r or n e t h e r . The f i r s t time I ever saw 

or knew thera to be c a l l e d Benny Hunter was between 186 0 and IB65; I 

do not know how long he had ca l l ed by- tha t name before I knew him; since 

the war t h i s family has been known by the name of Hunter . I move away f r ­

om tha t county in 1867 and moved to Atoka County. , r r s Levina Frank l in was 

about 8 or 10 yea r s o ldder than myself. 5 i l a s Lawrence has l i v e d n a r Coal 

Gate for ten or f i f t e e n y e a r s , and i s bout 50 or 55 years o ld , and 

is c a l l e d a h a l f breed Ind ian , but I do not know how much Indian he i s . 

Mrs. Levina F rank l in i s about of the same blood; she l i v e s about s ix 

mi les from Atoka a t which place she has r e s i d e d for 5 or 6 y e a r s . 

J . C. Folsora. 



UNITED STATES Oi? A!flfiKI<JAa 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF TH1 INiJTAH T.ERKITOP.Y. 

I» J . K. c h a m b e r s , a du ly a p p o i n t e d and q u a l i i e d NoA&ryPubl ie , w i t h i n 

and f o r the C e n t r a l J u d i c i a l D i s t r i c t of the I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , do h e r e b y 

c e r t i f y t h a t the fo rego inf; d e p o s i t i o n s of C. S. V i n s o n , Mine rva ^wadly, 

J . M. S e l f and J . C. Folsora, were t a k e n be fo re me, and were r e a d to and 

s u b s c r i b e d by thera in my p r e s e n c e a t the t ime and p l a c e , and i n the a c t i o n 

men t ioned in the ©apt i o n , the s a i d C. S« V inson , Minerva Swadly, T. M. Se_ 

I f , and J . C. Folsora, h a v i n p been f i r s t b§r me swdrn t h a t the e v i d e n c e 

t h e y shou ld g i r t in the a c t i o n s hou ld be the t r u t h , the whole t r u t h and 

n o t h i n g but the t r u t h and t h a t t h e i r s t a t e m e n t s were r educed to w r i t i n g by 

me in t e i r p r e s e n c e , the p l a i n t i f f in p3r.:;.ij <*dd by 9« A. P a t e j h i s a t t©~ 

xney , and the d e f e n d a n t in p e r s o n and by G. T. R a l l s , a t t o r n e y , | 0 | | g 

p r e s e n t a t t he e x a m i n a t i o n , The d e p o s i t i o n s of C. S. Vinson and Minerva 

Swadly, were t a k e n on the 3 r d , day of September and the t a k i n g of s a i d 4 t_ 

p o s i t i o n s , by ag reemen t of s a i d a t t o r n e y s above named, were c o n t i n u e d to 

the f o l l o w i n g day whan the d e p o s i t i o n s of J . M. S e l f and .T. C. Folsora 

were t a k e n . 

®iven under ray hand and s e a l a t A t o k a , I n d i a n m e r r i t o r y , w i t h ­

in the C e n t r a l J u d i c i a l . . D i s t r i c t of the I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , t h i s 7 t h , day of 

Sep tember , 1897. 

SEAL. T. H. Chambers, N o t a r y P u M i c A f o r e s a i d 



The d e p o s i t i o n s of "Peter Maytubbee,,Thomas Hun to r , Johnson F r a z i e r , 

Henry P e r k i n s , a l so Renry Byinf~ton and J . H. N a i l , taken on the 11th , 

day of September, 1897, between the hours of t i g h t o ' c lock In the fo re ­

noon and s ix of clock In the a f t e rnoon , a t the o f f i ce of W, K. B u t t s , in 

Caddo w i t h i n the Cent ra l J u d i c i a l D i s t r i c t of the Indian T e r r i t o r y , to 

be read as evidence in an a c t i o n , between W. T. Swadly, e t a l , P l a i n t i f f 

and The Choctaw Ra t ion , defendants , pending in the United S t a t e s Cotirt 

for the Cent ra l Divis ion of the Indian T e r r i t o r y . 

v 



UN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR THE CENTRAL JUDICIAL DISTRICT, INDIAN 

TERRITORY. 

W. T.Swadly, e t a l s , P l a i n t i f f s , 

vs. 

Choctaw Ration, Defendant. 

To W. T. Swadly, e t a l s , the above named p l a i n t i f f s : 

You are hereby not if ied that the de pos i t ions of witnesses to 

be read in evidence on the part of the Defendant, wi l l be taken in the 

town of Atoka, in said D i s t r i c t , at the office of C. W.Dunstan, between 

the hours of eip;ht o'clock in the forenoon and 4ix o'clock in the a f t e r -

moon, on the 10th day of September, 1897. 

You are also further not i f ied that the deposit ions of other witness. 

es wi l l be .taken in the town of Caddo in said Judic ia l D i s t r i c t , to be 

read as evidence on the part of the defendant, at the post office on the 

l l ; th, day of September, 1897/be tween the hours of e ight o 'clock in the 

fore noon and six o'clock in the afternoon, and that the taking of dep­

o s i t i o n s , if not completed at that time and place wi l l be continued from 

day to day at same place and between same hours t i l l completed. 

Choctaw nat ion, By i t s 

Attorneys, Stuar t , Gordon & Hailey. 

September, 7th, 1897. 

Office o€ U. S. Constable, 

Central D i s t r i c t , Atoka Dis t r ic t 

Indian Terr i tory . 

I hereby cer t i fy that I sent the within notice to take deposi t ions , 

by lea^inr: a true copy hereof, with W. T. S wadly, in Coal Gate, Indian 

Terr i toey, th i s 8th day of September, 1897. 

A. D. Brown, 

U. S. Constable. 



IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR THE C ENTRAL DISTRICT B& THE TNQIAJ 

TERRITORY. 

W. T. Swadly, e t a l s . , 

v s . 

Choo taw N a t o n . 

•T. H. N a i l a w i t n e s s produced by the d e f e n d a n t a f t e r b t f a g f i r s t 

d u l y sworn s t a t e s a s f o l l o w s : My name i s .T. H. N a i l ? my r e s i d e n c e i s e i -

g h t m i l e s wes t of Caddo, I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , Blue County , Choctaw r a t i o n 

Ape 47 y e a r s . T am n o t acqau^aAnted w i t h the a p p l i c a n t s f o r c i t i z e n s h i p 

in t h i s casQ.x I have r e s id d for 42 y e a r s a t the p r e s e n t p l a c e wh^re I 

now l i v e . I o«ne r f r c m D a o k s v i l l e to t h a t p l a c e . I fcnew a f f tU b lood 

I n d i a n who r e s i d e d n e a r Mayhew and was known a s Bena H o n t u b b e e . I knew 

him as B i l l y o r Bennie Hontubbee u n t i l I went o f f to s c h o o l in the y e a r 

of 1 8 7 1 , and became a s s o c i a t e d w i t h h i s son S i l a s , who w a s n e a r my age 

and saw hira s tgn h i s name S i l a s H u n t e r , which was my f i r s t knowledge of 

t he f a c t t h a t he went by the name of T T unter . T h i s man S i l a s H u n t e r was a 

son of the o l d man Benny Hon tubbee , whom I had a lways known and r e s i d e d 

e a s t of Caddo, I never knew any o t h e r fami ly of H u n t e r s who were Choctaw^ 

Examined. 

I d i d n o t know t h a t p e n n i e Hontubbee had a b r o t h e r . I d i d n o t know any 

bu t h im. I never knew any o t h e r f ami ly of H u n t e r s who were Choctaws . 

J- H. N a i l . 



Henry Byin^ton be in^ produced by the defendant as a wi tness t e s t i f i e s as 

fo l lows . 

My name i s He nry By i nrton, My agf i s 4 6 ye a r s , re s i de nce Cad do, 

Indian T e r r i t o r y , occupat ion Electa w At torney . T have r sided in Blue 

County nea r ly a l l my l i f e . T knew a Chocta w c i t i z e n a f u l l blood by the 

name of Bennie Hontubbee, who r e s i d e d near Mayhew, which was then in 

Blue County. He i s now dead. He l i v e d and died An h i s old homestead. 

T knew h i s b r o t h e r P i sachabee , who was a f u l l blood Indian and r e ­

sided in the same neighborhood or near h i s b r o t h e r Bennie Honotubbee. 

I knew two sons of P i sachabee , who were known as JEosie Pisachabee and 

Simpson Piaaehabee , these two boys are dead. I w i l l ask you to s t a t e 

whether or not you eve r saw an a p p l i c a n t for c i t i z e n s h i p by the name of 

Hunters or whether there was no re t h a t one a p p l i c a n t by t h i s name tha t 

you ever saw a t the Choctaw Council? 0b j o Because i t i s l e a d i n g , fo r ­

e ign to t h i s case , the re fo re in complaint i nadmis i a^ l e . 

I remember of see lag three okd misn a t the Choctaw Counci l , who c l ­

aimed tha t t h e i r nam-:; s wer e Hunter . J . S. Hunter , William T. Hunter and 

the three men. I do not remember h i s i n i t i a l s but know t h a t he c a l l e d him_ 

s e l f Hunter . This was in the year about 1890 or 1891. my r e c o l l e c t i o n 

i s t h a t I f i l e d t h e i r p e t i t i o n for c i t i z e n s h i p . These p a r t i e s claimed 

t h a t they were r e l a t e d to the man Bennie Hunter , whom T know to be a f u l l 

blood Choctaw Indian and r e s ided e a s t of Caddo, which was ^hen Blue Co­

unty , now Jackdon County, and the same pa r ty of whom Tfoave h e r e t o f o r e sp ­

oken of in t h i s d e p o s i t i o n . I have r e s i d e d in the south e a s t e r n p o r t i o n of 

Blue County in the neighborhood of what i s now known a t the Albany Post 

Of f i ce , about 89 mi les from Mayhew. Obj. on the ground tha t i t i s 

p r i v i l e g e d Communication between C l i en t and At torney . 

I am wel l acquainted with S i l a s Lawrence, have known him for twenty years 

or more as near a s T can s t a t e . He marr ied from near the mouth of Allen 

Bayou to Atoka County, where he has been l i v i n g s ince , J do not know t h a t 

he ever l i ved in the same neighborhood of Bennie Hunter and h i s b r o t h e r 

P isachabbee . I am a Choctaw Indian by blood and qui te wel l acqua in ted 

wi th the laagaagC spoken by the Choctaw people . The wordfBena, means to 
camp and Honotubbee means to s t ay and k i l l i t ) I f the a p p l i c a n t Mrs. 



Swadly claims to have descended from Bena Honotubbee, or Hunter fsmily 

h e r e i n spoken of, then she would be a descendant of the same family as 

the three a p p l i c a n t s , or old men whose name was Hunter off ^̂ rhom T have he ­

r e t o f o r e spoken. 

Examined. 

I did not see W. T. Swadly a t Council a t the time the th ree Hunter app­

l i c a n t s appealed for c i t i z e n s h i p . In 189.% T saw Mrs. ^wadly a t Council 

t r y ing to gM her Leased D i s t r i c t money. Mrs. swadly ' s name was on the 

census Rol l raarkedHdoubtful". The Revisory Board l e f t her name oo, The 

Revisory Board was composed of the B r i n e i p a l Chief of the Ra t ion , the 

Nat ional Aua i to r . £ | an a t t o r n e y I f i l e d an a p p l i c a t i o n for the three 

old men Hun te r s , abolr: named . I t was the custrm amonf the Choc taws a t 

t h a t time to c a l l each o the r b ro the r s when they were second or t h i r d 

comsins or d i s t i n c t l y r e l a t e d to each o the r . I do not know of my own 

knowledge t h a t p i s achabee was a b r o t h e r to Bena Hunter , but he was known 

as h i s b r o t h e r . S i l a s Lawrence has l i v e d a l l over t h i s count ry . I do not 

know h i s exac t a^e but he i s 8 or 10 years o lde r than myself. I 

only knew two of P i s a c h a b e e ^ c h i l d r e n t h e i r names were Jos ie and Simps-

en, the ones t h a t I kneyal do not know how Ion?: S i l a s Lawrence has heen 

b l i n d , Simpson "oisaohabee \vas known as Simpson "Pisachabee, never known as 

S i l a s Hunter . Pisaohabee had daughters but I never knew them. Mrs. 

ffelvina Frank l in l i ved on the Hickasaw l i n e near the mouth of the bayou. 

She was an old s e t t l e r in t h i s coun t ry , she i s a veg^y old l a d y , probably 

s i x t y or seventy years of *£•« She l i v e s a t Atoka or Lehigh now. 

Re-Di rec t . 

I l o s t t r ack of the a p p l i c a t i o n a f t e r I f i l e d i t , a they changes lawyers 

and I am unatele to s t a t e what a c t i o n was taken of i t . My re c o l l e c t i o n 

t h a t I served as c l e rk to the c i t i z e n s h i p committee in the year of 1892. 

I was then e l e c t e d in 1894 and served: in f a l l 1893-1894 and 1895. 

I knew another family of Hun te r s , who ca l l ed themselves the c h i l d r e n of 

George i runter , but they are now dead, they l i v e d on Red River . Dixon 

Hunter was a Choctaw Indian and was k i l l e d in 1899.Eastman Hunter l i v e d 

on Blue, he was k i l l e d about the time of the net proceed payment about 

1889. Jesse Hunter , a froctaw Indian died, a long time a^o. Jackson 

Hunter a frootaw Indian; died rood wHll« afio. These t h r e e , Eastman, 



Jesse and Tackson Hunter, were all married men, do not know any other 

Choctaw Indians by the name of Hunter. Jackson Hunter was PO years old 

when he died. His boys ranged from 20 to 30 years old when they died. 

I do not think they were any kin to BeaeHunte.r. 

Henry By inn; ton. 

The taking of depositions in this action w as adjourned until Monday, Se. 

ptembor, 13, 1897. one thirty P. M. 

W. H.Bates. 

Obj. by plaintiff for applicants. Tha taking of depositions in this 

action was resumed at 1.30, P. M. September, 13, 1897. 

A 
\ 



Caddo, Ionian T e r r i t o r y , February , 22, 1897. 

Mr. % T. Swadly, 

Coalf;ate, Indian T e r r i t o r y . 

Dear s i r : -

Tt i s in compliance with your rece ived r eques t t h a t T w r i t e you r e ­

l a t i v e to an a l l eged r e l a t i o n s h i p e x i s t i n g between your wife and ray f a the r 

Pe r sona l ly X know •+ th ing as to the r e l a t i o n . Tt has been claimed 

to my knowledge t h a t the f a t h e r of Minerva (your wife) v/as a f u l l b ro the r 

to my f a t h e r , Ben Hunter , but 3ust how far t h i s claim has been j u s t i f i e d 

I ara unable jjo say. My f a t h e r ' s o r i g i n a l and t rue name was no t Ben Hun­

t e r , but Benahanatatubee. My f a t h e r had only one b ro the r T " know of, 

h i s name, "Pisaehabe, as ide from t h i s T know no o t h e r s . Tis claim of 

Will iam winter, Minerva Swadly ' I f a t h e r , has been submit ted to Council and 

s t renous e f f o r t s put f o r t h to e s t a b l i s h i t , but i thad been unsuccess fu l . 

S i l a s Hunter , my h a l f b r o t h e r , deceased, i s sa id to have been 

employed to Qnfr.in&er the claim for William Hunter , but died before any 

thin?; was a f f e c t e d . 

Pardon me for not be in/- able to a s s i s t f u r t h e r . The ma t t e r i s a 

l i t t l e too far back for my s ta tement to be of worth $o you. 

Ve ry re spe c t f u l l y , 

T. W. Hunter . 



Johnson F r a z l e r , being produced by the defendant as a wi tness t e s t i f i e s 

as fo l lows : 

My name is Johnson F r a z i r r , l i ve in Blur Counfcy near Caney. My age 

i s 50myears, f u l l blood Choctaw Ind ian , I r e s ided a t Mayhew u n t i l 35 years 

a f t e r the war, a$ which time I moved to my p resen t home j>ear Ca ney. I 

was aeoua in ted With P i sachabee , a f u l l blood Choctaw who l i v e s in the 

v i c i n i t y of Mayhew.I was acquain ted with h i s family. I knew h i s c h i l d ­

ren but have f o r g o t t e n t h e i r name s. The c h i l d r e n are a l l dead now. I 

know h i s son Jos ie "'isaohabe knew him by? t h i s name as long as he l i v e d , 

I am acquain ted with S i l a s Lawrence became acquain ted with him in Blue 

County. I~Tft was l i v i n g in BldrCounty when I f i r s t became acqua in ted wi th 

him, and was a b l ind man a t t h a t t ime. T never saw him in the v i c i n i t y 

of Mayhew p r e v i o u s , u n t i l a f t e r I became acqua in ted with him in Blue Cou­

nty P i sachabe i s a Choctaw Indian f u l l blood, and l i v e d near Mayhew a l l 

the time tha t I knew him, which was about twenty y e a r s , jfi had 4 bo^s 

l i v i n g whffn I l e f t them. The o l d e s t oner was namedJoseph Piaachabe one nam­

ed I s i a h Pisachabe ano the r named Simeon Pisachabe ae the r named girapscn 

P isaehabe , He had three Daughters L i z a , Amy P i sachabe , I did not know one 

of h i s daughters by name of Minerva. I dont know, but did not know .his 

w i f e , or hey f i r s t name, she was a f u l l blood Choctaw woman. 

I res ided in the same v i c i n i t y of Pisachabe and knew h i s family we­

l l . I never- he&rd of any of h i s family being c a l l e d Hunter . He l i v e d 

on the l i n e of Kiamicha and Blue Count ies , which i s now Jackson County'-. 

h i s 

X F r a z i e r . 

mark 



Thomas W. Hunter , a w i tnes s produced by the d efendant a f t e r being du.lt 

sworn t e s t i f i e s : 

My name i s Thomas W. Hunter , am 2 8 years of age , am a Hoc taw by 

blood, r e s idence Armstrong Academy, about .12 Tniles e a s t of Caddo am Sunt, 

of the Armstrong Academy. Born and r a i s e d in Blue County* I ai- acqua in ­

ted wi th the a p p l i c a n t in t h i s case . W. T. Swadly and Minerva Swadly, I 

have known Mrs. Swadly for about 5 y e a r s . T have known Mr. ^wadly 

about one year . T f i r s t met Mrs. swadly at Jones Academy, near Hartshorne 

I was teaching a t Jones Academy when she c; ame to where I was, and said 

she was a r e l i t a v e , and t ha t she was endeavoring to e s t a b l i s h he r c i t i z e ­

nsh ip and had found out from Wm. Harr i son tha t ut was necessary to see me 

and secure .an a f f i d a v i t . T had been r ep re sen t ed as a r e l a t i v e of her to 

secure the c i t i z e n s h i p , T to ld her t ha t i f we were r e l a t e s in any way, 

I did not know i t , t ha t my knowledge of our family h i s t o r y w*f not very 

e x t e n s i v e , t h a t T knew only our immediate c i r c l e of r e l a t i o n s . T could 

not a s s i s t her in the way she d e s i r e d , then she l e f t , she s t a t e d t h a t 

t h a t she was a 1 s t , cousin to me, she s t a t e d her f a t h e r ' s name was W i l l ­

iam Hunter and t h a t he was a f u l l b ro the r to ray f a t h e r , Benne Hunter. T 
r 

t o ld h&r i f there as any one by the name of Wm. Hunter r e l a t e d to me i t 

was out of my knowledge. T to ld her t h a t my f a t h e r ' s name was o r i g i n a l ­

ly Bena Honotubee, and not Bena Hunter . The Choctaw name of my f a t h e r as 

s t a t e d h e r e i n means s tay a t the camp and kil.L. My f a t h e r had one b ro the r 

whose name was Pisachabee(which means bee and k i l l ) . 

He had a l so according to our family h i s t o r y , a h a l f b r o t h e r by the 

name of Joseph whose f u l l name we have never been able to f ind out . 

My f a t h e r was a f u l l blood Choctaw Ind ian , a l so Pisachubee . I knew 

a l l od "Pisaohafeee c h i l d r e n . He had two sons named Joseph Pisachabee and 

Simpson p i s a c h a b e e , he hadsorae daughters whose names T do not remember, 

with the excep t ion of one whose name i s Mel iasa . The c h i l d r e n of P i s a c h -

bee are a l l dead, they were a l l f u l l bloodsand coul^not speak a word of 

E n g l i s h . Obj. by p l a i n t i f f * T saw seve ra l a p p l i c a n t s fo r c i t i z e n ­

sh ip a t the Council by the name of Hunter , claimed to be re la ted , to me, 

there was one a p p l i c a n t by the name of Wm. Hunter about 75 yea r s or86 

y e n r s o l d , claimed to be a b ro the r of my f a t h e r , "pe had a l l the appearan­

ces of a white man. Another by the name of John Hunter one of t v e se p a r t -

http://du.lt


i e s l i v e d la the Chickasaw Nation and the o the r in Texas . , i d id not see 

the a p p l i c a n t s there a t the t i me, these p a r t i e s were t h e r e . Obj . by p l n t f 

At a subsequent Counci l , T saw them there they l e f t t h e i r son to n e g o t i a t e 

wuth me, to a s s i s t Davis Homer t h e i r a t t o r n e y in t h e i r c i t i z e n s h i p matter. 

They a l l l e f t and nothing was accomplished by any of them. I know 

the man William Hunter , who claimed to be a b ro the r to my f a t h e r , p r i o r tc 

the time j saw him a t the Counci l , he came to our houge dur ing my f a t h e r s 

l i f e t i m e and represen ted himself as being a b r o t h e r to my f a t h e r and so­

l i c i t e d my f a t h e r ' s a s s i s t a n c e in e s t a b l i s h i n g h i s c i t i z e n s h i p . My f a t h e r 

became very angry and to ld him they were not r e l a t e d and tha t he would not 

t e l l a l i e for any man. He remained there 9 or 4 weeks. They af te rwa­

rds employed my h a l f b ro the r S i l a s to eng ineer t M i r .case through the 

Counci l . He f i l e iff papers in the case for them. He a f t e rwards died and 

t h a t was the end of the case . I went to school in the to<5.rn of Caddo, 

for s e v e r a l y e a r s , came here wi th my two s i s t e r s Janie and Emma. I never 

knew such a g i r l as Minerva Hunter while T was a t t e n d i n g school a t Caddc. 

there was an orphan g i r l s t a i d wi th us while in Caddo by the name of 

Emily Hampton, a Choctaw who af te rwards married Henry Pe rk in s . My f a the r 

l i v e d and died a t the old homestead a t Bennington. He came from Miss­

i s s i p p i , when he was twenty years of age. 

Examinedl do not .know of my own knowlege whether my 

f a t h e r had any o the r b ro the r s t ha t P i sachabee , my h a l f .brother S i l a s 

Hunter who took Hunter* s c a s e , was a f u l l blood and would >̂e about 46 

years old a t t h i s t ime. Here wi tness i s handed a l e t t e r , which he 

i d e n t i f i e s a s a l e t t e r w r i t t e n by him tc ". T. . Swadly, wi th r e fe rence to 

h i s c i t i z e n s h i p , which l e t t e r i s he re to a t t a ched and marke exhib i t , f A". 

T. W. Hunter. 



Peter Ma tabby being duly sworn testifies as follows: 

My name is Peter Matatubby, live 5 miles north west of Caddo, known 

as Matatubby Springs. My age tl • years. I am a Choctaw Indian by blood 

I was acquainted with Bena Honatubbee:, a full blood Choctaw Indian, 

who resided in Blue County up to the time of his Heath. I was acquain­

ted with Pisachabe a full blood Choctaw who Lived near where Mayhew Post 

Office is now. I was acqaainted with Joseph Pisachabe, a son of pisachabe 

who had no other name. Joseph enlisted in my Company at the beginning 

of the war, a company of Choc taws 1st, Regiment of Choc taws who went 

out as soldiers. He enlisted under the name of Joseph Pisachabe and was 

known by that name during his services in the war. T never heard Pisachabe 

or any of his children called by the name df Hunter. I have resided in 

Blue County for about 28 years Curing which time I have become extensive­

ly acquainted with the older hedF of the Choctaw people. I bacame acqu­

ainted with Pisachabe while I lived in Kiamischa County, previous to my 

residenc in Blue County. T never knew a family named swadly in Blue 

County. I knew Bena Honatatubbee, as the Choctawsa called him, since 

the war I have known him as the man called Ben Hunter. I know Silas 

Lawrence, became acquainted with him abou.tnSO years ago. He went blind 

about If years ago, as near as I can state. He was living near Boggy De­

pot when he went blind. I am acquainted with Mrs. Lavina Franklin, 

have known her brother, Silas Lawrence when I first became acquainted with 

her, she was the wife of Dixon Prazier and resided in the Chicka aw >Tat» 

tion; she afterwards racked, to Atoka County, where she has resided ever 

since. 

Examineed. 

I never knew Bena Honatatubbee as a brother of Pisachabe; I only knew 

two children of Pisachabe*s Joseph and one younger son. Joe was about 

•f Q0ti The younger son was about 35 years of age. I did not know Bena 

Honotatubbee first wife. I did not ,,now Pisachabe*s wife. I did not know 

any thing aout his girls . Mrs. Lavina Franklin lived only a short 

distance over the Choctaw line in the Chickasaw ̂ ation. Mrs. Lavina 

Franklin and Silas Lawrence are both older then I am. I suppose they were 

pretty generally acquainted in that-.«oun££y; it was in the neighborhood 

of 8 miles of whrre Bena Hontatubbee and Pisachabe lives. 

Re-direct. 



I t i s 1B ray; pidgmeht of about 40 mi les from the neighborhood of Mayhew 

to the Chickasaw l i n e , where I said t h a t I supposed Mrs. F r ank l in and SH« 

as Lawrence was p r e t t y wel l acquain ted with the people down t h e r e . 

T meant the n t lghb orhood in which they l i v e d and not the neighbor­

hood of Pisachabe and Bena Hunter. I lived, about 1? mi les from Pisach. 

abe and about 20 mi les from Bena Honatatubbeo in Kiaraicha County. S i l a s 

Lawrence used to l i v e arountf Bo£f;y Depot, two or. three years a f t e r the 

war. 

Pe t e r ,Tay tubby. 



Henry r»erkims being duly sworn for the defendant t e s t i f i e s as fo l lows: 

My name i s Henry P e r k i n s , Choctaw Indian by blood. My res idence 

i s Caney. My age i s 5? y e a r s . T used to know a Choctaw c i t i z e n by the 

name of P isachabe; he l i v e d in the v i c i n i t y of Bennington. I knew a son 

of P i sachabe , who was knwwn as Joseph Pisachabe t h i s boy died about 3 

yea r s ago. - knew Pisachabe who was a fu l l blood Choctaw , h i s wife was 

a fu l l blood Choctaw. I was born in Blue County, have l i v e d hero a l l 

my l i f e , an wel l acqua in ted with the people of t h i s county, never knew a 

woman by the name of Martha Hunter in Bl ue County. T was wel l acquainted 

with the peop.le who r e s ided in the neighborhood of Pisachabe about 40 

years ago, the time I l e f t the neighborhood. I did not know a woman 

c a l l e d Ma.rtha Hunter in t h a t neighborhood, T knew "'Pisachabe • i wife but 

do not r e c a l l her name. Obj. by p l a i n t i f f . T was approached by the 

a t t o r n e y for the a p p l i c a n t in t h i s case who s t a t e s he was in search of 

evidence for a daughter of Will law Hunter , who clsimed to be a b r o t h e r of 

Bena Hunter and asked me i f I knew any th ing about i t , T s t a t e d t h a t I kn­

ew no such a man, T knew but one b ro the r of -^ena Hunter , and h i s name was 

P i sachabe . ga then sa id tha the was searching for evidence for H u n t e r ' s a 

and t h a t I would not be needed, I s t a t e d to him a t the time what T now 

s t a t e , t h a t T never knew but one b ro the r to Beua honatatubbe and t h i s was 

P isachabe , whom I never heard c a l l e d Hunter. 

hi*; 

Henry X P e r k i n s . 

mark 



UlTTTiiiD STATES OF A^KKTCA, 

CENTRAL DIVISION OF THE 

INDIAN TERRTTORY0 

I , W. H. R a t e s , a du ly a p p o i n t e d and q u a l i f i e d N o t a r y "Publ ic , w i t h i n 

and f o r the C e n t r a l J u d i c i a l D i v i s i o n of the I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , do h e r e ­

by c e r t c f y t h a t the f o r e g o i n g d e p o s i t i o n s of P e t e r Maytubbee , Thomas 

H u n t e r , Johnson F r a z i e r and Henry P e r k i n s - - a l s o Henry B e n n i n g t o n and 

J . H. N a i l , were t aken b e f o r e me, and were r e a d to and s u b s c r i b e d by them 

in my p r e s e n c e a t t he t ime and p l a c e and in the a c t i o n m e n t i o n e d in t h e 

c a p t i o n , the s a i d P e t e r Maytubbee , Thomas H u n t e r , Johnson F r a z i e r and He­

n r y P e r k i n s , h a v i n g been f i r s t sworn by m t h a t the e v i d e nee they s h o u l d 

g i v e In the a c t i o n shou ld be the t r u t h , the whole t r u t h and n o t h i n g but 

the t r u t h , and t h a t t h e i r s t a t e m e n t s were r e d u c e d to w r i t i n g by me in 

t h e i r p r e s e n c e , the p l a i n t i f f in p e r s o n and by ft. T. R a l l s , h i s i t t •my 

and the d e r f e n d a n t In p e r s o n and by ft. A. Pa t e a t t o r n e y , b e i n g p r e s e n t a t 

the e x a m i n a t i o n . The t a k i n g of D e p o s i t i o n s was c o n d u c t e d in t h e o f f i c e 

of W. H. B a t e s by c o n s e n t of p a r t i e s . The t a k i n g of d e p o s i t i o n s was a d ­

j o u r n e d on 1 1 t h of Sep t embe r , by ag reemen t and resumed on the 1 5 t h , a t 

same p l a c e . 

Crimen under *iy hand and s e a l a t Caddo, w i t h i n the C e n t r a l 

J u d i c i a l D i v i s i o n of the I n d i a * t e r r i t o r y , t h i s 1 4 t h , da# o f Sep tember , 

1397. 

W. H. B a t e s . 

N o t a r y F e e s , t a k i n g d e p o s i t i o n s two days N o t a r y P u b l i c , A f o r e s . i d . 

a t # 5 . 0 0 T $ 1 0 . 0 0 



E x h i b i t A 
J . E . G r e s h a n N . ) . P 

MARRIAGE LICENSE. 

Choctaw N a t i o n , Atoka County s s . 

^o any p e r s o n a u t h o r i z e d by law t o s o l e m n i z e m a r r i a g e s : 

GREETING: 

You a r e h e r e b y commanded t o s o l e m n i z e the R i t e and p u b l i s h 

t he Banns of Matr imony be tween Mr.W.P.SwadleyxQfaxad&^actex of C o l g a t e 

i n t h e ( h o c t a w N a t i o n , aged ___ ___ y e a r s a c i t i z e n of t h e U n i t e d 

S t a t e s and Miss Mine rva H u n t e r a c i t i z e n of t h e Oa oc taw N a t i o n , 

i n t h e ( h o c t a w r r a t i o n aged ________ a c c o r d i n g t o l aw, a n d do you 

o f f i c i a l l y s i g n and r e t u r n t h i s l i c e n s e t o t h e p a r t i e s t h e r e i n 

named. 

W i t n e s s my hand and o f f i c i a l s e a l t h i s 7 t h dqr of Sept .A.T) . , 1 8 9 6 . 

S. Downing 

C l e r k of t h e c o u n t y C o u r t . 

CERTIFICATE OP MARRIAGE 

Choctaw n a t i o n •**_Jfc*fBi^Jri s s • 

I , G.T.Mathews a M i n i s t e r of Gospe l do h e r e b y 

c e r t i f y t h a t on t h e 7 day of Sep A.D. , 1 8 9 6 , I d i d d u l y and 

acco rd ing t o law as commanded i n t h e f o r e g o i n g l i c e n s e , s o l e m n i z e 

t h e R i t e and p u b l i s h t h e Banns of ma t r imony b e t w e e n h e p a r t i e s 

the r e i n named. 

W i t n e s s my hand t h i s 7 day o f S e p . A . P . , 1 8 9 6 . 

G.T.Mathews. 

M i n i s t e r o f Gos. 



Choc;taw Nat ion . 

A1p ka Co unty 

I , Josep f M.Relf, Clerk of Atoka County Gboctaw Nation do hereby 

c e r t i f y t h a t the w i th in mar r i age ^ c e r t i f i c a t e are duly 

recorded on page 328 of book one of t he records of Atoka county 

Choctaw yration and same was recorded on t h e 30th day of 

September, 1896. 

Joseph M.Self, 

County Clerk of Atoka C> un ty , Choctaw -nation. 



In the Hnited States Court in the Indian t e r r i t o r y 

Central D i s t r i c t at South McAlester 

Depositions of witnesses ^avina - r ank l i n , Silas 

Lawrence Minerva Swadley and W.T.Swadley taken at the residence 

of W.T.Swadley at the town of Coalgate, in the Central D i s t r i c t 

of the Indian Ter r i to ry , on the 13th da,y of July,1897, between the 

hours of eight oclock A.M. and s ix oclock P.M. to be >*ead as 

evidence in the consolidated cases of w.T.Swadley vs The Choctaw 

Nation and Minerva Swadley vs the Choctaw nat ion, pending at Sofcfch 

McAlester in the Central Judic ia l D i s t r i c t of the Indian Ter r i to ry . 
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Application of the following named persons to he enrolled as 

citizens of the Choctaw Nation: 

John F. Hunter, Win. P. Hunter, Jos. S. Hunter, 

John T. Hunter Clinton A. Hunter, Jas. J. Hunter, 

Sarah C. Oats, Mary Cunningham, Katy Dickson Hunter, 

Geo. W. Hunter, Mary Maud Hunter, Mattie Katherine Hunter, 

Jesse James Hunter Mary C. Hunter, Moses S. Hunter, 

Lilly May Hunter, Chas. Ruby Hunter, Lottie Lee Hunter, 

Frankie Hunter, Lulu Hunter, W. D. Cunningham, 

Jas. Cunningham, Arthur Cunningham, Georgie Cunningham, 

Gertrude Cunningham,Joseph Cunningham, Francis Cunningham, 

Mary Dameron, John M. Hunter, George P. Hunter, 

Mar tha Hunt e r, 

Mary S. CIement s, 

Thos. T. Boss, 

John F. Clements, 
Jas: Clements, 

Mary L. May, 

Elvin May, 

. F. HUftter, 

W. A. Clements, 

John E. Hunter, 

Emil3r Clements, 

Mary L Hunter, 

Turner May, 

Amanda Isgrigg, 

Marion S. Hunter, 

Alice I. Ross, 

Sallie D. Hunter, 

Pearl Clements, 

Wm. T. Hunter, 

Ella May, 

James Isgriss. 



Vinita, I. T. Aug. 28th, 1896. 

To the Hon. Trenry Dawes, Archibald McKennon, Frank C. Armstrong, 

A. B. Montgomery and Thomas B. Cabiness, Commissioners: 

The Te titioners herein mentioned respectfully represent that 

they are citizens of the Choctaw NAtion and entitled to be enrolled 

upon the rolls of citizenship of said nation, and that they are 

descendants of Win. P. Hunter, who was a Choctaw Ind ian by blood. 

Your petitioners respectfully represent that the said William 

P. Hunter, a Choctaw Indian by blood as aforesaid, lived with and 

was identified with the Choctaw Indians from the time of his birth 

in the old Choctaw Nation afe5a*"'*he-y«ar in the State of Mississippi 

and that he came with the Choctaws to the Choctaw nation in the 

Indian Territory about the year 1837, and a short time thereafter 

he moved to Fannin' county in the State of ^exas and died about five 

miles north of Bonham in Fannin Counter, Tex. about 1848; that the 

said William P. Hunter, before leaving the Choctaw county in Mis-

sisssippi married Minerva Turner, a whote woman, about the year 

1820 and lived with her until her death in Fannin county, Tex about 

the year 1840; that she v/as killed by the wild Indians; that the 

said William P. Hunter and his wife, Minerva Hunter had five child­

ren whose names are as follows: John F. Hunter, Heriet Hunter, 

William P. Hunter, Joseph S. Hunter and Amanda Hunter, of whom only 

three are living, viz: John F. Hunter, William P. Hunter and Joseph 

S. Hunter and that they and the descendants of these three children 

are prosecuting this application: 

The said Joseph S. Hunter, one of 3'our petitioners herein is 

71 years old and is a Choctaw Indian of the 1/4 blood; that he 

was married about the 3?-ear 1851 to Sarah Damron in Fannin county, 

Tex. and that they lived together as husband and wife until her 

death about t e year 1881 and the following children were born unt$ 

them: John T. Hunter, Clinton A. Hunter, Jas. J. Hunter, Sarah 



C. Hunter, now the v/i fe of Henry oats and Mary Hunter now the iwfe 

of W. D. Cunningham, all of whom join in this application; that the 

aid John T. Hunter was married to Katie Dickson about the year 

1881, and as the resul of said marriage, they have four children, 

viz: Geo. W. Hunter, Mary Maud Hunter, Mattie Katherine Hunter and 

Jesse James Hunter; that Clinton Hunter married Mary Cunningham 

about the year 1883 and five children have been born unto them as 

follows: Moses S. Hunter, Lily May Hunter, Chas. Ruby Hunter, Lottie 

Lee Hunter and prankie Hunter; that James J. Hunter carried Lulu 

Oats in the fall of 1895 and they have no children; that the said 

Mary Hunter, now Mrs. W. D. Cunningham, has six ehilren as follows: 

Jas. Cunningham, Arthur Cunningham, Georgia Cunningham, Gertrude 

Cunningham, Joseph Cunningham, and prancis Cunningahm; that the 

said John E. Hunter married Mary Dameron about the year 1842 in 

Fannin county, Tex. and that they had two children v/ho are inter­

ested personally and whose descedanta are interested in this ap­

plication, as follows: John M. Hunter, Geo. T. Hunter; that the 

said John M. Hunter was horn in Fannin county, Tex. about the year 

1846, and in 1865 was married to Martha Doss and the following 

children were born unto them: William F« Hunter, Marion S. Hunter, 

Mary S. Hunter, now Mrs. W. A. Clements, Blice E. Hunter, now Mrs. 

Thos. T. Ross, John E. Hunter and gallie D. Hunter, all of whom 

join in this ap] lie at ion;, that the said Mary S. Hunter married the 

said W. A. Clements, v/ho joins in this application, about the year 

1888, and that they have the following children: John E. Clements, 

Emily Clements, Pearl Clements and Jas. Clements; that said Alice 

E. Hunter married Thos. T. Ross v/ho also joins in this application, 

about the year 1892 and that they have tv/o children, viz: Wm. Ross 

and Jas. Ross. 

Said wm. T. Hunter married about the yea.r 1863 Amanda Downing 

and there was born unto them a child, Mary L. Hunter, and the said 

Mary L. Hunter married Luther May about the year 1889, and the fol-



lowing children were born unto them: Turner **ay, Ella May and Elvin 

May; that the said Geo. T. Hunter died about 20 years ago and his 

daughter Mary L. Hunter and said Luther ,ray and their three children 

join in this application. 

That the said Harriet Hunter, daughter of William P. Hunter 

married Hugh Simpson about the year 1830 In the old Choctaw Nation 

in Mississippi, and one of their children was named Amanda Simpson, 

who died about 26 years ago; that the said Amanda Simpson married 

William Isgrigg about the year 1864 and they had one child, James 

Isgrigg, who joins in this application. 

Wherefore, the above named applicants pray that they be 

enrolled as members and citizens of the Choctaw Nation and that 

they have all other relief to which they may be entitled. 

Ledbetter & Bledsoe, 

Attorneys for Applicants. 

We, Joseph S. Hunter and John M. Hunter, after being duly 

sv/orn, on oath, state that the allegations in the foregoing appli­

cation are true as we verily believe, 
his 

Jos.. S. X Hunter 
mark 

John M., \ hunter. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 13 day of August, 1896. 

Tom H. Sturgeon, 

Notary Public. 

(SEAL) 

t 



Indian Territory, 

Southern District. 

John T. Hunter, after being duly sworn on oath, says: 

That he is familiar with and has heard read the application for 

citizenship filed herein on "behalf of the descendants of 1m. P. 

Hunter, and that all the allegations contained in said application 

are true; that a similar application was filed on "behalf of himself 

John T. Hunter, Jos. S. Hunter., John M. jninter and Ita. P. Hunter 

before the citizenship committee or court in the Choctaw nation 

about the year 1889 and said application was recommended arid passed 

upon as sufficient and the applicants therein named were recommended 

for citizenship but were never in fact enrolled; that the original 

pepers connected with said application are now on file with the 

Choctaw authorities; that application has been made to the clerk 

\ of said committee or court for the original papers to be filed 

with this application, but so far, the petitioners in this appli­

cation have not been able to procure the said originla papers; that 

the copies of the affidavits of Roger James, Gilbert Cooper, Eastman 

Tahoma are In all respects true and correct copies of the original 

affidavits made by those parties on file with the Choctaw author­

ities. The said John T. Hunter further swears taht the family 

history of the descendants of the said Wm. P. Hunter as contained in 

said application is correct and the said descendants of the said 

William P. Hunter as therein described are all living and in my 

opinion, entitled to citizenship. 

John T. Hunter.. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 28 day of Aug., 1896. 

T. H. Sturgeon, 

Notary Public. 

(SEAL) 



Indian Territory, 

Chickasaw nation, 

Joseph S. Hunter, after being duly sworn, on oath, states 

that he is 71 years old and was born in the Choctaw Nation in the 

State of Mississippi; that his father was William P. Hunter who was 

a Choctaw jndian of the half blood; that he examined the application 
filed herein 

for citizenship in the Choctaw Nation by the descendants of said 
A 

William P. Hunter, and says that he believes that all the allega­

tions therein contained in reference to the citizenship of the sev­

eral applicants therein named are true, and that the recital of the 

family history of said applicants as contained in said application 

is to the best of affiants knowledge true and correct, and that 

said application correctly states the relationahip of each and all 

of the parties therein named of the said William P. Hunter; that 

from earliest boyhood he has understood from parties who were aware 

of the facts that the family history of the said Hunters, the appli­

cants therein named, to be as alleged in said application, and that 

he believes the parties therein named are entitled to be enrolled 

as members and citizens of the Choctaw nation. 
his 

Jos. S.XHunter 
mark 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 13 day of August, 1896, 

Tom H. Sturgeon, 

Notary Public, 

(SEAL) 



Indian Territory, 

Chickasaw Nation. 

John M. Hunter, "being duly sworn, on oath, states 

that he is familiar with the allegations in the application of the 

descendants of William P. Hunter for enrollment as Choctaw citizens, 

and that from the "best of his knowledge and belief the allegations 

therein contained are true; that he is 50 years old and is the 

grandson of W1lliam P. Hunter named in said application as the an­

cestor of said applicants, and that he has always understood from 

conversation with members of the family and from others that the sail 

William P. Hunter was a half breed Choctaw jndian, and that the 

family history connecting the present applicants with said Wxlliam 

P. Hunter is as alleged in said application and that he believes 

the applicants therein named as entitled to citizenship in the Choc­

taw Elation and to be enrolled as such. 

J. M. Hunter. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 13 day of August, 1896. 

Tom H. Sturgeon, 

Notary P ublic. 

(SEAL) 



Appeared before me the aid ersigned authority Rodgers .Tames 

underoath and says, I have known these men ever since j can recol­

lect; my grandfather Eenahontta always that these men were his 

cousins, and were Choctaws by blood, and I do believe they are, 

I have no right to believe anything else. When these men lived in 

Texas my grandfather would go to see them. John F. Hunter, 

Joseph S. Hunter and W. P. -qrunter. William Hunter came to my 

grandfather's house, so Joseph S. Hunter. I used to hear them 

say that they were grandfather's brother's children and were first 

cousins to my grandfather. I would go with my grandfather 

Benahontta to visit John T. Hunter, Joe S. Hunter and W. P. 

Hunter. T have known these men ever since I can recollect. I 

have been taught these men were Choc taws by blood. 

Rodgers James. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 25 day of October, 1895. 

S. T. Hansley, 

Clerk Tobuksy Co. C. I« 

This is a true and correct copy of the original affidavit of Rogers 

James. 

J. A. Gregory, 

Notary Public, 

My commission expires Sett. 26th 1898. 

(SEAL) 

? 



jfa\0 
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Appeared before me the undersigned authority Gilbert Cooper 

under oath, and says I knowed Benahontta and his brother Pisochobbi. 

We started together on our emigration from the State of Mississippi. 

I am about 74 years old* When we started together there was an old 

woman by the name of Wehatona was their stepmother and she was 

with them, and we stopped at a place one time and several of the 

men fixed to go out on the Texas side a hunting, and Pisochobbi 

join the crowd and went with them, and it sometime afterwards there 

was another crowd started out to hunt on the Texas side, little 

south, for fear there were other(Indians wild) at that day and time 

they often came in contact with the wild Indians. So they started 

in the direction the first crowd went and they met or foud the first 

crowd was down in Texas somewhere, and this Pisochobi w^s a half 

breed, his mother was -Renahontta1 s mother, same mother and dif­

ferent father Pisochobe's father was a white man. Benahontta father 

was a full blood Choctaw, so we used to call Pisochobi, "white Man" 

by his nickname. And aftef- Pisochobi got on the ̂ exas side they 

white people called him William, so when the rest of the crown re­

turned to our old camp bu Pisochobi or William did not come but 

staid on Texas side, and afterwards they called him William punter 

on account that he came over on Texas a hunting. So then V^lliam 

Hunter carried to a white woman so I was told. And now these men in 

my presence John P. Hunter, Joseph S Hunter and William P. Hunter, 

are his children so I am told. I am personaHy acquainted with the 

old man. He was a half breed Choctaw. 

Gilbert Cooper. 

Subscribed and sworn to before .this 23rd, day of oct 1895 
W. H. Ainsley.f 

Co. Clerk Tobuksy Co. C. IfY, 

This is a true and correct copy of the original testimony b 
Cooper. 

J. A. Gregory, 
Notary Public. 

My commission expires Sept. 16th 1898. 
(SEAL) 



Appeared "before me the undersigned authority Eastman Tehomba 

under oath and says, I knowe'd Benahontta now deceased; I knowed 

William Trunter, and since then I got acquainted with John F. Hunter 

and Joseph S. Hunter, they are brothers. I used to work for B©n-

ahontta, and stajred at his house quite awhile and this William Hun­

ter was there at Benahontta at the time, and old man told me one 

time that this William Hunter is a kinsman of him, and says he 

appears to be a full blood white but he is not, if could speak 

our language he would be alright but as he raised on Texas side, 

on account of brother being on that side for awhile, I knowed 

Benahontta, he was a full blood Choctaw, and lived in Blue 

County Choctaw nation. 

his 
Eastman X Tehomba 

mark 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 23rd day of Oct 1895 

W. H^teley. 
i 

Co Clerk Tobucksy County C. N. 

This is a true and correct copy of the original deposition of 

Eastman Tehomba. 

J. A. Gregory, 

Notary Public. 

Mu commission expires Sept 16th 1898, 

(SEAL) 
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Chickasaw nation, I. T. 

Homedy Williams, after being duly sworn says, I was born in 

Missisippi on the Elohesho river about the year 1810 and was 

raised with the Choctaw Indians. I came to the Teritorie two or 

three years after the Chctaws came. I was well acquainted with 

one Pisochabbi up to the time of emigration of 1836, he v/as a half 

breed Choctaw and white man and was a brother to Benna Honter who wa? 

a full blood Choctaw. I did not know Pisachabbi's wife but he had 

several boys, six or eight year before the emigration of 1836 I 

never seene Pisochabbi or any of his boys after they left Mis­

sissippi. 

his 
Homedy X. Williams 

mark 

Sworn to before me this 22" day of March 1897. 

D. J". Carpenter, 

Notary Public. 

In and for Southern T)istrict, Ind. Ty. 

(SEAL) 
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Choctaw nation, 

Indian Territory. 

Patsy Hall} after "being duly sworn says: I am a Choctaw 

Tnd ian "by birth and blood and have lived among the Indians all 

my life and came to the territory with, the Choctaw Indians about the 

year 1836. I have known "William P. Hunter nearly all my life, 

I knew him before he came to the Indian Territory under the name of 

Pisochabbi, and up to the time he left the Choctaw nation and went 

to the state of ^exas. Afterwards he was called William pnter. 

He was a half breed Choctaw and had a brother named -qenahontta, 

or some similar name. They were both recognized as Choctaw Indians 

and enjoyed all the rights of Choctaw citizenship during their life 

time? I don't know just want year Pisochabbi, or William TTunter, 

died, but think it was about the year 1848. I am well acquainted 

with Jos. S. Hinter, and know him to be a son of Pisochabbi 
P 

or William jninter. I have known him nearly all my life. I am also 

acquainted with John M. Hunter, and have known him for many years, 

and from information in my possession, I know him to be the 

grandson of W lliam P. Hunter. I have also known John f« Hunter 

from his boyiiood to the present time, and know him to be a son of 

said Pisochabbi or William Hunter. All of these Hunters have I.dian 

blood in them and are entitled to be enrolled as Choc taw Indians. 

I don't know my age, but I was old enough to do house work before 

I left Mississippi. 

her 
Patsy X. Hall 

mark 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 23 day of March 1897. 

mm 
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t ^ V V U j y ^ ' N M V v U A J- W» Childers, 
Notary P u b l i c , 

in and for Southern D i s t r i c t 
(SEAL) of Chickasaw n a t i o n . 
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Tuskahoma, Choctaw Nation, 

October 17th 18<5. 

To the Honorable Members ofthe senate and the House of Representa­

tives of the Chocta?/ nation in General Council of the Choctaw 

Nation assembled: 

Your petitioners J. P. Hunter, J. S. Hunter, W. P. 

Hunter and their heirs most respectfully ask your honorable body 

to grant unto them by an act of the general council, all the 

rights, privileges and immunities of citizenship of the Choctaw 

Nation, and for the following reasons, to-wit: 

1st* Because they are Choctaws by blood and lineal descendants 

of old man Pisochabbi or V/illiam Hunter, who was a half brother of 

Benahontta deceased, late of -plue county, Choctaw ̂ ation, their 

mother being a Choctaw full blood, and father of Pisochabbi or 

William Trunter a white man, and your petitioners are 3/4 

Choctaws and their children l/8 Choctaw, the following names are 

children of J. P. Hunter. 

J. M. Hunter, J. C. Hunter, W. M. Hnnter, R. E. Hunter, J. P. 

Hunter, M. P. Skaggs Hunter, M. P. Crunk Hunter, Tennesse -perry, 

E. M. Hunter, R. M. Hunter and one grandchild Mary L. S. M^y. 

J. S. Hunter's children are as follows, viz. 

J. T. Hunter, C. A. Hunter, J. J. Hunter, S. C. Hunter, and grand­

children of J. Cunningham, A. Cunningham, G. Cunningham, Viola 

Cunningham, Joe Cunningham and -̂ rank Cunningham. And W. P. Huntens 

children are as follows, viz, Harriet H. Hunter, Belle V. Hunter, 

Juny T. Hunter, Martha B. Hunter, W. W. Hunter and V« V. Hunter. 

The above named persons are Choctaws loy blood and therefore 

entitled to the rights and privileges above asked for. 

All of which your petitioners are ready and willing to prove. 

And in duty bound your petitioners will ever pray, 

Your petitioner, 
J. P. Hunter. 



J. S. Hunter 

Wm. Hunter. 

Attest: 

Gilbert Cooper 

Buck Hunter 

Eastman Tehomba 

T. W. Hunter. 

Atty 

D. A. Homer. 

This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy fron the original petition of J. F. Hunter et als for citi­

zenship in the Choctaw nation, now on file in my office at Tuska-

homa the Capital of the Choctaw nation. 

Witness my hand the Great seal of the Choctaw nation, this 

the 9th day of November, A. D. 1895. 

J. B. Jackson, 

National Secretary 

Choctaw Ration. 

(SEAL CHOCTAW NATION) 

' * 



Chickasaw Nation, 

j:dian ̂ erritory. 

Patsy Hall, after "being duly sworn, on oath, states 

as follows: I am a gtootMf Indian by birth and blood and have 

lived among the Indians all my life; I am 60 years of age and 

come to the Indian Territory with the Chickasaws and Choc taws about 

the year 1837. Tn the old Choctaw nation in Mississippi, before 

corning to the Indian Territory, I knew William P. Hunter, a half 

breed Choctaw Indian intimately and came with him to the Tnd an 

Territory. A short time after coming to the Indian Territory he 

left and went to Texas where he died many years ago. I am well 

acquainted with J. S. Hunter who has made application to be en­

rolled as a Choctaw citizen and know him to be the son of said 

William P. Hunter. I have known him all my life. I am also acquaint 

ed with John M, Hunter and have known him for many years, and from 

information in my possession, I know him to be the grandson of 

the said William P. Hunter. I also know Jno. F. Hunter from his 

earliest boyhood until the present time. All of these Hunters have 

Indian Blood in them and are entitled to be enrolled as Choctaw 

citizens. 

her 
Patsy X. Hall 

mark 

Witness Wess Childers. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 16 day of August, 1896. 

" Notary Public, 

J. W. Childers 
Notary Public in and for the 3rd district 

4 of Indian Territory , 

9 W (SEAL) 
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XI THE UNITED STATES COURT, ZI THE INDIAN TERRITORY, 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT, AT ARDMORE. 

John T: Hunter et al. Before W. H. L. Campbell, Esq., Master 

No. 73. v. in Chancery, at Ardmore. 

Choctaw Nation. March, 17, 1897. 

Appeared: W. A. Lefcbetter, Esq., for the Plaintiff. 

John T. Hunter a witness for the plaintiffs, after being 

duly sv/orn, testifies: 

Direct examination by Mr. Ledbetter: 

Q,. How old are you? 

A. Born in the year !20. 

Q. where? 

A. Born in Mississippi, I keckon. I was young when I started from 

that country to the Choctaw country. 

Q,. Has it been your understanding from your parents that'-you were 

born in the State of Mississippi? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q,. About how old were you when you came to the Territory? 

A. I reckon I was 16 or 17. 

Q,. What kind of people were they that came? 

A. Choctaws, most of them full bloods. 

Q. Where did you stop at? 

A. Kiomanche River, not more than 10 or 15 miles from -ped River. 

Q,. "What was your father's name? 

A. They called him Win. Hunter after he came to the Territory. 

Q. Did he have an Indian name? 

A. Yes sir, the Indians called him,-I don't know what they called 

it. 

Q. You don't know his individual given name by the Indians? 

A. No. 

Q. When did he die? 

A. I reckon '48, just at the lose of the Mexican war. 
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Q. Are you of any Indian "blood? 

A. I have "been taught that I am part. 

Q. What has "been your understanding? 

A. Been my understanding; been cal ed Indian John since I can 

recollect. 

Q. Of what nation do you claim to be a member? 

A. Choctaw. 

%k Did you know an Indian by the name of Benahoatta? 

A. yes sir, they called him old Benahontta. 

Q,. How long since he died? 

A. I reckon it has been ten years since his horse killed him. 

Q,. Where did he die? 

A. In the Choctaw nation. 

Q. Was he related, in any way to Wm. Hunter? 

A. They said he was; he carae to our house and claimed to be related. 

Q. Did you know him up to the time of his death? 

A. yes sir, I knev/ him up to the time of his death. He was killed. 

Q,. Do you know how he was related to your fathef? 

A. Isfo. 

Q,. What is your understanding? 

A. My understanding was that he was related to my father. 

Q,. What is your understanding the relation was? 

A. I don't know. Just kin folks. 

Q. What degree of Indian blood was he? 

A. He looked to be fully a full blood, or three fourths. 

Q,. You know any of his sons? 

A. Ones called Silas and Tom. 

Q,. Where did they live? 

Q,. T don'.t know where they live, did live then with their father. 

Q,. Was Benahoatta killed you say 10 years ago? 

A. I think, about 10 3̂ ears. 

Q,. During all the time you were in this country he and you father 

claimed to be related? ./*' 



A. Yes sir, and visit each other. 

Q . Do you know wle ther ornot Benahontta was recognized as a Choctaw 

Citizen? 

A. Of course. My understanding. He lived and died in the Choctaw 

Nation. 

Q, You understood all the time he was recognized as a Choctaw? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. How long since you undertook to claim Choctaw. How long si nee 

you undertood to prove it? 

A. Been about ten years, I reckon. 

Q. Do you know whether your claim was ever recognized or not by 

the Choctaw Tribunals? 

A? No sir. 

Q,. Do you know whether ever rejected or not? 

A. Ho sir. 

Q,. How long have you claimed to be a Choctaw by blood? 

A. Claimed it all my life and taught I was. 

Y/itness Excused. 

D. B. Holfurd,, a witness for plaintiff, after being duly 

sworn, testifies: 

Direct examination by Mr. -̂ edbetter. 

Q,. What is your name? 

A. D. B. Holfurd, born in f52. 

Q,. Do you know the applicant, John F. ̂ unter? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. Know his other brother Joe S. tTunter? 

A. Yes sir. > 

Q,. These are the Hunters that appealed for citizenship? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q,. How long have you known them? 

A. I don't know just how long, was a little boy. 

Q. "Where were you living then? 

A. Texas. 



Q. Did you know this old man Benahontta he speaks of? 

A. Yes sir, Choctaw, and claimed to "be a three fourths, or full 

blood. 

Q,. Did you know Silas Hunter? 

A. ̂ res sir* 

Q,. Do 3̂ ou know where he is now? 

A. Dead. 

Q,. Do you kow what kin he was to Benahontta? 

A. Was Benahontta's son. 

Q. They claimed to be kin folks with Silas Hunter? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. You know Tom Ĥ nteer. 

A. Hot well acquainted with him. 

Q. Where is he now? 

A. In the Choctaw Nation, las account I heard of him. 

Q,. He ever held any official position? 

A. No sir. Silas did. 

Q,. Did Silas claim to be kin to these people? 

A. „res sir. 

|i What position did he hold? 

A. Attorney General. 

Q,. Do you know whether he held any position at the ttime he was 

killed or not? 

A. T think he was the prosecuting Attorney when he was killed. 

Q,. Do ycm know whether old man Benahontta claimed to be related to 

these people or not. 

A. They visited one another alright. Don't know what relation they 

claimed to be. 

Q,. How old were you during the time you speak of? 

A. Eight or ten. 

'f 
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Mr. Gibson, a witness for the plaintiff, after being 

duly sworn, testifies: 

Direct examination by Mr. Ledbetter: 

Q,. Mr. Gibson, how old are you? 

A. 38 

Q,. Did you know a Choc taw Indian by the name of Benahontta? 

A. Xes sir, used to know him when I vas a little boy. 

Q,. V/here? 

A. Choctaw Nation. 

Q. Was he recognised as a Choctaw Indian? 

A. Yes sir, he was. 

Q, Konow Silas Hunter? 

A. No sir, was a little boy when I left the Chctaw lotion. 

Q,. Do you know these people John F« and Joe B. Hunter? 

A. No, not at that time. Got acquainted with them since I h%ve 

been in this nation. They used to call him Benahontta. He was a 

great hunter. He used to sa3r that he didn't have any brother at 

all, but had some cousins, mighty near white, and I think they 

claimed kin. 

Q,. How long did he claim to be kin folks to that Hunter down in 

Texas? 

A. Ever since I knew him* Must have been 12 years. 

Q,. Did you know Tom Hunter? 

A. No. I didn't know him. 

Q,. Did you ever hear of him? 

A. Yes sir, he lived in the Choctaw Nation. 

Q,. Do you know whether he was any kin of Benahontta? 

A. Close relation some way, I don't know how. 

Q,. You say his name was Benahontta. 

A. "Hontta." 

Q,. How long been since you left the Choctaw country? 

A. Left when I was 12 years old. 

5 
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By the Court: 

Q,. Are you a Choctaw? 

A. Yes sir, full "blood. And Benahontta, I think was a full "blood, 

Q. You think he was a full blood? 

A. Yes sir, 

W. A. Clemants , a witness for the plaintiffs, after being 

first duly sworn, testifies: 

Direct Examination by Mr, Ledbetter: 

Q. How old are you 

A. Born in '56. 

Q,. Did you know Benahontta? 

A. ves sir. 

Q,. Where? 

A. In Blue oounty, Choctaw nation. 

Q,. Did 3rou know whether he was a Choctaw or not? 

A. He looked to be, and claimed to be a Choctaw. 

Q,. Do you know whether he was related to these other Choc taws, 

or not? 

A. He claimed to be. 

Q. How long has he been dead? 

A. I don't know exactly? Some 10 or 11 years, I guess. 

By the Court: 

%. Did you know him well? 

A. No sir, wasn't personally acquainted with him, saw him several 

times. 

Q,. Ever hear him speak about these people being relatives of his? 

A. ̂ es sir, heard him speak of it. 

Q,. Under what citcurnstances? 

A. Was at a Choctaw Council down there. 

By Mr. Ledbetter: 

Q,. For what purpose? 

A. For that purpose. 

6 



Q,. What statement did he make to you? 

A. rj-e said they were relatives of his, 

Q,. He was there us a witness in this case? 

A. Attended court on this case. 

Mr. John Hunter, a witness in his own behalf, upon oath, 

testifies: 

Direct Examination by Mr. -̂ edbetter. 

Q,. Did you know Benahontta? 

A. I have seen him. 

Q,. mien? 

A. Must have been in f62 or ' '3. 

q. Where? 

A. At old Boggy Depot. 

Q. What nationality was he? 

A. Choctaw, looked to be. 

Q,. Recognized as such? 
v 

A. ,res sir. 

Q,. Ever see him afterwards? 

A. Never did. 

Q,. Do you know whether he had any sons or not? 

A. I knew he had one, heard of another. 

Q. Which one? 

A. Tom. 

Q. Where i s he? 

A. Choctaw Nation. 

Q,. What business is he in? 

A. I can't tell. 

Q. How long have you known him? 

A. J reckon about four years. 

Q,. Do you know whether he is related to this old gentleman or not? 
A. That has been m3r understanding. 

7 
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Q,. Since when? 

A. Been taught that ever since I can recollect. 

Q,. What has "been your understanding as to whether or not he was 

related to Benahontta? 

A. Been my uderstanding that they were. 

Q,. Do you know how long they claimed to he Choc taws? 

A. Ever since I recollect. 

Q,. How old are you? 

A. 50. 

Q,. You one of the applicants? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q,. You have examined this application and know about these differnet 

children, is that correct? 

A. yes sir, as far as I know. 

Q. How long has Benahontta been dead? 

A. 10 or 11 years. 

Q,. What became of your application before the Council? 

A. Best I recollect there in the Council. 

Q,. Ever passed by- any Commission? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. What? 

A. Came before the House and then the Seante, and then come to 

the Committee that examined it, and passed two and came to the third 

Committee. 

Q. What became of it then? 

Q,. Rejected? 

A. No sir, just wrote • 

Q. Was 3'"ou a p p l i c a t i o n pending s.t the time you made t h i s a p p l i c a ­

t i o n before the Dawes Commission? 

%0 yes s i r . 

2 » 3 ft« H o w long your a p p l i c a t i o n been pending t h e r e ? 

8 
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A. Since the first application was made, been about some ten or 

12 years. 

Q,. Have any of you been recognized as Choctaws? 

A. I suppose so. Been holding land for the last 10 years, and 

had permits issued under me. 

Q,. Is that true with the other Hunter, who joins you in this ap­

plication? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q,. You got a town organized under you? 

A. yes, Foster. But sold it. 

J. S. Hunter, a witness for the plaintiff, after beixg 

duly sworn, testifies as follows: 

Direct examination byMr. Ledbetter. 

Q,. How old are you Mr. Hunter? 

Q,. Was born in '25. 

Q,. You know where you were born? 

A. No sir, I don't. 

Q,. What has been your understanding? 

A. I don't recollect, wasn't very old. Was in Mississippi I suppose. 

Q,. You a member of any of the Five Civilzed Tribes of Indians? 

A, Was taught so by my father. 

Q. How long since you been taught that? 

A. Ever since I can recollect. 

Q,. What kind of an Indian? 

A. Choctaw. 

Q,. Leave with your father and come here? 

A. No sir. 

Q,. Where did you go? 

A. Louisiana. 

Q,. If/here then? 

A. Came back home, and father married again and I then went to 

Mexico and went into the Mexican army. 

9 
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Q,. Where do you live now? 

A. Three or four miles from Daugher̂ r. 

Q,. How long have you lived there? 

A your years• 

Q. How long have you lived in the Territory? 

A. j suppose 10 or 11 years. 

Q,. During that time has yoir citizenship been recognized in any way ? 

4» Not more than this: they called on me to -pay loyality, and Harris 

McLane said he wrote some places and I was in litigation and I 

didn't pay any. 

Q. It has been your understanding all your life that you were a 

Choctaw? 

A. ves sir. 

Q,. Have you claimed to be a Choctaw all your life? 

A. When it was spoken of by the Choctaws. 

Q,. Whenever the issue was raised you claimed to be a Choctaw? 

A. ves sir. 

Q,. Did you know this man silas Hunter? 

A. ^es sir. 

Q,. How long have you known him? 

A. I knew him 15 or 20 years ago. 

Q,. You know what kin he is to Benahontta? 

A. My understanding was that he is Bena»s son. 

Q,. Do you know whether he was recognized as a Choctaw Indian by 

blood? 

A. I suppose he was. He was an Attorney intheir coyrts. 

A. Choctaw lawyer. 

Q. He presented your petition to the Choctaw Council? 

A. yes sir. 

Q,. Do you know whether he was related to the Indian Benahontta or 

not? 

A. Only what I was taught about it. My understanding was that they 

10 
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were kin folks. 

Q. How long have you understood that? 

A. Pretty near ever since got acquainted with old Ben* 

Q,. About how long? 

A. Been 20 years. 

Q,. Been your understanding since that time that you were kin to 

him? 

A. ^es sir. 

Q,. Do you know what degree of k in? 

A. My unders tand ing was, my f a t h e r ewas a one-ha l f "brother to 

Benahont ta . 

Q,. How did you ge t t ha t unders tanding? 

A. Been taught t h a t . 

Q,. Prom members of t he family? 

A. J e s s i r . 

Witness excused. 

Dr. C. $cCoy, a witness for the plaintiff, upon oath, 

testifies: 

Direct examination by Mr. ̂ edbetterr 

Q,. What is your name? 

A. C. McCoy. 

Q,. Where do you live? 

A. Ardmore. 

Q,. How long have you lived in the Indian Territory? 

A. nearly 26 years. 

Q,. Did you ever live in the Choctaw NAtion? 
A. I did. 

Q,. Did you ever know a man down there "by the name of Benahontta? 

A. T did. 

Q,. How long did you know him? 

A. Got acquainted with him about f79. 

Q,. How long did you know him? 

11 
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A. Up to the time of his death. 

Q,. When did he die? 

A. 10 or 11 years ago. 

Q. You know w h a t n a t i o n a l i t y he was? 

A. Choctaw, f u l l b lood . 

Q,. Do you know whether he had any boys or not? 

A. He d i d . 

Q,. "What their names? 

A. One son, the oldest, son was Silas Hunter, and another one 

Tom, half brother to him. 

Q. Were they the same degree of Indian blood, the two boys? 

A. Were not. 

%, Recognized as Indians? 

A. They were. 

Q,. Hold any official position? 

A. Silas, was Prosecuting Attorney. 

Q,. Do you know when he was killed? 

A. I do. 

Q,. Who killed him? 

A. My clerk killed him. 

A. How long ago? 

A. Fine yea r s ago , to the best of my r e c o l l e c t i o n . 

Q,. You know what t h i s o ld man's name was. The o r i g i n of h i s name 

"Benahontta"? 

A. -res sir, he was a very wealthy man, and I transacted all his 

business. It Choctaw it was "Hontta" "Benahontta". 

Q,. ?/hat did his name come to be after that? 

A. Benahonta. 

Q. What name did his sons take? 
A. Same as his• 

Q,. How spelled? 

A. H u n t e r. 

Q,. Afterwards became to be Hunter, Honta was original name, in 

12 
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John T. Hunter, it al. 

vs. Southern District, Judgment, Hov. 15, 1897. 

Choctaw Nation. 

On this 17th day of January, 1898 cameon to be heard the 

report of the Mafeter in Chancery in the aove entitled cause, and 

after duly considering said report and the evidence in support 

thereof the Court is of the opinion that said report ought to be 

confirmed. 

Wherefore, it is adjudged and decreed by the Court that 

the report of the Master in Chancery, John Hinkle, in the ab ove 

styled cause be and the same is hereby confirmed, and it is hereby 

ordered, adjudged and decreed that the following nmed applicants 
are adjudged 

be and they KR herebyafcwtfgetd and decreed to be citizens of the 

Choctaw Nation and entitled to be enrolled upon th<- rolls of 

Choctaw citizenship, to-wit: 

John P. Hunter, John M. Hun tern and G^o? T. Hunter, 

Jos. T. Hunter, Effie May Hunter and R. M. Hunter; Martha Doss Hun­

ter, Wm. F. Hunter, Marrion S. Hunter, Mary S. Hunter, now Mrs. 

W. A. Clements, and Alice E. Hunter, now Mrs Thos. T. Ross, and 
Mary 

Hallie D. Hunter; John F. Clements, xM# Clements, "Pearl Clements 

ad William Clements, Wm. Ross, Jos. Ross, Mary May, May May and 

Elvin May; Joseph S. Hunter, John T. Hunter, Clinton A. inmter, 

Jas. J. Hunter and Mary Hunter, the w ife of W. D. Cunningham, 

Kate Dickson, now he wife of John T. Hunter, Geo. W. Hunter, Mary 

Maud Hunter, Mattie Catherine Huntefcxx and Jesse James Hunter, 

Mary Hunter Moses S. Hunter, LiHie May Hunter, Chas. Ruby Hunter 

and Lottie Lee Hunter, Lula Hunter, James Cunningham, Arthur 

Cunningham, Georgie Cunningham, Gertrude Cunningham, Joseph Cun­

ningham and Francis Cunningham, Jas. Isgrig. 

It is further adjudged and decreed by the Court that the 

above nmed applicants do have and recover of and from the Choctaw 
Hosea Townsend, Judge. 

Nation all costs of this proceedings. 



John. F. Hunter et il. 

vs. No. 73, Southern District, Order, Dec. 4, 1899. 

Choctaw llation. 

On this day comes on to bo heard the motion of defendant 

to correct the judgment herein. The court after hearing said 

motion, and being fully advised in te premises, doth cverrruln 

said motion, to which ruling of the court the defendant, by its 

attorney in open court duly excepts. 
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SUMMONS. 

United States of America, 

Indian Territory, 

Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court. 

^ss 

The President of the United States of America, 
T o t h e U n i t e d S t a t e s M a r s h a l for t h e I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , N o r t h e r n D i s t r i c t , :\ 

G R E E T I N G : 

You are hereby Commanded to Summons Green McCurtain, Principal Chief of 

the Choctaw Nation, to answer on behalf of said nation, in twenty days after the service of this 

summons upon him, as Principal Chief of said Nation a complaint in Equity filed against the 

Choctaw and Chickasaw nation'in the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, in the Indian Ter-

, byath7P<<i~^ AL<4-?^^ 

and warn him that upon his failure as said Principal Chief to answer on behalf of said nation, the 

complaint will be taken for confessed, and you will make return of the summons instanter; 

And you are further commanded to notify said Green McCurtain, Principal Chief aforesaid, 

\) J) rf J/" 
that the papers, files and proceedings in the case oy^^^t^i-^L.S/.....t.../¥rrys^^^ r^^^^L-* 

File No Z.W in the District Court for the M.&.4C.&MA+***!!:. District ol )f the 

Indian Territory, has been transferred to the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, and that 

the certificate of the clerk of said court for said W"riLi6&4\.!tidm1U&«*f. District, Indian Territory, 

has been attached thereto. .,,-;. .. , . 

v^ 

W I T N E v S S the Honorable Spencer B. Adams, Chief Judge, 

Walter L. Weaver and Henry S. Poote, Associate 

Judges, and the Seal thereof, at South McAlester, 

Indian Territory, aforesaid, this ^r....W-

of March A. D., 1903. 

• <„-." ; : « (SiS 

•£k>te^ Clerk. 

Deputy. 

f ..-.. F ' 
1 .,. ., i . £: • .. 



M A R S H A L ' S R E T U R N . 

United S ta tes of A m e r i c a , 
Indian Territory, 

DISTRICT. 

I received this summons this of 

at o'clock m. and served same by copy, as follows: 

Personally on Green McCurtain, at 

This day of , 1903, m. 

A. D.. 1903, 

Indian Terr i tory, 

By Deputy. 
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Choctaw. The old man couldn't talk good English. 

Q,. He was an old resident of that country? 

A. p;e was 

Q. He been t h e r e always? 

A. Ever s ince came from M i s s i s s i p p i , I a t t ended to a l l of h i s 

b u s i n e s s and knew him w e l l . 

Submitted. 

^* a 13 



(Copy) 

INDIAN TERRITORY, 
CENTRAL DISTRICT: 

My name i s A. B . McCoy. My P . 0 , i s Caddo, I . T. 

I know T o b i a s Edwards of B u r r i s , I , T. I have known 

him f o r 16 y e a r s . I am a c q u a i n t d w i t h h i s r e p u t a t i o n f o r t r u t h 

and v a r a c i t y in t h i s community and 1 n t he community in which 

he l i v e s . That h i s r e p u t a t i o n i s b a d . 

He i s a s t a n d i n g p r o f e s s i o n a l v / i t n e s s in c i t i z e n s h i p 

c a s e s . He w i l l swea r t o an?^ s t a t e m e n t . He g e n e r a l l y c h a r g e s 

f o r h i s t e s t i m o n y . On one o c c a s i o n he t o l d me t h a t he g o t 

p a i d from #-5.00 t o 1 2 5 . 0 0 f o r h i s t e s t i m o n y . I would n o t 

b e l i e v e him on o a t h . 

* (S igned ) A. B. McCoy. 

S u b s c r i b e d and sworn t o b e f o r e me t h i s 2 9 t h day of J u l y , 

1 9 0 3 . 
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APPLTCJSTTOX FOR CITIZENSHIP. 

Infi ian T e r r i t o r y , 

Atoka County. 

Before me the u n d e r s i g n e d a N o t a r y ?u l i e , t h i s day p e r s o n a l l y a p ­

p e a r e d Minerva Swodly, who a f t e r .beinp; du ly sworn s t a t e s a s f e l l ­

ows: T am 42 y e a r s of a r e , and a c i t i z e n of the Choctaw -nat ion ^yhlftod. 

I am a d a u g h t e r of Wm. Hun te r and Mar tha Hunt r , bo th c i t i z e n s of the 

Choctaw r a t i o n by b lood . T v/as born in the I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y and have l i ­

ved here h e a r l y a l l my l i f e . I m a r r i e d my p r e s e n t kiii#fcand W, T. *wodly 

in November, 1871 , T am e n r o l l e d on he r o l l s of the Choctaw N a t i o n o r 

a c i t i z e n T was e n t e r e d a s aChdt "tannin the law r o l l s a l s o when the.~Lfcase D 

D i s t r i c t Land money was p a i d in 1894. When I wont to draw my money in 

A£oka, I was t o l d T cou ld no# dwaw i t a e r l was n o t a c i t i z e n and was shoam 

the rollfetafrotos b o o k s , my name was t h e r e and under i t a s e n t i t l e d : W 

"Uo c i t i f cn no t e n t i t l e d to d raw" , I have t r a c k e d the m a t t e r up and f i n d 

t h a the $ r t y who e n t e r e d the p r o t e s t a g a i n s t me v/as Wm. H a r r i s , a c l t z e n 

of Che Chocta.v n a t i o n by blood aud w i t h whom my husband had t r o u b l e a 

s h o r t time b e f o r e t h i s . Wm. H a r r i s was an I n f l u e n t i a l rain here a t t h a t 

t i m e . F o r f u r t h e r p r o o f t h a t I am a Choctaw, T b e r to to r e f e r to the 

c e r t i f i e d c o p i e s of a f f i d a v i t of Vina F r a n k l i n and Bob R o b e r t s . Bob Ro­

b e r t s I n d i a u name beinp;, I . Kebusha . I am du ly r e g a r d e d a s a Choctaw c i ­

t i z e n and my r i g h t h a s never been d i s p u t e d only by the son of Wm. H a r r i s . 

I f u r t h e r ben; t h a t my c h i l d r e n be als<i r e g i s t e r e d . T h e i r names and ar~es 
/ 

a r e a s f o l l o w s : / 

I , I , Swodly, 27>, y e a r s , S i n r l e . 

A. Rore Swodly, now Fulsom. 

W i t n e s s my h a n d t h i s the 5 t h day of September ,ml89f i . 
her 

MinorvaX Swodly. 
Wi tnes s . mark 
V i c t o r i a Bey. 
.Tas.A Bof;y. 

Sworn to and s u b s c r i b e d b e f o r e me t h i s t he 5 t h day of Sep tember , 1896. 

S.T. V. P e r r y . 
My cc 
SEAL. 

coramision exp i r e * 2nd , month, 1899. 



Atoka County, 

Choc taw inHt ion. 

Bob Roberts, a citizen of Atoka County, Choctaw nation, and of law­

ful a£« testifies as follows in reference to the citizenship of Mrs. Mi­

nerva Swodly, nee Miss Minerva Hunter. T am ninety-three years -Id. T 

have known her people from -vay back yonder. She is a daughter of Wra. 

H untar, who was mostly all Choctaw. His father was a full blood Choctaw 

named Hunter in English. Mrs. Swodly*s father was an uncle to youn^ 

Thomas Hunter, who lives near Caddo. I have known this uroman all her life 

and h^r husband to be a Choctaw. 

his 

Bob X Roberts. 

mark 

Sworn <t and subscr ibed before me t h i s the 30 th , day of Aup-ust, 1895. 

B. S. Smiser, 

Countu Clerk , Atoka County. 

Entered and recorded in my pf f ice t h i s the 50 th , d<;ay of August, 1893. 

B. S. Smiser, 

County Clerk, Atoka County. 

I Sam Oannins, County CI erk of Atoka County do hereby c e r t i f y tha t the 

above and i s a t rue nnd c o r r e c t copy as recorded in the C l e r k ' s o f f ice 

of Atoka flunty, Choctaw ^Tation,BJiok 1, Pane 534. 

Sam Oanninp;, 
v 

County Clerk, Atoka County. 
SEAL. 



In the ma t t e r of P e t i t i o n and memory of Minerva ^wodly, asa c i t i z e n by bl . 

ood of the froctaw Naton. 

Indian t e r r i t o r y , 

Atoka Purity. 

Before me the unders igned, a Notary n u b l i c , t h i s day p e r s o n a l l y 

appeared Si t o r Lawrence, who a f t e r being duly sworn s t a t e s as fo l lows: 

I am 5 6 years of a&e and a c i t i z e n of the Choctaw n a t i o n , by blood and 

duly r e g i s t e r e d anri re cord© das such. My Post Of ice address i sCaa lga te : 

Indian T e r r i t o r y . I am pe r sona l l y aqaa in ted with the a p p l i c a n t , Min rva 

Swodly, nee T r unter , have known her about 30 y e a r s . I was well acquain ted 

with her f a the r W. Hunter and Martha irunter her mother, both c i t i z e n s 

of the BJhoctaw ^ a t i on by blood. The Hunters were a a l l e d Hontubby by the 

Ind ians and c a l l e d Hunter by the m i s s i o n a r i e s . J . R. Plumwr, one of the 

board who r e g i s t e r e d the a p p l i c a n t as a Choctaw to ld me Wm, *Tarrison had 

en t e r ed a p r o t e s t a g a i n s t her drawing the Teased - D i s t r i c t ^"and money in 

1894, owing to some t roub le said a p p l i c a n t ' s husband had had wi th sa id 

Wm. Har r i son . 

Witness my hand, t h i s the 5 th , day of September, 1896. 

Witnesses . 

V ic to r Bey, 

Jas .A. ftogy, h i s 

S i t o r X Lawrenee. 

mark 

S^AL. 

Sworn to and subscr ibed before me t h i s the 5 th , day of September, 1896. 

S. T. V.Perry . 

Notary -nubile. 

My commission e x p i r e s 2nd month, 1896. 



INDIAN TERRITORY! CHOCTAW NATION, ATOKA COUNTY. 

Before me, W. W. Folsora , C l e rk of the Couxty Cour t of s a i d N a t i o n and 

County, E l i z a b e t h H a r r i s o n , be ing du ly sworn, s ays on o a t h th& she i s of 

l a w f u l age and a Choctaw I n d i a n c i t i z e n by b l o o d ; t h a t she knows Minerva 

Swadly, whd i s 42 yea ' s o l d and a Choctaw I n d i a n by b l o o d , beim^ the d a u ­

g h t e r of B i l l i e H u n t e r , a f u l l b lood Choctaw I n d i a n , who l i v e d in J a c k ­

son on the Red R i v e r a b o u t 2£ y e a r s upo; t h a t s a i d Minerva Swadly i s a l s o 

a n i e c e by b lood of penn ie H u n t e r , a f u l l b lood C h o c t a s , whr -<ied i n .Tack-

son 6 u n t y , Choctaw n a t i o n ; t h a t she h a s been l i v i n g in Atoka County f o r 

t h e p a s t s i x y e a r s ; t h a t h e r mothe r and h e r s,:„id f a t h e r , t o - , , r i t , B i l l i e 

H u n t e r , were d u l y m a r r i e d a c c o r d ing to Coctaw law and c u s t o m s , and l i v e d 

t o g e t h e r a s man and wife and were so l i v i n g when s a i d Minerva Swadly, 

nee H u n t e r , wa • b o m ; t h a t a h e , Minerva swadly i s a h a l f Choctaw by b lood 

and e n t i t ed to be a e n r o l l e d a s a Choctaw c i t i z e n by b l o o d , t h a t she h a s 

two c h i l d r e n , t o - w i t : Agneg R. Swadly and John W. Swadly, a l l Choc taws 

by b l o o d , e n t i t l e d t o "be e n r o l l e d a s such . 

her 

-El i ',abe t h X H a r r i son. 

mark 

S u b s c r i b e d and sworn to be fo re me t h i s the 1 2 t h , day of Octo h e r , 1896 . 

W.W. Folsora , 

C un ty C l e r k a s a f o r e s a i d . 

A t t e s t , a s t o E l i z a b e t h H a r r i s o n 1 s word. R. L. W i l l i a m s . 

E n t e r e d and r e c o r d e d in ray o f f i c e t h i s 1 2 , day of O c t o b e r , 1896 . 

W. W. Folsora. 

A l l the members of the Board were s a t i s ied t h a t she was a c i t i z e n . 



COMMISSIONERS. 

Henry L. Dawes 
Frank C .Ar ras t r ag , 
A r c h i b a l d S. McKennon, 
Thoraas B. C a b a n i s s , 
A l e x a n d e r B. Montgomery, 

H.M. Jacoway , S e c r e t a r y . 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR. 

COMMISSION TO THE FIVE CUHLIZED TRIBES. 

1080. 

Minerva Swadley, et al, 

V S . 

The Xhoxtaw _ a t i o n . 

For th Smith, Arkansas, Dec. , 5 , 1396. 

F i l e d September, 7, 1896', Answer f i l e d . 

Minerva Saradly an i n t e rmar r i ed c i t i z e n & 
W. T.Swadly and Piosa Fulsom, c i t i z e n s by 
blood, Admitted. 

H. T. V. Perry* Coal Crate, I . % 

I , H.M. Jacoway, J r . , -Sec re t a ry , do hereby o&rtify tha t the above and 

foregoing i s a t rue and c o r r e c t copy of Choctaw Record "C". Page 380, cf 

The Commission to the Five C i v i l i z e d ^ r i b e s . 

Given under my hand and o f f i c i a l s igna tu re this 

the 15th , day of February , 1897. 

Henry St roup, 

S e c r e t a r y , 
Act. 



IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DTSTRTOTOF THE THOtAH 

TERRITORY, AT SOUTH MoAIflSTER. 

Minerva Swadly, t | a l , P l a i n t i f f , 

v s . PETITION FOR APPEAL. 

The Boot aw **a t 5. c n , nr fe ^ nn t • 

The ftootaw ^alon, your petitioner, represents that hQr e to fore, tc-

wit: on the day of , Minerva qawdly presented her oalim to the 

Dawes Commission to be admitted as a citizen of the Choctaw tr&tj on and 

ther eafter on the day of December, 1896, said Dawes Commission, by its 

order, remitted said Minerva Swadly to citizenship in the Hoc taw ^aton. 

;nhat said Minerva Swadly based her claim to citizenship upon the 

fact that she was descended from William Hunter and ^artha Hunter; and al­

leged that said William and Martha Hunter werre citizens of the fioctaw Tia-

tion by b iood. 

But your petitioner- v;0uld show that i t is not true tha said Will-

ian and Marthat Hunter were citizens of the froetaw ;„ationand aklepje* 

that they had no Bootaw blood. 

,„hat the ijaw es Commission erred in holding that this plaintiff was 

of Choctaw blood &d entitled to ^itizcnship. 

Wherefore, your petitioner makes this itas appeal, and prays that 

the order cf the Dawes Coramission, admitting said Minerva Swadly to 

citizenship h: set adise, and that he may be declared by Ms 6urt to be a 

non-citizen of the Choc yaw -nati on. 

Wm. M. Cravens, Stuart, Gordon A Hailey, 

Attorneys for Choctaw ^aton. 



CAPTION. 

THE DEPOSITION OF,Will lam H.Harr i son , taken on the t en th day of September, 

1897, between the hours of e i g h t o ' c l ock in the forenoon and s i x o ' c lock 

la the a f t e rnoon , a t the of f ice of Dunstan * Wi lk ins , Atoka, in the Cent­

r a l D i s t r i c t of the Indian T e r r i t o r y , to be read in evidence in an a c t i o n 

between W. T. S^adly, M a l , Flat n% i f f Hm€ The fecta* -rat ion, BftffenAorit, 

pending in the TTnited S t a t e s D i s t r i c t Court for the Cent ra l D i s t r i c t of 

the Tndian t e r r i t o r y , ay South McAlester . 



TESTIMONY IN THE CASE OP W. T. rV7ADLY» ET AL, VS. CHOCTAW fl. 

W i l l i a m H. H a r r i s o n was i n t r o d u c e d on the p a r t of the d e f c n d a n t and 

a f t e r b e i n g du ly swnrn a c c o r d i n g to l aw , t e s t i f i e d a s f o l l o w s : My na©c 

i s w l l l i a r a H. H a r r i s o n , i am a c i t i z e n of the Choc taw n a t i o n by b l o o d , 

my P o s t Of f ice i s A toka , I n d i a n T ^ r i t o r y , and f am 46 y e a r s e l d . 

I am N a t i o n a l Agent of the Choctaw - r a t i o n . I was a mcmbe> of 

the Choctaw C o u n c i l in 1890 and 1 8 9 1 ; in 1891 I was a member of the c i t i ­

z e n s h i p Commit tee , and a c t e d a s ch&irraan t h e r e o f . There was no a p p l i c a t i ­

on of W. T. Swadly and ^ i n e r v a swadly p r e s e n t e d d u r i n g the t ime I was on 

the c o m m i t t e e , I remember s e e i n g Swadly t h e r e d u r i n g t h a t S e a s i o n of 

the C o u n c i l . He had two o l d gen t l emen w i t h him . I saw one of t h e s e 

p a r t i e s a t Tushkahorama l a s t w i n t e r , j h e a r d t h a t hus name was H u n t e r . 

I w i l l a s k Iff you remember any c i r c u m s t a n c e c o n n e c t e d w i t h o r f rowing 

ou t of the d u t i e s of the c i t i z e n s h i p Committee a t the t ime you say t h a t 

you were a member of the same t o u c h i n g a p p l i c a t i o n s of pe rson , s whose 

r i g h t s had n o t been r e c o g n i s e d ? I f so s t a t e f u l l y any i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t 

migh t have come to you a s a member of the C i t i z e n s h i p Commit tee . 

) P l a i n t i f f o b j e c t s to the q u e s t i o n f o r 
r e a s o n t h a t i t c a l l s f o r h e a r s a y 

e v i d e n c e , and f o r the r e a s o n t h a t i t 
does n o t t ouch the case a t i s s u e and 
i s who l ly i r r e l e v a n t , incompe, t e n t and 

imrae t e r i a l ) 

A. As a member of t h a t Commit tee , I was informed from a r e l i a b l e source 

t h a t t h e r e wou I d be two gen t l emen t h e r e by the name of TTunter to make 

a p p l i c a t i o n f o r c i t i z e n s h i p , and t h a t t h e i r e v i d e n c e in the c a s e was a l l 

bought e v i d e n c e , and in r e m a r k i n g abou t the e v i d e n c e df the ca se in a 

crowd t h a t such c a s e s a s t h a t would have my s e v e r a t t e n t i o n when they 

came b e f o r e me, t hose p a r t i e s t h t a s e above r e f e r r e d to a s the two o l d 

men and a l s o Mr. W. T. Swanly were p r e s e n t a t the t i m e . I d i d no t h e a r 

any more of t h d i r a p p l i c a t i o n . 

I i^r^r had any t r o u b l e t h a t T know of w i th Mr. swadly . The s t a t e m e n t t h ­

a t t h e i r names were s t r i c k e n from the r o l l s a t ray i n s t a n c e because of t r o ­

ub le w i t h a im i s u n t r u e . I have Jtnown Swadly s i n c e 1 8 9 1 . I remember 



t h a t on one occas ion t h a t Mrs. swadly offered me §25 .00 , to ge t her sons 

name put on the Choctaw r o l l . This was about the time of the patment of 

the Leased D i s t r i c t ^oney. At tha t time ahe sa id nothing about the names 

of h e r daughter and g r andch i ld , nor did she say anything about her own 

name. 

T was r a i s e d in Kiamichi County, l i ved there twenty five yea r s . My 

hew Post f f i ce i s about 18 mi les from where I l i v e d . T l i v e d a l s o about 

21 m i l e s from whpre Ex-Oov Jones l i v e s . During the time t h a t m l i v e d 

there T became acquain ted with a g r e a t many j Ind ians in both the County 

I was l i v i n g and the ad jo in ing Count ies . T knew a man by the name of 

P i s a O i i b i ; he l i v e d about 15 miles S. W/ of where ^ l i v e d , in the same 

County. T remember h i s having c h i l d r e n but I d o n ' t remember t h e i r names. 

He was a f u l l blood Choctaw TIndian. T dont remember h i s wi fe ; I remember 

t h a t h i s c h i l d r e n wore fiull b loods . I dont know whether any of them are 

a l i v e to-day or no t . This man i s now dead. Pie died ah- ut 20 years ago. 

During h ie l i f e t i m e I never heard him c a l l e d or spoken of by the name of 

Hunter . T l e f t t h a t l o c a l i t y about 1877. I was mighty wel l acqua in ted 

wi th P i s a c M b i and he was l i v i n g when | l e f t . 

I have known Cy Lawr4nce for about twenty y e a r s . He was a bl ind whe^ 

I f i r s t became ac quainted with him. During the time I became acquainted 

with him he was l i v i n g a t Bogy Depot. He l i v e d the re l ive - r s i x y e a r s ; 

he then moved up on Muddy Boggy and l i v e d in the id F r a z i e r neighbor­

hood u n t i l a few years p a s t , a$ which time he moved near Coal (rate in 

Atoka County kherc he i s now l i v i n g . When he l i v e d a t Boggy Depot he 

was about 45 mi les from where P isachaba l i v e d , when he was up on Muddy 

Boggjc he was about 60 mi les off. 

T have known Mrs. Melvina F r a n k l i n about 16 y e a r s , dur ing which time 

she has l i v e d near Atoka. She moved to Atoka from Blue River in Blue 

County. She did not l i v e in the neighborhood of Pischaba . What I have 

done in t h i s ma t t e r has been for the i n t e r e s t of my people and Country. 

Cross Examination, By Mr. R;. l i s . 

I know nothing about Mrs. Swadly nor the family from whom she descended. 

I don't- know who her a n c e s t o r s a r e . Cy Lawrence i s aboitL 5F yea r s o ld ; he 

i s a h a l f beeed Chocjaw Ind ian . Melvina F r a n k l i n i s about t i e same age, 

I d o n ' t k n o w e x a C t l y > s h e i s about a ha l fb lood Choctaw. T d o n , t know whe-



re Mrs, f r a n k l i n now, th ink i t i s about 7 miles in a nor th western d i r e c ­

t i o n . Cy Lawrence l i v e s about mi les N. W. from Coal b a t e . T d o n ' t know 

where Cy, Lawrence luve<4 before he moved to Boggy Depot. I have nothing 

t h a t T know of a g a i n s t Swadly. I e n t e r e d my p r o t e s t a g a i n s t the p l a i n ­

t i f f s r e c e i v i n g any of the Leased Dus t r i c t money to Green McCurtain who 

was Treasure r of the Choctaw ,Tat ion a t t h a t t ime, 

EE-DIRiiCT— -BY MB, PAT>;. 

How Mr, Har r i son i f the a p p l i c a n t s in t h i s case base t h e i r c la im for c i t -

ixensh ip in the Choctaw -prati. on, by reason of the fac t of Mrs, Swartly being 

a daughter ofPischaba, then in t h a t event you are acquainted wi th the 

people from nha claims to have deecended?. 

A. Yes, I know them and know them a l l to be f u l l blood I n d i a n s . 

He-Cross. By Mr. R a l l s . 

I don»t know whether h i s wife was a f u l l blood or no t . 

W. H. Har r i son . 



UNITED STATES OF AFRICA, 

INDIAN TERRITORY, 

CENTRAL DISTRICT. 

I , C h a r l e s W. Duns tan , a du ly a p p o i n t e d and q u a l i f i e d N o t a r y p u b ­

l i c , w i t h i n and f o r the C e n t r a l D i s t r i c t of the I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , do h e r ­

eby c e r t i f y t h a t the f o r e g o ; i n g d e p o s i t i o n s of W i l l i a m H. H a r r i s o n , 

were t a k e n be fo re me, and were r ead t o , and s u b s c r i b e d by them in ray ; T e s -

ence a t the time and p l a c e , and i n the a c t i o n ment ioned in the c a p t i o n , 

the s a i d p a r t i e s h a v i n g been f i r s t sworn by rae t h a t the e v i d e n c e they s h o ­

uld f i v e in the a c t i o n s h o u l d be the t r u t h the whole t r u t h and n o t h i n g 

bu t the t r u t h , and t h a t t h e i r s t a t e m e n t s were r e d u c e d to w r i t i n g by rae 

in t h e i r p r e s e n c e . Also in the p r e s e n c e of the p l a i n t i f f in p e r s o n and 

h i s a t t o r n e y , ft. T. R a l l s , and the d e f e n d a n t by i t s a t t o r n e y ft. A . P a t e . 

Given unde r my hand and s e a l a t A toka , I n d i a n t e r r i t o r y 

w l l t h i n the C e n t r a l D i s t r i c t of the Tndian t e r r i t o r y 

t h i s 1 0 t h day of Sep tember , 1897 . 

Chas . W. Duns tan , 

SEAL. N o t a r y P u b l i c . 

A t o k a , I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , Sep . 1 0 , ^ 7 # 

Choctaw n a t i o n , 

To Chas? W.Dunstan, N o t a r y p u b l i c . Dr. 

To d e p o s i t i o n of W.H. H a r r i s o n . $ 2 . 0 0 

Rev ived payment of 



The d e p o s i t i o n s of Minerva Swadly taken on the 29th day of (To/tober, 1897, 

between the hours of e i ^ h t o ' c lock in the forenoon and six o ' c l o c k in the 

a f t e rnoon , a t the o f f ice of of Wm. Costigan in the c i t y of South McAle-

s t e r , Cen t ra l D i s t r i c t , Indian T e r r i t o r y , to be read as evidence in an a c ­

t i on between Minerva Swadly, claimant and the Choctaw Nat ion defendant , 

pending in the United S t a t e s Court for the Indian T e r r i t o r y . 

Minerva Swadly beinf in t roduced and sworn deposes and s a y s : - I am 

the i d e n t i c a l Minerva Swadly who M the p l a i n t i f f in t h i s c a se . I know 

Bobbie R o b e r t s , he was a Choctaw Indian and l i v e d below Bofr^y Depot 

He i s dead now. My f a t h e r , B i l l y Hunter was a f u l l blood Choctaw Indian . 

I knew Bennie Funjjer, he l i ved about 14 miles from my f a t h e r ' s . My fa the r 

is dead. He died on Bed River in Jackson Ccun.ty, Choctaw Nat ion . I r e ­

member v i s i t i n g Bonnie Hunter . He l i v e d in a cedar l o f house. This was w 

when I w I small when I v i s i t e d him. Bennie Hunter ca l l ed me h i s dan h t ^ r 

or h i s g i r l , Bennie Hunter was my f a t h e r ' s b r o t h e r . About 5$ or R7 yea r s 

ago the Chootaws did not have nephews and n i e c e s , they c a l l e d each the 

b r o t h e r nnd s i s t e r among txe kin fo lk . I am l i v i n g ; a t Caal ^ a t e , 

Ind ian T e r r i t o r y , and have l i v e d there s ix yea r s . In 1893, when the Ch­

ootaws were makinr up the Leased D i s t r i c t R o l l , J . R. Plummer, Joe Holmes 

and D. W. Hodges were the persons who prepared the r o l l for Atoka County, 

and Joe Self ac ted in place of D. W. Hodpes. They *x.re p r epa r ing a r«i l l 

of Chootaws by b'-ood only . I appeared before them and was e n r o l l e d as 

Choctaw By blood. The Choc taws with whom! meet regard me as a Choctaw 

by blood, from my appearance. They refused to enrollmy ohilrfren, because 

they were not p r e s e n t . I never- r ece ived any no t ice afje?- tha t in regard 

to any a c t i o n th& might be taken to take wy name from the r o l l . 

Crreen McCurtain, who is now p r i n c i p a l Chief of i f the Choctaw na ­

t i o n , paid out the money. McCurtain had a r o l l of the c i t i z e n s , my name 

was on the r o l l . I did not r e c e i v e any money. 

I know Chas. Vinson and have known hira about four y e a r s . He l i v e s 

near Lehigh, Indian T e r r i t o r y . 

Cro s s-Xxamina I ion. 

I was bom in what i s now known as Jackson County, Hoctaw Ra t ion , in Nov­

ember, 18 r o . My mother ' s maiden name was Martha Moore. My f a t h e r and 

mother were marr ied in the ftoctaw Rat ion . I claim to be a h a l f - b r e e d 

Choctaw. 



During the year 1,371, T l i v e d near Sherman, Texas, with my p r e s e n t husban^ 

Wn&n we came back we ^ofeed to the Chickasaw ^ a t i o n . We l i v e d in Tex­

as seven or t i g h t yeqr s . My f a t h e r died when I was 6 or 7 yea r s old and 

my mother died next sp r ing a f t e r T was married in Novemb r . I was marr ied 

in November, 1871 and my mother died in the Spr in r 'of 1873. The place my 

f a the r and mother l i v e d on was only ab out one a r r e enc losed . In the l a ­

t t e r p a r t of the year 187.-, \ went on a v i s i t to my Com* in S i l a s Hun t a r . 

S i l a s Hunter i s the son of Bennie Hunter . At t h i s time Bennie Hunter was 

l i v i n g on h i s old ranch place in Taokson County, fcootrtw ^ a t i o n . I never 

made any a p p l i c a t i o n to Council to be admit ted as a c i t i z e n and I d o n ' t 

know of any of my people making a p p l i c a t i o n . I came to the Choctaw na t ion 

to l i v e a f t e r my marriage about s ix years ago. T ddm't know how many bro­

t h e r s Beanie Hunter had. He was sa id to have four b r o t h e r s . P isa ;habee 

Ketumely "Pa.;;ton, William yrunter. T can) remember thwt my f a t h e r ever t 

to ld me tha t he WRS th-i b ro the r of Bennie Hunter. T 'as very smal l , 

S i l a s Hunter was k i l l e d about twelve yea r s ago. I never v i s i t e d anyr 

r e l a t i v e s of ine byt the name Kanter except S i l a s and I wen to see To-

mmie twice . Bennie H u n t e r ' s Indian name wasB enononlubbee. T cant t e l l 

what i tmeans . T oan&t i n t e r p r e t much Choctaw. I have f o r g o t t e n most of i t 

When e r went to Cola Gate to l i v e in 1891 we bought a p l a c e . We a l so bo-

night a farm 536 a o r i s , about S6 ac re s i n c u l t i v a t i o n . T did not $0 

with Mrs. f r a n k l i n to S i l a s Lawrence to ,have S i l a s recognize: me a s a 

r e l a t i v e of „ennie H u n t e r ' s . I never heard of Mr. Swadly's making an ap­

p l i c a t i o n to Council for c i t i z e n s h i p e i t h e r for himself or for me. 

About 9 years ago T Jtnew of Mr. Swadly going to Council wi th some men, sa­

id to be Hunters . There was 1ro of them and they were old men. 

he r 

Minerva X Swadly. 

mark 

J\ X> X» G S o . 

Wm. Cost igan. 

Sworn and subscr ibed to before me t h i s the 29 th , October, 1897. 

Wra. Cost igan, 

Spec ia l f a s t e r . 



IN (RE BTttKfl STATES COURT J?OR THE CENTJUL DISTRICT OP THE THDT AH 

TERRITORY, AT SOUTH MCAI3STKR, 

W. T. S wad ly , 

The Boctaw Nation, and D e p o s i t i o n of W. T. Swadly. 

Minerva Swadly, e t a l , 
v s . 

The choc taw nat ion. 

W. T. Swadly, b*tug du ly s w r r n , t e s t i f i e s a s f o l l o w s : My age i s 47 

and my r e s i d e n c e i s Coal H t W | I n d i a n t e r r i t o r y and I have r e s e t t e d h e r e 

a b o u t H\X ;J**ars and I an the husband i f Minerva Swadly. I was f i r s t m a r r i ­

ed t o Tirinerva r-wadly i n 187.V, in Sherman, Tex s , from which m a r r i a g e we h 

have two c h i l d r e n , named r e s p e c t i v e l y W i l l i a m aged 24 and Rosa ages 2 3 . 

My son l i v e s w i t h me ^/jd h a s a lways l i v e d w i t h me. My d a u g h t e r mar.. 

r i e d an I n d i a n and l i v e s in the Chickasaw n a t i o n , hor husband i s a r e c o g ­

n i z e d member of the I n d i a n T r i b e . I f i r s t knew my wife down below the 

mouth of Blue somewhere s o r t e r n e t t h of P a r i s o v e r in t h e r w i t h the 

Cboctaws? Sons t h i n g l i k e a y e a r a f t e r t h a I m a r r i e d h e r . At t h a t t ime I 

was l i v i n g in Grayson County , Texas . The way I came to mar ry h e r , I toefc 

h e r and wen J to Texas and m a r r i e d h e r . I know her Aunt who l i v e s in Texas 

We l i v e d in Texas a f t e r we were m a r r i e d a bou t s i x o r seven y e a r s an^ 

then came back to the Chdctaw n a t i o n and a f t e r w a r d s mover! to the Ch ick ­

asaw n a t i o n and f o r the p a s t f i ve y e a r s wo have fctoa l i v i n g in the Choc­

taw w a t i o n . I had never been m a r r i e d b e f o r e . I am a w h i t e man. I knew 

Mrs . Swadly*s mo the r and I took h^r to be a w h i t e woman. On t h e 7 th day 

of Septembey. 1896 , I was m a r r i e d under a So taw l i c e n s e ( W i t n e s s i s herQ h 
handed a p a p e r and s a y s i t i s the m a r r i a g e l i c e n s e , which i s h e r e t o 
a t t a c h e d and made a p a r t h e r e o f a s E x h i b i t "A" . ) 

E v e r y where my wife h a s been s i n c e we have been mar. i ed amonf the 

I n d i a n s , ray wife has been ta- en f o r an I n d i a n ; she t a l k e d Choctaw a l i ­

t t l e whe n we we. r e raarr ie d. 

G r o s s - e x a m i n a t i o n by Mr. H a i l e y . 

I was m a r r i e d a c c o r d i n g to the l aws of the s t a t e of Texas in 1 8 7 1 . I 

h e l d p r o p e r t y and p a i d t a x e s , a l s o vo t e d in t h e n s t a t e of Texas , was raarri-



ed accord ing to the laws of the Choctaw r a t i o n in September, 189^. There 

has never been any l e g a l s e d a t i o n between myself awd wife s ince the f i r s t 

marriage in 1871, and prev ious to the a l l eged mar r i age in 1896. I ne ­

ver paid any permi t s in the Chickasaw or Choctaw Hat ion , I n$TQr made 

a p p l i c a t i o n for c i t i z e n s h i p in e i t h e r the Chickasaw or Choctaw n a t i o n s , 

but did make a formal a p p l i c a t i o n for c i t i z e n s h i p in the Cherokee Na­

t i o n , through an a t t o r n e y named Welch. Welch got my money but T never 

got any c i t i z e n s h i p . 

B e - d i r e c t examinat ion by Mr. K a i l s . 

My wife knew nothing about t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n having been made. T 

do not know whether the a p p l i c a t i o n was ever r e a l l y f i l e d . I rec ieved 

a l e t t e r from Welch I aying tha t he had f i l e d the a p p l i c a t i o n but sev­

e r a l persons went up there to see about i t and found tha t the a p p l i c a t i o n 

were not made. Welch r ep re sen t ed to me tha t T could hold c i t i z e n s h i p in 

both the Choctaw and Cherokee N a t i o n s , i s why the a p p l i c a t i o n was made. 

This a p p l i c a t i o n was made four or five yea r s ago and the papers were 

made out up a t McDougal's s t o r e . That was the a s t t h a t has been done 

about . When I found out t h a t fJ could not hold in both Nat ions T l e $ go. 



Ill THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF THE UTOIAH 

TERRITORY, AT SOUTH McALKSTER. 

W. T. Swadly, 

V S . 

The qoctaw ^a 11cn. and 

Minerva Swadly, e t a l , 

v s . Depostt ion of Levina F rank l i n . 

The bootaw Rat ion . 

Ler ina F r a n k l i n , of awful age beinp duly sworn upon nor oa th , s t a t e s 

My name i s Lavina F r a n k l i n , my are i s 63, my Post o f f i ce i s Atoka, Indian 

t e r r i t o r y and I am one e i g h t h Choctaw Indian . I was r a i s e d in the ftoctaw 

ITation. I am ac quaint©d with Mrs. Minerva swadly, the app l i c an t in t h i s 

case . I f i r s t met her about t h i r t y - t w o years apo a t Caddo, Blue Cunty 

Indian Te r r i t o ry . . . T was a t Caddo t r a d i n g and she c,.rae there wi th her 

cousin S i l a s Hunter and he to ld me t h a t was old Uncle B i l l y ' s daughter . 

She looked to be ab ut 13 or 14 years o ld , T did not ask and no one t o l d 

me but she was small . S i l a s Hunter was an Indian and a son of Bennle Hun­

t e r and ^ennie Hunter was a b ro the r of B i l l y Hunter . Bonnie Hunter was a 

f u l l - b l o o d Choctaw Ind ian . S i l a s Hunter i s dead. , \ f ter meeting Minerva 

Swadly a t Caddo, about four or five years a f t e r , the same S i l a s Hunter t 

t o l d me t h a t Trine rva had married a white man and gone to ?oxas . The hun­

t e r s were recognized by the Soctaws there as Koctaw Ind ians . I am pos-

t ive yhat Mrs Miner va Swadly, the a p p l i c a n t h e r e , id the same Indian 

g i r l t h a t I met in Caddo as s t a t e d above. I have been r a i s e d here anon£ 

the T nd ians . .Tudginr Mrs. Swadly from hQr looks and genera l appearance 

I would jud^e hp>r to be an Ind ian . I know Bob Rober t s , he was an r i d man 

who looked to be about n ine ty yea r s old and was a Woo taw. He i s dead now 

I have no i n t e r e s t in t h i s case . 

OrQss Examination by Mr. Hai ley , 



I I . j? . ?, # 

I did not know Mrs. swadly ' s mother and .father, but I have known Mrs. 

S wadly for 32 y e a r s . I knew S i l a s Hunter and Bennie Hunter but wv?<r kn­

ew Uncle n i l l y Hunter . Uncle ^ennie and B i l l y Hunter were b r o t h e r s . I 

k now Bennie H u n t e r ' s c h i l d r e n , t h e i r names are S i l a s , N i c h o l a s , Tommie, 

&mma -Tane and George , - they a l l l i v e in the nei^hbohood of Caddo. Tommie 

Hunter i s the e l d e s t 07je l i v i n g . T only Inow from hear say t h a t Mrs. 

Swadly i s Uncle B i l l ' s dau.~h.ter. Uncle y^illy has no o the r c h i l d r e n l i v i n g 

except Mrs. Swadly. After Mrs. swadly was married she went to Texas and 

s t a i d awhile and then came back to M l a s H u n t e r ' s and s t a id awhile and 

then we jit to the ChicJfcas aw T,aton and then came back he re . T do not know 

whether she marr iedhere or in Texas. All I know i s t h a t S i l a s trunter 

to le me she was married to a white man and went to Texas. Tt was in the 

neighborhood of 20 years ago tha t she marr ied . T met the a p p l i c a n t f i r s t 

a t Caddo, Indian n e r r i t o r y . 

j Re-Direc t ^xaraination by Mr. R a l l s . 

Wh ere d i d i S i a l s Hunter die? c lose to Caddo, he ^ot k i l l e d there. 

Nicholas Hunter i s a l so dead. Emma ^ u n t e r i s s t i l l a l i v e and l i v e s a t Cad­

do. I do n i t know who Kmma Marr ied , but he was a h a l f - b r e e d Choctaw. T 

ao not know who ,rane marr ied . I do not Know of my rwn knowledge th,! 

they are mar r ied , but j u s t e&rd so. T k now of my persona l knowledge 

t h a t they l i ved in the neighborhood of Caddo about four; yea r s arco. T 

learned t h a t Uncle Bennie and B i l l y were b r o t h e r s from perinie, who is now 

dead, t h a t was t h e i r r e p u t a t i o n there in the neti^hb^rhood. 

Re-oross examination by Mr. Hai ley . 

Mrs. swadly once l ived in the GJiickasaw n a t i o n , but I have no iidead how 

long she l i v e d t h e r e . I d o n ' t know whe if&r they l i v e d in the Cherokee Na­

t i o n . 

Witness to mark 

http://dau.~h.ter


IN THJ€ UNITED StMBS TN THS INDIAN TERRITORY, CENTRAL DISTRICT? AT 

SOUTH MoATJESTER. 

W. T. Swadly 

V. 

The Choctaw r r a t i o n , and 

Minerva Swadly, e t a l , D e p o s i t i o n of S i l a s Lawrence . 

v s . 

The Choctaw ?ja lon. 

S i l a s Lawrence , of ilwful age* be ing du ly sworn, s t a t e s a s f o l l o w s : 

I ara f i f t y seven y e a r s o l d , ray P o s t O f f i c e i s Coal Grate, and I was 

born and r a i s e d in the Choctaw T T a t ion . I ara a b r o t h e r to Mrs . F r a n k l i n . 

I know Mrs . Swadly, trie a p p l i c a n t h e r e i n and have known h e r f o r t h i r t y 

y e a r s . I f i r s t knew h e r in Blue County , Choctaw a t i o n . I g o t a c q u a i n ­

t e d w i t h h e r n e a r Caddo, S i l a s H u n t e r t o l d me she was a Cousin of h i s ; 

S i l a s H u n t e r was a son of o ld Bennie H u n t e r , who i s now dead . Bennie h u ­

n t e r had a b r o t h e r named KB i l l y H ' i n t e r , they a l w a y s s a i d he h a d ; T neve r 

knew where B i l l y l i v e d . I am p o s t i v e t h a t Mrs. swadly here i s the same 

g i r l Ifcfct I met u t caddo t h i r t y y e a r s a g o . Her name be fo re she m a r r i e d 

was Minerva H o n t u b b e e , which i s the w h i t e f<ilks c a l l e d H u n t e r . Bennie 

H u n t e r ' s name was p r o p e r l y Bennie Hon tubbee . I speak the Choctaw l a n g u a g ^ 

When I met Minerva Swadly I would judge from her l o o k s t h a t she was a Ch­

oc t aw . Bennie H u n t e r was a f u l l - b l o o f i ftoctaw I n d i a n . I have no i n t e r e s t 

in t h i s c a s e . S i l a s H u n t e r i s now d e a d ; N i c h o l a s Hun t a r i s a l s o dead . 

I d i d no t know Emma and J a n e H u n t e r , but T knew Tom H u n t e r . The H u n t e r * s 

were r e c o g n i z e d a s members of the chootcxw N a t i o n . I n e v e r met Mrs . Swad­

l y f s f a t h e r o r m o t h e r . The g e n e r a l u n d e r s t a n d i n g of the p e o p l e t h e r e , wcg 

t h a t ^ e n n i e had a b r o t h e r by the name of B i l l y . 

^ r § s s E x a m i n a t i o n , by Mr. H a i l e y . 

I d i d n o t know Mrs . Swadly*s mo the r and n e v e r h e a r d a n y t h i n g hout 

h e r . I knew her f a t h e r to be a f u l l b lood on ly from h e a r s a y . During the 

t ime t h a t I have ) nown Mrs. s w a d l y , I l i v e d a p o t i o n of the t i r a r i n Blue 

(1) 



County and the balance of the time r i g h t her • a t Coal Gate. T have 

l i v e d Yiere la Coal Gate about 13 y e a r s , t ha t i s , in the neighborhood 

of Coal Gate. When I f i r s t knew Mrs. Swadly she l i v e d la Blur 3unty. 

She v/e t to Texas from there but I do not Know how long s ince i t was; T do 

know whether i t was before or a f t e r T moved from Blur County. T f i r s t I -

new of »crs. swadly here a t t h i s place a f t e r she married Swadly in 1892. 

I knew she was the same g i r l t ha t I knew a t Caddo by what my s i s t e r t o l d 

me. yt has been about tewnty three or four yea r s ago s ince j saw her l a s ^ 

At t h a t time I knew her she was an Indian only by what S i l a s Hunter 

t o l d me and by what Bennie pun t e r s a id : Ke say«i,"This g i r l i i ray daughter 

and a f t e rwards said, she was h i s b r o t h e r ' s daughter . Tt i s the ru l e 

among I n d i a n s / or was a good many years ago, to c la im nephews and n i e c ­

es as sons and daugh t e r s , in o the r words, f i r s t cousins were cons idered 

the same as b ro the r s and s i s t e r d . Bennie Hunter and B i l l y Hunter claimed 

to be : b r o t h e r s . I did not know B i l l y Hunter. I did not know Bennie 

rrunters c h i l d r e n , or a l l of them, I knew S i l a s , Nicholas and Tommie. t ha t 

id the same Tommie hun t e r t ha t i sPf t inc ipal of Armstrong Academy. 

Re-Direc t by Mr. R a l l s . 

I have t a lked with ? rrs . gwadly s ince T have been bl ind and T think 

recognizee her vo ice , a l so from th ings t ha t happened t h a t we have t a lked 

about T th ink she i s the same g i r l . He-cross by Mr. Hai ley . 

J c u l t i v a t e the f acu l ty of recogniz ing people by t h e i r voiced fromthe 

fac t t h a t T am b l ind and have no o ther means of d i s t i ? gusshing. T was 

not b l ind when Mrs. Swa'Ily went to Texas. She must have been 12 years old 

or 15 a t t h a t t ime. mhat was the l a s t I saw of her for 24 y e a r s , and I 

recognized h e r voice when T met her hore. 

Witness to mark 



In t h e United S t a t e s Court i n t h e Indian T e r r i t o r y 

C e n t r a l D i s t r i c t a t So u th McAlester . 

W.T.Swadley 

vs 

The ft octaw n a t i o n and Minerva 

Swadley e t a l 
Depos i t ion of Minerva Swadley 

vs 

T* The Choctaw T Tation. 

Minerva Swadley being duly sworn upon h e r oath s t a t e s 

as fo l lows : My age i s 43 y e a r s , my r e s idence i s Coa lga te , I . T . and I 

have r e s ided he »"e f o u r y e a r s . I am the wife of w.TSwadley. 

Mr.Swadley and I fi*-st ma r r i e d in 1871 a t Sherman Texas • I was 

v i s i t i n g a ccunsin o • mine a t Sherman i s how I cane t o IK a r r i e d 

t h e r e . I l i v e d p r i o r to ray mar r iage in Blue County Choctaw 

Nat ion . My fa ther f s name was Wi l l iw. Hunter and my m o t h e r ' s 

nare was Martha Hunter , they l i v e d on Red River & octaw NatiAhj 

My fathe r was a Ch octaw and my mother was a whit e woman. My 

f a t h e r was recognized the^e as a f u l l "blood. I had one "brother 

and one s i s t e r #XH xss^BOKxijr.Hxyxxxx named William and H a r r i e t 
r e s p e c t i v e l y . They d ied in the Choctaw n a t i o n ; they d ied when they 

were &i i l d r e n . My fathe*" and mo trier a r e both dead. I cant t e l l 

j u s t e x a c t l y how larg? I was when my f a t h e r d ied . I guess I was 

s i x or seven yeans o l d . I was about 19 yea r s o ld when my mto ther 

d i e d . I was between 17 arid 18 years old when I marr ied Mr.Swadley' 

My mother and f a t h e r died on ned River in the Choc?taw Ha- ion , I 

a t t ended the Choctaw schoo l s . I knew uncle Bennie Hunter he l i v e d 

in Blue county andw as my u n c l e . He was my f a t h e r ' s b r o t h e r . Ho 

was a l s : a f u l l blood Choctaw. I know h i s c h i l d r e , t h e r e i s four 

of them dead. Their names are Nicho la s , ft l a s and W i l l i e ard t h e r e 

i s a l i t t l e g i r l whose nare I cant r enember. 7he ones l i v ing are 



Toinmie, J a n e , George and Emma. Emma and j a n e are ma r r i ed . Emma 

mar r ied a man by name of Dwight as d id a l s o J a n e . Mr.Dwight t h a t 

mr r i ed Jane is now dead an3. she has s i nce marr ied a white man, 

S i l a s Hunter was k i l l e d a t Caddo between 8 and 9 years ago, 

I know Mrs ."Franklin and Mr.Lawrence who have t e s t i f i e d in 1h i s 

c a s e . I remember meet ing them a t Caddo before I was m a r r i e d , 

^y f a t h e r l i v e d about 25 mi les from Caddo. After 1 mar r i ed and 

went t o Texas I remained t h e r e about 6 yea r s and then went +o 

Tishimingo county Chickasaw "Mat ion. I hs le two e h i l d ^ e , William 

afeed 24 years and n°sa 23 years of age . Rosa i s marr ied t o David 

Folsom who is a Choctaw, a b r o t h e r to John Folsom who l i v e s at 

Atoka. David Folsom i s a recognized I n d i a n . After we care l a c k to 

the Choctaw > r at ion on the 7 th of September 1896, we v/ere remarr ied 

uni e r a Ob octaw l i c e n s e .1s sued by the county Clerk of Atoka County 

We were pa r r i e d here in AID ka county. We were remarr ied because 

we wanted to comply w i t h t he Choctaw laws and Mr.Swadley wanted 

t o make sure of h i s r i g h t s . The Choctaw peoj^le here in t h i s 

count ry whom I meet take me t o be a Choctaw from ray l o o k s , I used 

to t a l k Choctaw when I was growing up b u t have forgot ten about a l l 

of i t . 

Cross examination by Mr.Hai ley, 

I was born in Blue County. My f a t h e r was born in Miss iss ippi . 

I know no t i l ing abo ut h i a a n c e s t o r s t h e r e . I was p a r r i e d 

in t h e s t a t e of ^exas according t o the laws of Texas . , and >~e 

s i d e d the re about s i x year s and my c h i l d r e n were both born t h e r e , 

in r .exas. I am a h a l f breed Choctaw I n d i a n . I do n o t know 

whe re ray fathe r an:? mother pa r r i e d but i t was in t h e Cboctaw n a t i o n . 

My f a t h e r was l i v i n g on Hed River about 35 mi les below Caddo on 

Red Hiver . He was a b r o t h e r to Bennie Hunt e r . Bennie also l i v e d 

on Red Hiver in Blue County abo ut 15 or 16 mi l e s from my f a t h e r . I 

never l i v e d in the Cherokee Nat ion . I irn de a p p l i c a t i o n f o r a 

sha re of the ceased dis t r i c t Fund and i t was r e g i s t e r e d bu t a f t e r ­

wards p r o t e s t e d on the ground t h a t I was not a c i t i z e n . I have 

neYer r ece ived ray Leased D i s t r i c t ?*oney. J went to the Cfo nc la w 



Nation to see about, drawing my money and they s a i d when I was 

r e i n s t a t e d I could have my money, I did not make a p p l i c a t i o n 

to counc i l but I went down t h e r e t o see a bout it b u t no th ing 

was done. Uncle Bennie and B i l l y care f r-on the sart p a r t of Mi 

i p p i . 

Red i r ec t by M r . ^ a l l s 

My c h i l d r e n , one of them l i v e s with, me ard the o the r 

one l i v e s in the On ickasaw Nat ion, Mr.Swadley i s a whit e man. My 

f a t h e r and mother l i v e d t o g e t h e r as husband and wife and were 

so regarded by the people t h e r e . I l e a r n e d thrtt iy fa ther and Un 

cle Bennie car© from the sane p3a ce in M i s s i s s i p p i from what Uncle 

Ben sa id . I was acquain ted a t Caddo when I was a g i r l . 

Re c ross 

ffommie Kunter who i s p r i n c i p a l of 

Academy i s ray f i r s t eoils i n . 

— • . . . . . . . ~ . - . _ _ . . . _.,.—.. . . .— 

Witness to mark 

Redir ect by Mr.P.al 1 s . 

The p r o t e s t was made wi thou t any n o t i c e 

to me and I have never been given an o p p o r t u n i t y t o i t e t i t . I 

dont know wJether my pape r s were f i l e d or n o t , have never been able 

t o f i n d any. My name is s t i l l on the Atoka County book of the 

Leased D i s t r i c t r o l l . The R e g i s t r a r s who made t h i s r o l l were «Toe 

Se l f , J.R.Plummer and «To« Homer. There was w r i t t e n under my name 
HNo c i t i z e n , not e n t i t l e d to draw" 

I do no t know who bad t h i s en t ry ma.de no r who d id i t and was not 

n o t i f i e d of i t . I am not aware of any law tha t au tho r i zed a 

p r o t e c t o r au tho r i zed any p r o t e s t p roceed ings . I was not n o t i f i e d 

of any p r o t e s t when the Revisory Board me t a t Tuskahoma and never 

r ece ived any n o t i c e from that board t ha t 1 was r e j e c t e d . I t h i n k 

the aboye was w r i t t e n uhder my name afte r the r ev i so ry board had 

passed on it:. 

Recross . 

http://ma.de


I do not know w>e t h e r t h e r e was any law a u t h o r i z i n g the f i l i n g 

of t h i s p r o t e s t or not and do not know of any law d i r e c t i n g t h a t 

n o t i c e should he given in the event of r e j e c t i o n by the Revisory 

Board. I dont know ;1B tie r or not the board in Atoka county had 

power to ob jec t and withhhold payment for cause . Do you or do 

you not know that it Is a f a c t that t h e r e was a boa^d esjsciaVy 

c r e a t e d . I knew the ^e was a board c r e a t e d and. s i t t i n g in T"Bhka 

noma for the purpose of hear i rg such c a s e s , t h a t i s , f o r hear ing 

and determining wlethe r c e r t a i n c la imants who he d f a i l e d t o fg t 

the i r money at the r e g u l a r payment, were e n t i t l e d to rece ive the 

sars. I was down t h e r e once or twice b u t f a i l e d t o $e t "he fore the 

^ Committee. 

Minerva he x mark Swadley 

Wit ness to mark W.K„Fai 1 ey 



IN THE UNITED STATES COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT, TNDIAJT TERRITORY, AT 

SOUTH McAI^STER. 

Minerva Swadly, e t a l , 

v s . 

R e p o r t of S p e c i a l M a s t e r . 

Choctaw n a t i o n . 

Comes W i l l i a m C o s t i g a n , who h a s h e r e t o f o r e been a p p o i n t e d by t h i s 

j ronorab le Cour t a s s p e c i a l m a s t e r in the above e n t i t l e d c a u s e , to examine 

i n t o the swft, and to r e p o r t t h e r e i n h i s f i n d i n g s of the f a c t s , who begs 

t o r e p o r t t h e r e i n , a s f o l l o w s : -

The c l a i m a n t s , Minerva Swadly and W i l l i a m T. swadly f i l e d the i r 

a p p l i c a t i o n f o r c i t i z e n ; s h i p , b e f o r e the Dawes Commission, on the ? t h , 

day of Sep t embe r , 1896 , and were a f t e r w a r d s , on December, 4 t h , 1896 , a d -

V m * t t j e d by s a i d Dawes Commission to c i t i z e n s h i p in the Hoctaw Nat i o n , the 

s a i d Minerva Swadly a s an I n d i a n by b l o o d , and the s a i d W i l l i a m T. Swadly 

a s a c i t i z e n by i n t e r - m a r r i a g e . 

That a f t e r w a r d t o - w i t : on the 2nd day of F e b r u a r y , 1897 , a p e t i t i o n 

f o r a p p e a l was f i l e d in t h i s c o u r t , by the Choctaw T T a t i o n , n o t i c e of 

s a i d a p p e a l was a f t e r w a r d s ,on the 9 t h , day of F e b r u a r y , 1897/ma. i led to 

the se c l a ima n t s . 

That in t he m a t t e r of the a p p e a l of Minerva Swadly, who c l a i m s to 

be a Hoc taw I n d i a n by b l o o d , y o u r m a s t e r f i n d s the e v i d nee in c o n s i d e r a b l e 

c o n f l i c t ; t h e r e b e i n g a c o n s i d e r a b l e q u a n t i t y of e v i d e n c e tfhich t e n d s to 

prove t h a t she i s of Choctaw b l o o d , and a l s o a c o n s i d e r a b l e q u a n t i t y of 

e v i d e n c e t e n d i n g to show t h a t she i s n o t of I n d i a n b l o o d ; but upon the 

whole e v i d e n c e , in t h i s b e h a l f , you r m a s t e r i s c o n s t r a i n e d to f i n d , and 

does so f i n d , t h a t the s a i d 1 i n e r ^ a Swadly, i s a Choctaw ^ n d i a n by b l o o d , 

and i s , and was , a t the t ime of f i l i n g h e r s a i d a p p l i c a t i o n , a bona f i d e 

r e s i d e n t of the Choctaw r T a t i o n . 

Tha t i n the m a t t e r of W i l l i a m T/ Swqdly, your m a s t e r f i n d s t h a t a p p ­

l i c a n t was m a r r i e d to h i s wife and cc a p p e l l e e Minerva Swadly, in the C i t y 

of Sherman, in the s t a t e of Texas , on the 11 th d ay of Novemberm 1 8 7 1 , 

and t h a t t h e r e a f t e r t o - w i t , on the 7 t h day of Sep tember , 1896 , the s a i d 



William T. swadly/ was married to h i s said wife and co-appellec;, Minerva 

Swadly, in conformity with the laws of the froctaw ^aton. 

Your master finds further that as a r e su l t of said marriage there 

are two children now l i v ing , to-wit : William-Swadly aged 24 years and Rosa 

Swadly, aged 23 years. 

All of which findings of fac ts is respect ful ly aubmitted. 

Wm. Costifian, 
Special Master. 

October, 30, 1897. 

By permission of the Court, th is 18th day of January, 1898, r iven, 

th i s report i s amended to show that Minerva Swadly appeared in pe.rsojj 

before the Master, and that her appearance and pe t i t i on were taken into 

consideration by the master in forming h is opinion. 

Respectfully submitted. 

Wm. Costigan, 

Special t r as te r . 



Minerva «5wadly, 

Choctaw rration. 

Tn the United States Curt, Central Dis­

t r i c t , Indian Terr i tory . 

Now comes the Choctaw *!aton and excepts the Master*s repor t herein 

fioed and says tha the findings of facts never in such report are not 

sustained by the proof, but are in confl ic t therewith, and tha t the facts 

so found by the Master aro ifknaufficiant to SUP or t a judgment in proof 

of appel lant , Minerva T. Swadly. 

Stuer t , Gordon & Hailey. 

Attorneys for Choctaw ^at ion. 



IE TKB UNITE') STATES C OURT FOR TKJ5 CKTCTRAL JUDICIAL DISTRICT OP THE 

INDIAN TERRITORY/ SITTING AT SOUTH McAJ>RSriKR. 

Minerva Swadly, M a l , P l a i n t i f f s . 

No. 226 . V. Motion in A r r e s t of T < < f — I , 

Choctaw n a t i o n , Defendant . 

Come now tne p l a i n t i f f s , Minerva Swadly and W. T. Swadly, and move 

the Cur t hera t o a r r e s t the iudfcment h e r e i n f o r the f o l l o w i n g r e a s o n s , e— 

t o - w i t : 

1 s t . T h i s Cour t h a s no j u r i s d i c t i o n of the p e r s o n s , p l a i n t i f f , f o r t h e 

r e a s o n t h a t a s a p p e a r s from the r e c o r d s h e r e i n the p l a i n t i f f s were by the 

Commission to the F ive C i v i l i z e d ^ r i b e s , du ly and l e g a l l y a d m i t t e d to 

c i t i z e n s h i p a s members of t e ohootaw n a t i o n , and t h e r e h a s been no a f f i ­

d a v i t f o r a p p e a l from s a i d a c t i o n made by the d e f e n d a n t o r any ane fo r i t , 

and t h e r e h a s nev^r been any a p p e a l allowed, from s a i d a c t i o n o r lud^mentof 

s a l s commiss ion . 

2nd. Because t h i s Cour t h a s no j u r i s d i c t i o n of the s u b j e c t m a t t e r h e r e i n . 

Wherefore the p l a i n t i f f s ;ray t h a t judgment h e r e i n be a r r e s t e d . 

Minerva Swadly, 

W. T. Swadly, 

by t h e i r a t t o r n e y s , 

R a l l s B r o s . 



IN THE UNTTSD STATES COURT FOR TRJ£ CENTRAL JUDfl5CIAL*~ DISTRICT (I? THE 

TWOTAN TERRITORY. STTTT1W AT SOUTH MCALESTKR. 

Minerva Swadly, • $ a l , P l a i n t i f f s , 

2 2 8 . v s . Motion f o r new t r i a l . 

Cho c t aw Na t o n , Qe fdndan . 

Come now the p l a i n t i f f s , Minerva Swadly and W. T. Swadly and move 

the Cour t he re to s e t a s i d e the judgment h e r e i n and the f i n d i n g of the 

Cour t and g r a n t to the s a i d p l a i n t i f Is a new t r i a l f o r the f o l l o w i n g 

r e a s o m s , t o ~ w i t : 

lr>t. The f i n d i n g of the Court i s c o n t r a r y to l aw. 

2nd. Tne f i n d i n g of th e Gurt i s a g a i n s t the we i ^ h t of the e v i d e n c e and 

i s not s u p p o r t e d by s u f f i c i e n t e v i d e n c e . 

3 r d . The Court e r r e d i r r e f e r r i n g t h i s cause to a mas t e r in Chancery and 

r e q u i r i n g the e v i d e n c e t o be t aken by d e p o s i t i o n s . 

4 t h . "\he Cour t e r r e d in r e f u s i n g to submit the i s s u e s h e r e i n to a J u r y . 

5 t h . The Cour t e r r e d in s u s t a i n i n g the d e f e n d a n t ' s e x c e p t i o n s to the Mas­

t e r ' s r e p o r t . 

6 t h . The Court E r r e d in s e t t i n g a s i d e the m a s t e r ' s r e p o r t . 

7 t h . The Hurt e r r e d in r e f u s i n g to r e - r e f e r the case to a m a s t e r a f t e r su-

s a t i n i n g the e x c e p t i o n s to the m a s t e r ' s r e p o r t . 

8 t h . The Court e r r e d in r e f u s i n g to submit the i s s u e d h e r e i n to a j u r y 

a f t e r t he Cour t h a s s e t a s i d e the M a s t e r ' s R e p o r t . 

Wherefore the p l a i n t i f f s above named pray t h a t the f i n d i n g of the 

Cour t be s e t a d i d e and heir1 f o r naught and t h a t a new t r i a l be g r a n t e d 

them and the i s s u e s s u b m i t t e d t o a j u r y . 

Mine rva Swadly, 

W. T. S w a l y , 

by t h e i r a t t o r n e y s , 

R a i l s Bro sa 



Ill ne rv a Sw a dl e j», e t a l . 

Vn. Ho. 228 Judgment, Cent. iDiat , Jan, 

Choctaw nat ion. 

On t h i s 31st Day of January, 1898, the same "being on of 

the days of the regular september, 1897 term of t h i s court 

t h i s cause cane on for t r i a l , cause number 235 on the docket of t h i s 

court e n t i t l e d ¥« T. Swadley v s . Choctaw -^ation, having b n by 

order of t h i s court consolidated and made one with th i s cause. 

And p l a i n i t f f s and defendant being present t h i s cause i s 

t r i e d upo the report of the master in chancery f i l ed herein on the 

30th day of October, 1897 and the exceptions thererc to f i l ed by t h 

defendant, and the court having heard a l l the evidence for p l a i n i t f f 

and defendant, nd being well and ful ly advised in the premises doth 

sus ta in said e:xc eption to the report of the said Master and the same 

i s hereny set as ide . 

And the court having heard nd considered the evidence 

introdueced herein, doth find the facts to be that the p l a i n i t f f 

Minerva Swadley i s a not a c i t i zen of the Choctaw ]gation and that she 

is not en t i t l ed to be KXDC enrol led as such c i t i z en . That the p l a i n t i f f 

Wx Minerva Swadle?/ i s not a c i t i zen of the Choctaw jjation and that she 

is not e n t i t l e to be enrolledas such c i t i z e n . That the p l a i n t i f f 

¥« T. Swadley did not become a c i t i zen of the Choctaw ^ t i o n by reason 

of his intermarriage with s i d Minerva Swadley, and that he chi ldren 

of said W« P, Swadley and Minerva Swadley are not c i t i z e n s of the 

Choctaw T1ation. 

I t i s therefore by the court considered adjudged and de­

creed tha t the p l a i n t i f f herein tsCze nothing by t he i r s u i t , and tha t 

t he i r names, to-T/it Minerva Swadley, Y/illiam 2 T, Swadley, together 

with t h e i r chi ldren , William Swadley and Rose Swadley be excluded 

from the r o l l of Choctaw c i t i zens prepared or to be prepared by the 

Commission to the Five Civi l ized Tribes and that the Choctaw ^at ion 

have and recover of jdasxx said p l a i n i t f f s a l l i t s costs in t h i s act ion 

expended. I t i s fur ther ordered tha t the clerk of t h i s court 



transmit to the said Commission to the Five Civi l ized Tribes a cer t i ­

f ied cop- of t h i s tX judgment. 
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GEORGE A. MANSFIELD LAW OFFICES OF — ° ; O T S I L TO-
J F MCMURRAY T H E CHOCTAW NATION 

MELVEN CORNZSH MANSFIELD, MCMURRAY & CORNISH. THE C H I C K ^ W ^T I O N 

BOUt] " c A l e s t e r , India! TarrStor " , .1904. 

ina f i a ld , KcMurray & c o m i s h a 

Tishomingo, Indian Ter r i to ry* 

dant la us 

We learned to oav" t ha t 1 t Gai 

Texas, one Lucian hunter *3 o la a hioo<» r e l a t i v e of the Jo] ;, T. 

Hunter alaimantSt Luuian Hunt«r at 8ai 

decl ined to have an : ' a w i t h 1 Lp < 

B -folks and f l a t l y danounot ' ; as a fraud, from 

beginning + r> ^nd. i t is probable that thii ' -.. good 

witness for u s . 

\ Very truly youra , 
p/k /? 



SUMMONS. 

United States of America, 

Indian Territory, 

Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court. 

l̂ ss 

The President of the United States of America, 
T o t h e U n i t e d S t a t e s M a r s h a l f o r t h e I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , S o u t h e r n D i s t r i c t , 

G R E E T I N G : 

i • •>. 

You are hereby Commanded to Summons P. S. Moseley, Governor of 

the Chickasaw Nation, to answer on behalf of said nation, in twenty clays after the service of this 

summons upon him, as Governor of said Nation a complaint in Equity filec} against the 

Choctaw and Chickasaw nation in the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, in the Indian Ter-

and warn him that upon his failure Us said Governor to answer on behalf of said nation, the 

complaint will be taken for confessed, and you will make return of the summons instanter; 

And you are further commanded to notify said P. S. Moseley Governor aforesaid, 

that the papers, files and proceedings in the case o L ^ * ^ ? ^ > t r " W..r^...At^i^^.^^f^lf!f.. r * ^ " - ^ ^ - -

File No. / l3 - in the District Court for the .*^^?*.1^&&?&**i&^.„ District of the 

Indian Terr i tory, has been transferred to the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, and that 

the certificate of the clerk of said court for said < ? ' ^ * ^ ^ ^ ^ , , ^ ^ r * - ' . District, Indian Terr i tory , 

has been attached thereto. 

W I T N E S S the Honorable Spencer B. Adams, Chief Judge, 

Walter I>. Weaver and Henry S. Poote, Associate 

Judges, and the Seal thereof, at South McAlester, 

Indian Terr i tory, aforesaid, this ~~...*£. 

day of March A. D., 1903. 

Clerk. 

, Bv' Deputy. 

A 
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JOHN T.HUNTER,ET AL. 

Thexe are 51 applicants. They claim that they are Choctaw* ,being 

descendants of one Wm.P.Hunter, a Choctaw Indian by blood who lived in the 

Old Choctaw Nation in the State of Miss.;that he came with the Coctaws to the 

the present Choctaw ITa tion about the year 1837;a short time after that he 

moved to Fannin Co.,Texas,and died about 5 miles north of Bonham in said 

County about the year 1848. William P.Hunter married Minerva Hunter in Choc­

taw County,Miss about the ye r .1820 and he lived with her until her deaht in 

Fannin Co., Texas , ab ut the year 1840. She wai killed by the wild Indians. 

She was a white woman. She and Hunter had five children only three of whom 

are living,namely:John P.Hunter,William P.Hunter,and Joseph S.Hunter. These 

three and their children are prosecuting this claim. The three principal ap­

plicants claim to be Choc taws of the fourth blood,and they give the names of 

their children. 

The judgment of the Commission is not shown,nor is the report of 

the Master in Chancery. Al of the applicants were admitted by the United State 

Court for the Southern Distr#o#«# .#'.•#.#.#.? . . .#. 

-,, »W»¥»Tr»TrW •ir'iF-ir'it-lf-'ii 

AFFIDAVITS BE70RE BAWES COMMISSION, 

JOHN T.HUNTER says that he has re...d the application, and that all 

of its allegation are true. A simlar application was made by these applieante 

to the Choctaw Council in 1889, and that said application //as recommended to 

pass by the Committee having it in charge;but the applicants were never en­

rolled. 

JOSEPH S.HUNTER says that he is 71 years old;was born in the Choc­

taw Nation in Miss, His father Wm.P.Hunter was a Choctaw Indian of the half 

blood. 

JOHN M. HUNTER same as the above/ Is a grandson of Wm.P.Hunter. 

Has been taught that William was a half breed Choctaw. 

RODCTERS JAMES says that he has known the applicants ever since he 

can recollect. Affiants grandfather,Benahontta,always said that these men 

were his cousins and were Choctaws by blood. Tnen they lived in Texas, affiait 

gra dfalier would go to see them. And tine applicants used to return the vis­

its. Affiant has been taught that the applicants are Choctaw Indians. 

GILBERT COOPER says that he knew Benahontta and his brother" 



Pisochobbi; affiant statted with them on the emigration from Mas. Wehatona 

was their stepmother and she was with them. They all stopped at one place 

one day and several of the men prepared to go on the Texas side hunting,and H 

Pisochobbi went with them, Pisochobbi did not come back but remained in 

Texas. AfterY/ards they called him William Hunter because he went to Texas 

hunting. Affiant was told that Hunter then married a white woman. Affiant is 

told that these applicants are his hildren. Affiant knows that Hunter was 

a half breed Choctaw. ( NOTE- The applicants claim that his name was Hun­

ter in Miss.and that he married his wife in kiss.) 

EASTMAN TEHOMBA says that he knew Benahonttajhe knew William Hunter 

He has lately become acquainted with John E, and Joseph S.Hunter;they are 

Williams brothers, (NOTE-The applicants claim that they are Williams sons.) 

Affiant used to work for Benahontta;lived at his house for quite a while. 

William Hunter was ther^ at the time,and Benahontta told affiant that William 

was related to him,Benahontta.;he said that William appeared to be a full 

blood white,but that he was not. That if William could speak Choctaw he 

would be all right;but that he was raised on the Texas side on account of 

having a brother on that side , and for that reason could not speak the Choc­

taw language. Benahontta was a full blood. 

HU1IADY WILLIAMS says that she was "born on the Elohesho Biver in 

Miss about the year 1810»and was raised in the Choctaw Nation, Was well ac­

quainted with Pisochobbi up to the time of the immigration of 1836;he was a 

half breed Choctaw and was a brother to Benahontta who was a full blood. 

Did not know Pisochobbi* s wife but he had 6 or 8 bô ŝ before the year 1836. 

Has never seen him or his boys since he left Miss, 

PATSY H/̂ LL says that she is a Choctaw full blood. Has known Willi a 

P.Hunter nearly all of her life. Knew him in Miss under the name of Pisocholto 

bi. He went to Texas. Afterwards he was called William Hunter, He was a haT 

breed and had a brother named ̂ enahontta, TJiey were both recognized as 

Choctaw Indians. Knows the applicants to be descendants of 7/illiam Hunter. 

DEPOSITIONS. 

JOHN T.HUNTEB says t h a t he was born in 1820 in Miss . He was 16 or 

17 y e a r s old when he s t a r t e d with the o ther Ind ians to the p resen t Choctaw 

Nat ion . They stopped on the Kiomanche River ot more nan 10 or 15 miles 



from Red R i v e r , a f f i a n t s f a t h e r was W i l l i a m H u n t e r . He haed an I n d i a n name 

b u t a f f i a n t does n o t know h a t i t was . He d i e d abou t 1848 a t t h e c l o s e of 

t h e Mexican W a r . A f f i a n t h a s been t a u g h t t h a t he i s p a r t Choctaw I n d i a n . 

P e o p l e c a l l him I n d i a n .lohn.Knew B e n a h o n t t a ; h i s h o r s e k i l l e d h im a b o u t 10 

y e a r s ago . He came t o a f i a n t s f c i t he r s h u s e and c l a i m e d to be r e l a t e d t o 

h i m . A f f i a n t does n o t knov; t h a t ^ e n a h o n t t a was r e l a t e d t o h i s f a t h e r ; u n d e r ­

s t o o d t h a t he was . B e n a h o n t t a l ooked to be a f u l l b l o o d . 

D.B.HOLEORD s a y s t h a t he h a s known the a p p l i c a n t s e v e r s i n c e he was 

a l i t t l e bo$;knew them i n T e x a s . Knew B e m a h o n t t a ; h e c l a i m e d t o be t h r e e -

f o u r t h s o r a f u l l b l o o d Choctaw I n d i a n . He had two sons,Tom and S i l a s H u n t e r . 

S i l a s was a t t o r n e y g e n e r a l of t he Choct w K a t i o n . B e n a h o n t t a and the H u n t e r s 

v i s i t e d each o t h e r ; d o e s no t know what k i n t h e y c l a i m e d t o b e . A f f i a n t was 8 

or 10 y e a r s o ld t h e n . 

GIBSON s a y s t h a t he i s 38 y e a r s o ld ;knew B e n a h o n t t a . 

The l a t t e r s a i d t h a t he had no b r o t h e r s , b u t t h a t h e had some c o u s i n s wh o weie 

a l m o s t w h i t e ; t h i n k s t h a t he c l a i m e d i n w i t h the H u n t e r s , A f f i a n t i s a f u l l 

b l o o d Choctaw. 

W.A.CUQOVTf knew B e n a h o n t t a n a s h e a r d h i m ^ ay a t the Choctaw 

C o u n c i l t h a t he was r e l a t e d t o t h e a p p l i c a n t s . 

C0FCLU3I0K. -

T h i s c a s e i s a f r a u d . The e v i d e n c e of t h e a p p l i c a n t s own w i t n e s s e s 

i s c o n f l i c t i n g and c o n f u s e d . 1 H \ J 

I t i s d o u b t f u l i f t h e r e was such a p e r s o n as t he one c a l l e d W i l l i a m 

P . H u n t e r . A c a r e f u l r e s e a r c h w i l l d e v e l o p the f a c t t h a t i f t h e r e was such an 

I n d i a n as P i s o c h o b b i , h e was a s e p a r a t e p e r s o n a l t o g e t h e r from W i l l i a m P . 

H u n t e r . 

The a p p l i c a n t s t r y to show where P i s o c h o b b i g o t t h e name of "Hun­

t e r " , and y e t t h e e v i d e n c e shows t h a t h i s a l l e g e d "bro ther » B e n a - H o n t t a , h a d the 

name of H u n t e r a l l t h e t i m e . H o n t t a means H u n t e r . 

The e v i d e n c e does no t show even t h a t Wi l l i am H u n t e r I s a b r o t h e r fc 

B e n a h o n t t a . 



' CHOCTAW AHD QHICKJ JITIZSKSIIIP COURT 

: JOHN T. BWO?R, IT AL, : 

: P l a i n t i f f s , 

: . ;-*!- ! —: P E T I T I O N : - -

i CHOCTAW STATlOl, : . 
: Defendant . : 

••Tow come the x^etitioners, John ''.Hunter, Joh . Hunter, Geo.?.Hunter, 

. . -iter, Xffle May Hunter, I . . inter; Martha 'Doss Hunter, . . 

• .ter, Marion'".Hunter; Mary -.Hunter (nowlri. 1 . . '.lements); Alice 

. -..inter |$t< . . . .inter; John v. Clements, Hary 

Clements.., Pearl Clements. William Clements; William B O R * . James Hose; 

y, Elvin ^ayj ,Jose i .Hunter, John •. Hunter, Clinton 

•, . . terj -iter (the wife of . .Cunningham); Kate 

Dickson [now - . nter); Goo.?/. Hunter, Mary'"Maud, hunter, 

•••.tie Catharine •• , Jesse James Hunter; Stary Hunter, X O M t fUHuntar, 

Lillie Hunter, Ch.us.Ruby Hunter, Lottie Lee Hunter, Lula ;runter; 
c 

James CM ham, Arthur Cunningham, Georgia Cunningham, dertnn n-

nIngham, JH Cunningham, Franeia Cunningham, ana .. , j oined 

herein by i •.her applicants for citizenship in , and e©t-

fully shou to the court: 

at on the day o'f September, 1B96, and within the time pre­

scribe the Act of Congress approved June 10, 1896, conferring juris­

diction in rises upon the Commission to the PITC 

Tribes, petitioners herein filed their application with the Comm­

ission to fc iviliaed Tribes for citizenship and membership in 

the C of in. . t, in i of time, aald 

-.ion heard saia application and rejected the same and den 3 i*m 

of the petitioner m to citizenship in "... tlen« 

That Ver, rithill the tim icriB* , :"'i-

tlonerI herein a td fro eision i lion to I 

Civilized Tribes to the United States Court for the Southern District of 



the Indi "ritory, at Arcimore; said petition being styled in 

said court "John T. Hunter, et al, vs. Chooti tion, to.73". 

That thereafter, in said United, States Court for th« Se 

en: g luuitio Terriwry, ul Aroiuore, a full, 

plete and final trial **• had of the claim of petitioners herein 

to citizenship in the Choctaw Nation; ana by the j nt and de­

er-., court, entered on the 17' u&ry, II 

titloners herein were adjv. citizens Q i Choctaw na­

tion; ana that petitioners herein, from ana aft uate, 

have "been entitled to have their n- ;nrolied on the official 

ana final citizenship roll of the Choctaw Nation by said Coir: 

ission to the Five Civil. Lbes. 

Petitioners it, by its judgment rendered on 

tha 17 December 1 2, in . c ityled » 

DH1 ,VT,M , •, . , -'V &&fm 

AL, ASJT8*, this Court adjured ana aecr 

ments I ;ecisions of the Unit- rts in the Choctaw 

and Chic.' ;"iont5, admit t:< I citizen m ail­

ment as citizens of saf. Ions upon 'on th sion 

to the *-'ive Civil!;. 'ihes, to he null and void, both as to the 

defendants named in cause and a}.l other persons claiming 

citizenship in the Choctaw or Chic: tiona "by virtue of 

judgments rendered in toe United States Ceurti for ths Southern 

and Central Districts of the Indian Territory, under the A.ct of 

.Tune 10, 1896. 

Your petitioners stst y were n rties to said 

cause :e "Che el id Chick- .ions or Tribes of ln4J 

plaintiffs, vs. ,].?.Riddle, et al, Defendants",, and are not hound 

by the judgment rendered therein; and that this Court ;' pow­

er or jurisdiction, under the pleadin .ence in 

ti sc or vacate the judgment of I ilted Stats rt 

- the Southern District of the Indian Territory aetalttlng them 



to c i t i z e n s h i p in t h e Choctaw Sat ion) and t h a t said jud&aent of 

sa id United S t a t e s Court for m D i s t r i c t of the Indian 

T e r r i t o r y i s s t i l l in f u l l force and e f f e c t . 

But p e t i t i o n e r s s t a t e t h a t , in as much as t h i s Court has e n t e r ­

ed i t s judgment and decree s e t t i n g a s ide a I ' puttitp of 

sa id United S t a t e s Courts for the Sou thsm ana ' i c t * 

the 1 T e r r i t o r y , wherein person I t p»T-

I t h e r e t o | but who vur i s i m i l a r l y s i t u a t e d to t he defendants 

. o i a i i y named in sa id s u i t of *"?:' 4 Chlakaa&ff ' -

t i o n s or Tr ibes of I nd i ans , p l a i n t i f f s , v s . J . ' .R idd la , e t a l , 

de fendants" , ana the sa id United S t a t e s "omnission to t ve 

C i v i l i z e d Tr ibes i s denying and w i l l cont inue to deny the r i g h t 

of p e t i t i o n e r s he r e in to he e n r o l l e d as members of sa id t r i b e of 

I n d i a n s , un l e s s the fil*- . . . 7 3 , 

s t y l e d MGhu T. : AL, ?B. HAT10H,* in ra id United 

S t a t e s Court for thorn D i s t r i c t of the Indian T e r r i t o r y , a t 

Ardraore, he c e r t i f i e d and sent to t h i s cour t for f u r t h e r proceed­

i n g s h e r e i n , and un less t h i s Caurt should, by i t s dec ree , f i n a l l y 

determine and >XQ I sa id \ a t I t l o n e r a to he c i t i z e n s and members 

of s a i d Choctaw Nat ion, - a id Commission w i l l re fuse to e n r o l l them 

a i such c i t i z e n s : - - -

N 0 W, T H E R E F O R E , s a i d p e t i t i o n e r s , s t i l l l a s t s 

upon t h e i r r i g h t s as a m b e r s of sa id t r i b e and the vo nd 

f i n a l i t y of sa id ,t of the United S t a t e s Court for tha 

Souths Ls t r io t of the Indian T e r r i t o r y admi t t in o e i t i -

ohip, and u i t uou t waiving any adjudged am 

creed to lv them and conferred upon t3 f law under and 

i r t u e lid judgment of the United S t a t e s Court for t 

Souther?' -..riot of t he Indian T e*"ritory f oaid p e t i t i o n e r s most 

r e s p e c t f u l l y pray t h a t an order be made, in the na tu re of a wri t 

of e r r o r or o the rwi se , d i r e c t i n g the Clerk of Ju.ited S t a t e s 

Court for the South a m D i s t r i c t of the Indian T e r r i t o r y , a t ArdJaore, 

http://Ju.it


c 
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3 

to c e r t i f y and deliYOJ r t a l l f i l e s , paper s , uents , 

evidence and proceedings had in said m i l • i .73 JOfflS T. tiufitfjsE, 

T;:T AL, VS. CH< , h e r e t o f o r e pending in the United 

tee Court a t Ardr.ore; and t h a t a l l proper and nee* Seary w r i t e , 

citfejbions and o therwise he ieeued 1 i e rv of thifi Court 
J3-5 Jy* 

f o rOB ervid e MP 1 C h i * f i o 0 | i 

the&GoTernor of the Ctelclrasaw Mat ion , i 
M o • > 

a l l} - jp le te l^ transferrer LV g 

or $>11 proper and lawful proceeding? therein, & % 

is! 

'fit, 
* 
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In tie Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, 

Sitting at Tishomingo, I. T., Hay 9, 1904. 

-~o--

John i . Hunter, et a l , 

—vs— No. 49-T. 

The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations, 

Present and presiding the Hone. Spencer B. Adams, Chief 

Judge,< . .alter L. Weaver and Henry S, Foote, Associate Judges 

of said Court. 

—o— 

Appearances, 

Ledbetter, Bledsoe & ilioore, for P l a i n t i f f s , 

Mansfield, iicMurray & Cornish, for defendants. 

•»*»0*"*"* 

This day t h i s cause coming on to be heard the following 

proceedings were had to-wi t ; 

Mr. Ledbetter; 

In that case in the face of the view of the law taken 

by the Court, it would be impossible for us to make out a case, 

and we therefore ask the Court to dismiss the petition. 

J u d p Adams; Have you any testimony to introduce? 

Mr. Ledbetter; 
No, s i r . 

Tud̂ ê A lams * 
In other words, you ieoline to offer any evidence. 

Mr. Ledbetter; 
Yes, sir, we do not think we could make out a case with 

the view the Court takes of the Law. 



Mr. Cornish; 

In the cane of John T. Hunter, a t alf which i s the case 

In which Mr. Ledbrttcr , Attorney for the Applicants, has r e ­

fer red to , and in connection with which he does not offer any 

testimony in the t r i a l of the case before t h i s C0urt, we wish 

to s t a t e on behalf of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations, t ha t 

we have careful ly examined the papers, which were t rans fe r red to 

t h i s Court, and which purport to be the record male before the 

Coramssion to the Five Civi l ized Tribes and the Unite! S ta tes 

Court, and have thoroughly famil iar ized ourselves with the 

contentions of fact , as well as of law, '-hi eh were ori dua l ly 

alleged before these t r i b u n a l s . We expected th i s case to be 

t r i e d told have spne into the f ie ld and taken the moat elaborate 

steps to rrrke inves t iga t ion as to the t ruthfulness and co r rec t ­

ness of the statements al leged in the record which oo?res to 

t h i s Court, and wish to s t a t e in submitting the case for the 

f inal consideration of the Court, in the a f f idavi t and deposition 

which were or i dua l ly f i l ed in the former t r i a l s of th i s case 

there are f -c i s allowed with reference t o the facts in the case, 

with reference to the ancestry of these peonle and with reference 

to t h a i r Choctaw Blood, i f those facts had been alleged or 

were alternated to have been a l leard in the t r i a l of the case 

before t h i s Court, the Nations are prepared to introduce the 

Boat pos i t ive and conclusive evidence showing tha t the fac t s 

as alleged are not t rue , but are false and r e s t upon no so l id 
foundation. *;e submit the case for the consideration and 

f ina l decision of the C0urt . 



In the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, sitting at 

Tishomingo, in the Southern District of the Indian Territory. 

John T. HUnter, et al., 

vs. Ho, 49, 

Choctaw and Chickasaw Hations. 

DECREE OS1 COURT. 

On this day of , 1904, this cause 

coming on for final decision, the same having heretofore ~bem 

submitted upon the law and the evidence, and the Court "being 

well and sufficiently advised in the premises, doth find that the 

plaintiffs, John t. Hunter, John M. Hunter, Ceo T. Hunter, 

Jas. T. Hunter or Jos. T. Hunter, ."Effie May Hunter, E. H. HUnter, 

Martha Doss Hunter, Wm. P. Banter, Marion S. Hunter, Mary S. 

Hunter {now Mrs. W. P. or w. A. Clements), Alice E. Hunter (now 

Mrs. Thos. T. Ross}, Sallie D. HUnter, John F. Clements, Mary 

Clements, Pearl Clements, William Clements, William Ross or 

Tito. Ross, James Ross or Jas. Ross, Mary Hay, May May, El via May, 

Joseph 8. HUnter, John T. Hunter, Clinton A, Hunter, Jas* J. 

Hunter, Mary Hunter (now Mrs. W. D. Cu nn i nghara), Kate Dickson, 

(now Mrs. John 7, Hunter), Geo W. Hunter, Mary Maud Hunter, 

Mattie Catherine Hunter, Jesse James HUnter (or Jessie James 

Hunter) Mary Hunter, Moses 8. Hunter, Li Hie May Hunter, Chas. 

Ruby Hunter, Lottie Lee Banter, Lula Hunter, James Cunningham, 

Arthur Cunningham, Georgie Cunningham (or Georgia Cunningham), 

(Jortrude Cunningham, Joseph Cunningham, Francis Cunningham, and 

James Isgrig or Joseph Isgrig, are not entitled to "be deemed or 

declared citizens of the Choctaw Hation, or to enrollment as suoh 

citizens, or to any rights ushe.tever flowing therefrom. 
(1) 



IT IS THEREFORE OPJERSD, ABJUDGED AHD flKCKWd t h a t the 

p e t i t i o n of t h e p l a i n t i f f s , John f« Hunter , John M. Hunter , Geo. 

T. B-mter, J a s . T. Hunter or J o s , ? . Hunter , S f f i e May Hunter , 

H. M. Hunter , Martha Dos© Hunter , Wm. I5. Hunter , Marion S. 

Hunter , Mary S. Hunter (now Mrs, W. f> or f* A, Clements ) / 

A l i ce E . Hunter , (now Mrs. Thos. T. R c s s ) , S a l l i e D. Hunter , 

John W§ Clements, Mary Clements, P e a r l Clements, -.Villiam Clements, 

Wil l iam Ross (or Hl« Ross) ,James Ross (or J a s . Boss) , Mary May, 

May May, S lT in May, Joseph S. Hunter , John T. Hunter, C l in ton A. 

Hunter , J a s , J . Hunter , Mary Hunter (now Hrs . W. 2). Cunningham), 

Kate Bicksoti (now Mrs, John T. Hun te r ) , Geo, W. Hunter, 

liary Maud Hunter , M a t t i e Ca ther ine Hunter, J e s s e James Hunter 

(o r J e s s i e James Hunte r ) , Mary Hunter , Hoses S. Hunter , L i l l i e 

May Hunter , Chas. Ruby Hunter , L o t t i e Lee Hunter , Lula Hunter , 

James Cunningham, Arthur Cunningham, Gecrgie Cunningham (or 

Georgia Cunningham}, Gertrude Cunningham, Joseph Cunningham, 

P r a n c i s Cunningham, and James I s g r i g or Joseph I s g r i g , be 

den ied , and t h a t they be dec la red no t c i t i z e n s of t he Choctaw 

Ha t ion , and not e n t i t l e d t o enrollment as such c i t i z e n s , and not 

e n t i t l e d t o any r i g h t • whatever flowing theref rom. 

Chief Jnd^e. 

Assoc ia te Judge . 

i • • 

Assoc ia t e Judge. 



South McAlester, Indian Territory, June 17, 1903. 

John T. Hunter, et al, 

vs. T. Ho, 49. Southern District No. 73. 

Choctaw Hat ion. 

LETTER OP INSTRUCTIONS. 

T 0 . 

The office files of the papers in this case 

are herewith delivered and you are directed to 

make a thorough investigation of the case along 

the lines indicated in this letter, and return 

the same t@geth.er with your written report and exhib­

its attached thereto at the earliest practicable 

date. 

The claimants in this case applied to the 

Dawes Commissionunder the Act of Congress approved 

June 10, 1896 and were denied citizenship in the 

Choctaw Nation, from such decision an appeal 

was taken to the United States Court for the 

Southern District of the Indian Territory, and 

that Court "by a judgment of November 15, 1897 ad­

mitted forty-three persons to citizenship in the 

Choctaw Nation. The names of James T. Hutiter, 

If fie May Hunter and R. M. Hunter included in 

mailto:t@geth.er


the judgment of the Southern District Court of 

November 15, 189? are not found in the copy of the 

original petition made to the Dawes Commission 

on file with the papers in this case. The names of 

the persons included in the writ of error directed 

to the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court are 

identical with the exception of a few typographical 

errors with the names included in the judgment of 

the United States Court for the Southern District 

There was .presented to the D|̂ es Commission 

in 1896 the applications of W. T. Swadley and Minerva 

Swadley, et al.as admission as citizens of the 

Choctaw Nation, (Dawes Commission 1896 Choctaw 

case/̂ 819 and 1080), The petitions in these cases 

were filed with the Commission September 7, 1896, 

and in the case of "W. T. Swadley, et al, the Commiss­

ion on December 4, 1896 admitted the applicant as a 

citizen by intermarriage of the Choctaw Nation, and 

in the case of Minerva Swadley, et al vs. C&octaw 

Nation, the Commission on December 5, 1896 admitted 

Minerva Swadley as an intermarried citizen of the 

Choctaw Nation and ¥# T. Swadley and Rose Folsom as 

citizens by "blood of the Choctaw Nation. Prom this 

decision an appeal was tajcen tt the United States 

Court for the Southern District of the Indian Terri­

tory "by the Choctaw nation, and that Court by a judg­

ment of January 31, 1898 reversed the decision of the 



Commission and denied admission as citizens 

of the Choctaw Nation to Minerva and Win. T. Swadley 

and their children Wm. Swadley and Rose Folsom, nee 

Swadley. The^ Swadley family did not apply 

to the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, and 

their rights to citizenship are not discussed herein. 

The record however of the two Swadley cases is consid­

ered in connection with the claims of the applicants 

in the John T. Hunter case esaw, for the reason 

that Minerva Swadley claims from the same ancestor 

as the parties applicant in the Hunter case, and the 

testimon3r adduced in the Swadley cases is applicable 

to the Hunter case. 

The applicants for enrollment &eb? admission 

as citizens by blood of the Choctaw Nation claim 

their rights as such by reason of being the direct 

lineal descendants of one Wm. P. Hunter, whom it 

is alleged was a half blood Choctaw Indian and at 

the time of his emigration from Mississippi to the 

Indian Territory was known by the name of Pisachabee, 

(Pisochobi or Pisochabbi) , alleged to have 'been the 

half brother of a full blood Choctaw Indian by the 

name of Benahontta, who was well known during his 

lifetime in the Choctaw Nation, Indian Territory, 

and was the father of Silas and Thomas W. Hunter, 

well known members of the Choctaw tribe of Indians 

in the jndian rjierritory# 



Our theory of this case is that it js for 

the most part based upon a fabrication of unreliable 

and unsupported testimony, and that if these appli­

cants are the descendants of any person by the name 

of Wm. P. Hunter, that he was never known or bore 

the name of Pisachabbee, who was a half brother of 

Benahontta. The record will show that the alleged 

ancestor of these applicants, Wm. P. Hunter, or 

Pisschabbee was married and the head of a family 

in 1830, and is alleged to have emigrated with the 

Choctaw Indians from Mississippi to the Indian Terri­

tory about the year 1837. 

An examination has been ma de of the rec­

ords of those persons who signified their intention 

to the Indian Agent to remain and become citizens 

of the States under the provisions of the fourteenth 

article of the treaty of 1830, and of those per­

sons who were subsequently adjudicated heneficiaries 

thereunder by the United States Commissions of 1837 

and 1842, and the name of Wm. P. Hunter or Pisachabbee 
NOT 

(or Pisochobi or Pisochabbi) iSafound thereon; neither 

does it appear that any person of this name owned 

any improvements in the State of Mississippi in 

1830, or was in any manner a beneficiary under the 

provisions of the treaty of 1830. It is possible 

that .here ma;/ have been a Choctaw Indian ty the name 

of Pisachubbee# jn fact this supposition is quite 



l i ke ly , but i t i s our theorythat he could not 

possibly have "been ident ica l with the Wm. P. Hunter 

from whom these applicants claim. As far as 

prac t icable to ascer ta in from the record Wm. P. 

Hunter, the ancestor of these applicants was born in 

Mississ ippi between 1795 and 1800, and in 1820 he 

was married to Minerva Turner, a white woman by whom 

he had s ix or eight chi ldren in the State of Miss iss­

ippi p r ior to h i s removal therefrom in 1837; that he 

and h i s family l e f t Mississippi i^n 1837, and located 

in Fannin County, Texas, where Minerva Hunter died 

in 1840, and wm. P. Hunter died in 1846, and that 

from the time of thei r removal from the State of 

Mississippi in 1837 up to the time of the i r death 

they never maintained any residence in the Indian 

Ter r i to ry . I t would appear that the claimants have 

long been seeking admission as c i t i zens of the 

Choctaw Nation, as «it would wcpjpm* they have continu­

a l l y been appl icants to the Choctaw Council since 

1889, and at the time of the submission of the i r 

appl icat ions to the Dawes Commission in 1896, they 

had an appl ica t ion pending before the c i t izenship 

committee of the Choctaw Rational Council. 

E V I D E N C E 



In discussing the evidence in this cause 

a review will first be made of the evidence in the 

Hunter case, and afterwards in the Swadley cases 

above referred to. 

The evidence in the Hunter case consists 

of the ex-parte affidavits of the applicants themselves 

and of unreliable and professional witnesses and 

certain immaterial depositions. 

John T. Hunter, Joseph S. Hurt ex*, J. M. 

Hunter, in their exparte affidavit! merely confirm 

the allegationAsontained in the original petition. 

The affiants all being themselves applicants, their 

testimony is not considered of any materiality, and 

no investigation thereof is considered necessary. 

Rodger S. James In his affidavit of August 

25, 1895 alleges that his grand father Benahontta 

was a cousin of John V« , Joseph S. and Wrn. P. Hun­

ter, and that he, affiant, often went with his 

grand father Benahontta to visit the Hunter's while 

they were Iving in Texas. Our theory of this affidav­

it is that it is entirely fraudulent; that the affiant 

if he did sign such an affidavit was not advised as 



to the contents thereof, and that he is not the 

grand son of anv Choctaw Indian by the name of Bena-

hontta. ̂ rYou are directed to ascertain if this wit­

ness is still .living, and if so obtain from him a 

counter affidavit or statement as to the manner in 

which his testimony was originally procured, and a 

specific statement from him as to who his father and 

mother were, and his relationship to Benahontta; also 

as to where and when he first became acquainted with 

the applicants, and how h-e obtained the informations 

that they were cousins of Benahontta. 

Gilbert Cooper In his affidavit of October-

23, 1895 alleges that he is 74 years of age; knew 

Benahontta and his brother Pishachabbi at the time h 

of the emigration from Mississippi; that there was a 

woman by the name of Wehotona, their step mother 

with them; that Pisachibbi left the emigrants and 

went with a party to hunt on the Texas side of Red 

River; that there he was known ana called by the 

white people William and afterwards William Hunter 

"on account thm he came into Texas hunting". 

The witness further alleges that Pisachubbi was a 

half breed, his mother being Benahontta's mother, 

and that his father was a white man. uThere can be 

but one theory in regard to this affidavit and that 

is that it is entirely fraudulent. If the witness 

' -m 



is as alleged seventy-four years of age, he must 

have been born in 1822, and was at the time of the 

emigration in 1657 JMH I E — at least fifteen years 

of age. At this time the ancestor of these appli­

cants had been married for seventeen years and 

had at least eight children. The witness would lead 

one to belive that the alleged change in name from 

Pisachubbi: to Wm. Hunter did not take place until 

after the emigration of 1837. This is an absurdity 

as Wm. P. Hunter at that time was the head of a large 

family3 and none of hî f children in the application 

allege that they were ever known by any other name 

than Hunter. 'You will endeavor to secure from Gil­

bert Cooper a counter affidavit or statement, there­

in setting forth the manner in which his original 

testimony was procured, and his specific knowledge 

of the Pisachubbi, whom hi is alleged to have known. 

The ex-parte affidavit of Eastman Teshomba 
/ 

of October 23, 1895 alleges that he knew Benahontta, 

deceased; fclao knew Wm. Hunter and his sons, Jno. 

S« and Joseph S. Witness alleges that he used to work 

for Benahontta, and William Hunter was there at the 

time; that Benahontta told him that Wm. Hunter was 

a kinsman of his; he appeared to be a fulj'blood 

white man, but was not. The statements are vague, 

but it is to be presumed that it was the intention 

to connect Win. Hunter, the ancestor of the applicajjft 



with the full "blood Choctaw Indian, Benahontta. It 

is pC more than prohahle that the affidavit if not 

fraudulent was procured without any knowledge by the 

if 
affiant as to the contents thereof, n You will as­

certain if possible if Eastman Tehombe is living, 

and if so secure from him a counter Cf idavit or 

statement setting forth tie manner in which his 

testimony was originally procured, and his specific 

knowledge of the lift. Hunter whom he knew. 

Humady Williams in his affidavit of 

March 22, 1897 alleges that he was horn in Mississippi 

in 1810 and raised with the Choctaw Indians; came 

to the Indian Territory aoout two or three years 

after the Indans emigrated, and was well acquainted 

with one Pishochahhi up to the time of the emigra­

tion in 1836; that he was a half "breed Choctaw and 

the half "brother of Bena Honter, who was a full 

olood Choctaw; did not know PishochaDhifs wife, hut 

he had six or eight hoys hefre the emigration in 1836; 

feas never seen PishochaDhi or any of the hoys after 

leaving Mississippi, nThis affiant is a profession­

al witness, and his testimony is not considered as 

"being reliable. He is now dead however, and no 

further steps are necessary to he taken in regard 

to his affidavit. It is to "be noted however that 

the affi ant in no way attempt to connect the Pisha-



chabbi whom he alleges to have known in Mississippi 

prior to 1836 with the present applicants, the 

descendants of "Win. P, Hunter. 

Patsy Hall ih her affidavit of March 23, 

1897 states that she is a Choctaw an.d emigrated to 

the Choctaw Nation, Indian Territory ahout 1836; 

had known life, P. Hunter all his life *#& , and knew 

him feefore he came to the Indian Terr itory under the 

name of Pishachabbi; that he was a half "breed Choc­

taw, and had a brother named Benahontta; was 

^fVell acquainted with Joseph S. Hunter, and knows him 

to "be the son of Pishachibbi, or Wm. P. Hunter. It 

is our opinion that this affiant has no knowledge 

of fe facts testified to in this affidavit, and 

that if she ever did make such an affidavit, it 

was without any knowledge of the contents thereof. 

Patsy Hall, so far as we are informed has always 

lived in the Indian Territory, while it is not 

claimed by the applicants that Wui. P. Hunter ever 

lived in the Nation";: from the time of his emigration 

in 1837 up to the time of his death in Texas in 

1848. Another notable fact in connection with this 

affidavit is that the affiant testifies to the change 

of name from Pishachabhi to Wm. Hunter, after the 

Pishacha'b'bi that she knew removed from the Choctaw 

Nation to Texas. You will if practicable secure an 



affidavit from Patsy Hall setting forth the manner 

in which her testimony was originally procured, 

and any other facts that she may known that may he of 

material "benefit to the Choctaw Nation on the re­

trial of this case. 

This concludes the ex-parte affidavits 

filed in the cause, and we now come to the depo­

sition of witnesses "before the Master in Chancery 

at the trial of the cause before the United States 

Court for the Southern District of the Indian Terri­

tory. This hearing was had at Ardrcore, Indian 

Territory, March 17, 1897. At this hearing 

John T. Hunter merely attempts to connect the full 

blood Choctaw Indian Benahontta With his father 

wm. P. Hunter. 

D. B. Holfurd testifies to knowing the 

Hunters, and that Benahontta visited these people. 

Does not state where they were living. 

A Mr. Gibson, whose age is given as 38 tes­

tifies relative to his knowledge of Benahontta. 



W, A. Clements testifies to being acquaint­

ed with Benahontta, and that he has heard that these 

applicants are related to him. 

John Hunter testifies to being acquainted 

with Benahontta and knew his son Tom. Always under­

stood that Benahontta was related to the applicants. 

Witness then testifies to t/ e presentation of appli­

cants petition to the Choctaw Council. 

J. S. Hunter testifies that he was born 

in 1825, does not know where but supposes in Missr 

issippi; that he is the son of Wm. P. Hunter and did 

not leave Mississippi with his father and come West, 

but went to Louisiana, and from there went to Mexico 

and enlisted in the Mexican army. The testimony of 

this witness is interesting inasmuch as being born 

in 1825, he would have been at least twelve or 

fourteen years of age at the time of the alleged 

change of his fathers name from Pisachabbi to WB« P. 

Hunter, The witness herein does not state that he 

was every known by any other name than that of Hun­

ter, and as he presumably went from Mississippi to 

Louisiana, it is not considered that he changed his 

name from the one that he was originally known by. 



r* D. C. McCoy merely testifies to his ac­

quaintance With Benahontta and the anglicizing 

of his name to Hunter, and his acquaintance with 

his two sons Silas and Thomas W, Hunter. 

Apparently all of the testimony at the 

trial of the case "before the Master in Chancery was 

With the idea and purpose of by implication connect­

ing the applicants with Benahontta, or Benny Hunter, 

the father of Silas and Thomas W. Hunter. It is to 

he noted however that aside from the testimony of 

the applicants themselves none of the witnesses in 

their depositions attempt to connect Win. P. Hunter 

the alleged ancestor of applicants with the Choctaw 

Indian "by the name of Bennahontta whom they knew. 

This concludes the testimony and evidence in the case 

of John T. Hunter, et al "before the Southern District 

Court, and thereon the Court rendered its judgment 

admitting the applicants to Choctaw citizenship. 

We now corne to the discussion of the testi­

mony in the Swadley cases which consists principally 

of depositions taken on "behalf of the Choctaw Hat ion. 

In the Swadley case, Minerva Swadley states that her 

maiden name was Minerva Hunter, and that she was the 

daughter of Wm. Hunter and Martha Hunter, "both 



citizens by blood of the Choctaw Hation, and that 

her father William Hunterr was the uncle of Thomas 

W, Hunter who lives near Caddo. The applicant then 

by several ex-parte affidavits attempts to substan­

tiate this claim, but it appears that this applicant 

had numerous times before she applied to the Dawes 

Commission been refused recognition by the Choctaw 

tribal authorities. 

The Choctaw Hation secured and pre­

sented the testimony of several witnesses in the 

Swadley case on file with the Co-TnisBdon. 

William K. Htmtop of Atoka, Indian 

Territory, 46 years of age testifies that he knew a 

Choctaw Indian by the name of Pisachaba', that he was 

not born until 1850, while the applicants alleg that 

their coiraon ancestor died in 1848. This would pre­

clude any possibility of the Pisachaba whom Hunter 

knew as being the ancestor of the applicants. 

C. S. Vinson testifies that he is 54 years 

of age, a Choctaw Indian by blood and attorney gener­

al for the Choctaw Hation. Has resided in Blue, 

Atoka and Kiamitia Cou: ties all his life; person­

ally acquainted with T. W. Hunter of Armstrong Xcademy 

and also knew his father Benahontta; that it VII 

anglicized into Benny Hunter; that he had one 

brother whose name was Pishaehubbee, and that Pish— 



achubbee lived in Kiamitia County near v/hat is y\Oil) 

\ Mayhew, Indian yerrl tory; also knew his children and 

his wife; that they had five daughters, one of 

whom died a number of years ago, and the remaining 

four were known as Lucy, Mellissa, Amy and Annie; 

that these persons were all full blood Choctaws, 

and are now dead with the exception of a son named 

Joseph Pishachubbee, who lived or did live in Blue 

County. This testimony as to the relationship exist­

ing between Benahontta and Pishachubbee is in direct 

contradiction to the claims and testimony of the 

applicants themselves. 

J. C# Polsom testifies to being 65 years 

of age and a resident of Atoka, Indian "petitory; 

n&rer knew of any Indian by the name of William Hun­

ter, but was well acquainted with Benny Hunter, 

whose Choctaw name was Benahontubbe, which was con­

tracted into Benahontta, who was a full blood Choc­

taw Indian, who had one son by the name of Uicholas 

and another by the name of Thomas, who is now super­

intendent of Armstron g Academy. It is to be 

noted that the anglization of the name to Hunter 

was not until long after the war. 

Peter Maytubby, Thomas W. Hunter, Johnson 



Praz ie r , Henry Perk ins , Henry Byington and J . H. Kail 

a l l t e s t i f i e d b€ t he i r acquaintance and knowledge 

of Bennie Hontubbee or Bennahontubbee having a 

"brother tgy the name of Pisachabbee, who was a f u l l 

"blood Choctaw Indian and resided in the same neigh-

"brohood v/ith Bennie Honatubbee. Hone of these wit­

nesses never heard of the Hunter family who were 

app l ican t ! in any manner "being connected or r e l a t ed 

to Pisacha"b"bee and Benna Honatubbee or 

Benny Hunter v/hom they knew. I t i s not necessary to 

take any steps to secure any addi t iona l a f f idav i t s 

or testimony from these persons as they w i l l "be 
do 

used as witness on behalf of the Tiations a t the 

t r i a l of the case . 

The only conclusion to reach in t h i s case 

i s that of fraud, as the applicants intended evident­

ly to rely upon the claim that they were descendants 

of a Choctaw Indian named Pishachabbee, who was a 

half brother to Benahontta. These a f f idavi t s f i l ed 

in rebu t ta l thereof by the ^jations has demonstrated 

that the Pishachabbee, who was the brother of 

Benahontta was a fu l l felood Choctaw Indian and l i ved 

in the Choctaw Nation, Indian T e r r i t o r y long a f t e r the 

alleged ancestor of these appl icants is claimed to 

have died in Pannife County, Texas. 

Yours w r y t r u l y , 


